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The St. Sophia Square in Kyiv where the Independence of Ukraine
was proclaimed on the 22nd of January 1918.



Dr. Svyatomyr M. FOSTUN

THE GREAT ANNIVERSARY

The Revolution in the Russian Czarist empire astounded and
disturbed a large section of the Ukrainian nation due to the unexpected
development of events. The Russian Revolution was a spontaneous
revolutionary movement which endeavoured to replace the czarist
autocracy with a republican regime and which attempted to change
existing social conditions. Social forces played an important role in
the mood of the revolutionary masses. The peasants demanded land
reform, the workers a socialist economic system in place of the
capitalist system, and the end of exploitation of labour by industry.
Socialist parties and their nationally conscious ideas had a significant
effect on the course of the revolution in the whole empire and also in
Ukraine.

In the works of Vynnychenko and of other leading socialist
activists, the assertion is often made that there were few nationally
conscious Ukrainians at the time of the outbreak of the Ukrainian
National Revolution and it is further stated that this was one of the
reasons for the failure of the revolution. However the thousands of
nationally conscious soldiers, students, intelligentsia, peasants and
insurgent soldiers who worked and fought for a Ukrainian state
throughout the War of Liberation show that despite centuries of
national oppression national consciousness remained. At the end of
March 1917, during the co-operative congress, when delegate Vasyl-
chuk ended his address with the appeal: “For a free Ukraine, for
independence, for our mother tongue and native school!”, he was
greeted with thunderous applause from the numerous delegates. The
Ukrainians of Katerynoslav demonstrated with the Ukrainian na-
tional blue and yellow flag at the “Celebration of the Revolution” on
on the 13th March 1917. The revolutionary demonstrations held
in Kharkiv, Poltava, and Chernihiv had a definite Ukrainian national
character. The Second All-Ukrainian Soldiers’ Congress, which took
place from the 18th to the 23rd June 1917, attended by 2,500 delegates
representing almost 1,700,000 soldiers, demanding the immediate
implementation of autonomy, and the Third All-Ukrainian Congress
which took place from the 2nd to the 12th November in that same
year demanded not autonomy, but the proclamation of a democratic
Ukrainian republic and the complete Ukrainianisation of the army and
navy.

“The national will, the instinctive consciousness of the potentially
massive revolutionary creative forces of the Ukrainian nation brought
about a great enthusiasm in wide circles of Ukrainian society ...
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Everywhere where there were Ukrainian forces, culturally enlighten-
ing organisations (Prosvita), libraries, reading rooms, societies, na-
tional committees and councils were established; Ukrainian books,
pamphlets and newspapers were published .. . The cultural life in
Ukraine, especially amongst the peasants and workers, started to
qguickly take on a national form. The co-operative weekly “Komash-
nya”, printed in Kyiv, immediately began using the Ukrainian langu-
age again, which had been forbidden during the war, when the paper
was forced to print in Russian; soon after the collapse of the old
regime, the democratic paper “Nova Rada” appeared, and a little
later “Robitnycha Hazeta”, “Narodna Volya” (a socialist peasant
paper) and then the weekly of the socialist revolutionary party —
“Borot'ba”, appeared .. This we read in the materials of Pavlo
Khrystyuk in “The Ukrainian Revolution”, p. 15.

The beginning of the Ukrainian National Revolution in 1917 was an
event of great significance. It was an event which occurs once in a
century. Unfortunately this moment was not utilised by the Ukrai-
nian political activists of the time. Of course, no one denies that the
Ukrainian Centralna Rada had great difficulties to overcome: it was
not easy to create a state in the chaos of revolutionary reality. But
a clear and precise concept of Ukrainian statehood did not exist
within the political circles of the time. Instead they reached out to
“Russian democracy” and deceived themselves with the illusion of
co-operation with the new Moscow regime.

“All separatism, all detachment from the Russian revolution
appeared as being absurd, senseless. What for? Where will we find
more than we already have in Russia? .. . And as for independence,
we even thought the very idea dangerous for the Revolution because
it would destroy all the revolutionary forces in all of Russia” — this
is what Vynnychenko and his companions thought at the time. (“The
Rebirth of a Nation”, vol. |, p. 43-44).

It was with such political ideas that the Ukrainian socialists took
the leadership of the building of the nation into their hands. How-
ever, the nation was not satisfied with the Second Universal because
it did not give clear and precise perspectives for national order.

Although the Third Universal proclaimed the Ukrainian National
Republic, its initiators nevertheless still dreamed of peaceful co-exist-
ence with the Moscow regime and were concerned with the salvation
of Russia: “Without separating from Russia and conserving its unity,
we will firmly stand on our land to help Russia with all of our
strength, so that the Russian republic becomes a federation of equal
and free nations”. Thus proclaimed the Third Universal of the Ukrai-
nian Centralna Rada.

However, Lenin and the Bolshevik government were not thinking of
friendly co-existence with Ukraine, but on the contrary, were intend-
ing to capture her. On the 25th December 1917, on the initiative of
the Bolsheviks in Kyiv, the so-called Soviet government of Ukraine
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was formed — the Central Executive Committee and the National
Secretariat — which Petrograd recognised immediately. Antonov-
Ovsyenko began the invasion of Ukraine. At the beginning of January
1918, the Ukrainian delegation in Brest Litovsk began official talks
concerning a separate peace with the Allies which was signed on the
9th of February of that same year. In January 1918, a Bolshevik
uprising began in Kyiv which the Centralna Rada could not suppress
because her colonels — Bohdanivsky, Nalyvaysky and Polubotsky —
were agitated by the Bolsheviks and declared themselves neutral.
Symon Petlura succeeded in suppressing the uprising by attacking
the Bolsheviks with the Slobidsky Black and Red haydamaky and
part of the Halachiyan battalion under the command of staff captain
Almazov. To end the talks with the Allies it was necessary to proclaim
an independent and sovereign Ukraine which was fulfilled by the
proclamation of the Fourth Universal on the 22nd January 1918.

“From this day forth, the Ukrainian National Republic is a free,
and independent sovereign state of the Ukrainian Nation”.

The arrival of the German and Austrian armies in Ukraine did not
solve the complex situation positively and, in fact, caused even more
confusion because the German military regime, seeing the weakness
of the Centralna Rada, developed its own policies which were often
in complete opposition to the interest of the UNR, especially on the
guestion of agrarian policy. After the change of government in
April 1918, the Hetman government, as the UNR, had considerable
difficulties in governing and also committed serious errors. It is true
though, that in separate areas of the national economy and admin-
istration the Hetman government was better organised and more
competent than the UNR, especially as regards schooling, finance,
foreign politics and the administration of their own military forces.
But the Hetman regime did not last for long. Its downfall was hasten-
ed by the declaration of the federation of Ukraine with Russia, which
was proclaimed by the Hetman in a decree on the 14th November 1918.
As a result of this proclamation an uprising arose which precipitated
Hetman Skoropadsky’s abdication, and on the 14th December he went
into voluntary exile.

In West Ukraine, the West Ukrainian National Republic was estab-
lished — which from the outset had to lead a prolonged war with the
Poles — and then a year later, on the 22nd January 1919 in St. Sophia
Square in Kyiv, the unification of all Ukrainian lands was triumphant-
ly proclaimed. After this historical Act, war came with enemies on all
fronts. Although the Liberation Struggle ended unsuccessfully, it
laid down the foundation for further battles for the independence
of Ukraine. Because no matter how the heirs of the events and
activists of the Liberation Struggle of 1917-1920 will act or plan to
act — whether they will idealise or condemn their political mistakes
— nevertheless, they cannot disregard the basic principles and gains
of the Ukrainian Nationial Revolution.
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This year sees the 60th anniversary of the proclamation of Ukrainian
independence This is a highly significant historical event. Although
the Ukrainian Revolution did not achieve its definitive aims, Ukrai-
nian society was reborn — a society which has been oppressed for
nearly 250 years. It also achieved the postulate of being a state and
simultaneously brought Ukraine and the Ukrainian problem into the
world arena, in which it is now a permanent feature. This was
correctly noted by Chief Otaman Symon Petlura when he said that:
“We entered the arena of history at a time when the world did
not know what Ukraine was. Nobody wanted to recognise Ukraine as
an independent state, no one treated our country as a separate nation,
Only through stubborn and uncompromising battle did we show the
world that Ukraine exists, that her nation lives and is fighting for her
rights, for her freedom and national independence .. .”

From the blood of the heroes of the Ukrainian National Revolution
and the Liberation Struggle, the young generation again picked up
the banner of the Liberation Struggle, inscribing the eternal symbols
of UVO (Ukrainian Military Organisation), OUN (Organisation of
Ukrainian Nationalists), and UPA (Ukrainian Insurgent Army) on it.
This generation continues the fight with the enemy, thrusting the
slogan “We will fight for the truth” in his face.

We do not know when that joyous day will come when the
Universal renewing the independence of Ukraine will be proclaimed
in St. Sophia Square. But we believe it will come sooner or later,
because our nation is an eternal spiritual entity, which will never
die while it has its Morozes, Shukhevyches, Karavanskys, Chornovils,
Sverstyuks . . .

Our nation lives and fights on!

NEW PUBLICATION I
UPA WARFARE IN UKRAINE \
by Yuriy Tys-Krokhmaliuk. 9

Describes the origin and struggle of the Ukrainian Insurgent
Army (UPA) for national freedom and statehood, 1942-1952.

Published by Society of Veterans of Ukrainian Insurgent
Army of the United States and Canada, USA, 1972.

Hard cover. 412 pp. + 24 pp. of plates.
J — Price: £ 6.00 ($ 12.00).

order from:
y Ukrainian Publishers LTD. Ukrainian Booksellers
3 200, Liverpool Road, 49, Linden Gardens,
( London, N1 ILF London, W2 4HG



Dr. Volodymyr KOSYK

WAS UKRAINE RECOGNISED BY THE ALLIES IN 19187

A thesis which provides a generally accepted answer to this
important question has not yet been supplied in any Ukrainian
research work.

The members of the UNR government, notably the head of the
government — V. Vynnychenko, and the general secretary of inter-
national relations, O. Shulhyn — confirmed that the Allies did
recognise the Ukrainian National Republic in December 1917 —
January 1918.

The Allies were understood to be composed of the founders of the
Entente Cordiale — France and England. As a result of controversial
statements which were in circulation at that time, O. Shulhyn
published a brochure in Berne, Switzerland, in 1918. This was written
in French and appeared under the title “Ukraine, Russia and the
Efforts of the Entente”, and it included official documents which
proved that Ukraine was recognised by the Allies.

Many Ukrainian historians and scholars of Ukrainian international
relations did not accept the assurances of official Ukrainian func-
tionaries or only accepted them with certain reservations or with
doubt. It is because of this that Ukrainian authors have not provided
a single answer to this question. Some assert that there was no
recognition at all (Dzh. Reshetar); others limit themselves to stating
that the Allies only sent their representatives to Kyiv (R. Yakem-
chuk); others believe that there was some form of recognition but
claim that it was not clear and was somewhere between de jure and
de facto (B. Halaychuk); still others think that there was de facto
recognition of the Ukrainian government but that this did not refer
to the independence of the UNR (V. Markus).

This disparity of ideas can be justified by the fact that all the
documents which confirmed recognition were not available to these
various authors. Today we have the opportunity to prove recognition
was in fact given, through the documents which are in the archives
of the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and eventually through
the use of Great Britain’'s documents. If one takes France into con-
sideration, then the documents in her possession definitively prove
this matter. The author of this article has had the opportunity to
study these archives and his article is based mainly on the materials
and documents that are available there.

Before we come to discuss the actual question of recognition, the
general background around which this question arose needs to be
described, as does France’s attitude and to a certain extent England’s.
This description is based on the documents and materials studied.
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It is important to remember that in 1917 Ukraine’'s entrance into
the world arena occurred under very difficult circumstances, but this
constitutes another matter which will not be discussed here. The French
government received much information on the Ukrainian question
and about the events which had taken place in Ukraine, but this
information mainly originated from Russian and Polish sources and
was often contradictory or simply unsympathetic.

Apart from this, the events which took place in the former czarist
empire developed so quickly that there was no time to grasp their
full significance in Paris (or London), and it was impossible to forsee
any one event. The fastest means of communication between the
French government and its diplomatic and military representatives
in East Europe was by telegram. But telegrams need to be coded and
decoded and this process usually took at least a day. Reports sent by
courier from Kyiv, Yassy and Petrograd arrived in Paris several
weeks after they were sent, by which time the situation in Ukraine
had completely changed. For example, an important report about the
situation in Ukraine sent by the diplomatic emissary Jean Pelisier
dated the 15th September 1917, arrived in Paris only on the 19th
November (and it was only given to the appropriate government
members to read on the 5th December 1917!).

It is not surprising then, that the French government knew little
about the existing situation and conditions. The English government
was in the same predicament, which is why it proposed that a confer-
ence of the Supreme Allied Council should take place in the second half
of December 1917 which was to decide their policies as regards relations
with Ukraine. At this conference, which took place in Paris, Clemen-
ceau openly stated that because nobody could forsee the events which
were taking place in “Russia” and similarly because nobody knew
what the existing situation was, the French government could not
engage itself definitively; but he believed that Ukraine should be
supported to oppose Bolshevik anarchy and to maintain a front in the
East. However, if it would be difficult to maintain a front with
France’s help, then he suggested that Ukraine should at least be kept
in the sphere of influence of the Allies so that her riches, (notably her
corn) would not fall into the hands of the Russians. England though,
did not regard this political line favourably.

But at this time, the head of the French military mission in
Romania, Gen. Berthelot, convinced the French government that
Ukraine was necessary to the Allies because she acted as a front for
the Romanian underground. In the instance of a German attack on
Romania, the only possible path of retreat would be through Ukraine.
That was why he advised that the Ukrainian government be recog-
nised and he proposed that Gen. Tabouis, who was then in Kyiv, be
made the official Commissioner of the French Republic in Ukraine.
Concerning the need to recognise the Ukrainian government, French
representatives from Petrograd and Kyiv sent telegrams emphasising
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that the Ukrainian government was striving for recognition, and
that it demanded this as a precondition for further discussions about the
financial and material aid that Ukraine would receive from the Allies.

Essential in the efforts to obtain recognition was the note sent by
the Ukrainian government to the Allied governments on the 9th
December 1917, in which O. Shulhyn wrote that: “ ... due to the
absence of a central government in Russia which all the nations of
the Russian federation would recognise, the general secretariat of
Ukraine represents a complete and independent government”. (Al-
though O. Shulhyn stated in this note that the UNR would become
part of the “Russian federation” when it was formed, at that time
there was no such federation, which the Allies knew very well).

In regard to the swift occurrence of events in the East and due to
the difficulty of communication, the French government entrusted
French diplomatic and military representatives to act on the spot —
but within the confines of their general instructions and according to
the existing state of affairs. This gave the diplomats and the heads
of the military missions in Russia and Romania a great deal of
independence.

In the first half of December the relations between the Ukrainian
government and France had an unofficial status. Under the pressure
of events and taking into consideration the position of the Ukrainian
government on the question of recognition, Gen. Tabouis, with the
support of Gen. Berthelot and of the diplomatic representatives (of
the minister) of France in Romania — de Saint-Oler — decided to
deliver an official letter to the Ukrainian government on the 18th
December 1917 which signiified the beginning of official relations
between France and the Ukrainian government

But Gen. Tabouis was aware that this gesture did not totally
appease the Ukrainians, who were waiting for diplomatic recognition.
The French representatives in Yassy and Petrograd again started to
pressurise the French government into speeding up recognition and
to appoint a Commissioner of France to Kyiv. Finally on the 26th
December 1917 the French government named Gen. Tabouis as the
Commissioner of the French Republic in Ukraine.

This decision may seem to be unspecific because on the one hand
the minister of foreign affairs, S. Pichon, informed diplomatic post-
ings that “Meeting the request expressed by different members of
the ministry of foreign affairs and ministers of war and with the
intention of strengthening our project as regards Ukraine, the
(French) government is prepared to name a ‘Commissioner of the
French Republic to the General Secretariat of Ukraine’ until we are
able to officially recognise the new government. It has been decided
to entrust this function to Gen. Tabouis ...”

Even though the minister of foreign affairs used the words “pre-
pared to name” (this was only a diplomatic phrase) Gen. Foch, in the
name of the head of government (Clemenceau was actual head of
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government and also minister of war) allowed Gen. Berthelot, by-
means of telegram, to name Gen. Tabouis as the French Commissioner
to Ukraine.

Gen. Berthelot immediately sent the nomination to Kyiv to Gen.
Tabouis and designated him to officially and triumphally inform the
Ukrainian government and to give the nomination as much publicity
as possible through the Ukrainian press.

De Saint-Oler viewed this demarche from the diplomatic point of
view, which is why when he informed Gen. Tabouis about his
nomination, de Saint-Oler informed him to accept the title of Com-
missioner when he deemed it absolutely necessary, since the accept-
ance of this title “carries Ukraine’'s recognition by France with it”
(Gen. Tabouis writes about this telegram in his memoirs).

Gen. Tabouis was aware that he could not wait for very long,
because, as it was, the nomination may have already come too late.
He informed ambassador Noulens in Petrograd telegraphically that
as a result of his nomination he regarded himself as the French High
Commissioner to Ukraine and that the French commission in Kyiv
was now subordinate to him. At the same time he ordered de Saint-
Oler to write an official nominational letter to the Ukrainian govern-
ment. Gen. Tabouis hesitated for several more days, then on the 2nd
of January 1918 he informed Paris by telegram that the situation in
Kyiv was critical and that the Ukrainian government connected the
guestion of material aid with the issue of recognition.

Finally on the 3rd of January Gen. Tabouis delivered a nomina-
tional letter in which it was said that he was named as “the Com-
missioner of the French Republic to the government of the Ukrainian
Republic”. His inauguration by the Ukrainian government took place
on the 4th January 1918.

On this same day, the French government accepted the decision to
definitively recognise the independence of Ukraine although it did
not know that Gen. Tabouis had already recognised the Ukrainian
government by his demarche.

On the 5th January (1 a.m.) the French minister of foreign affairs
informed the capitals of the Western Allies through his ambassadors
that he had entrusted Gen. Tabouis to “inform the Ukrainian govern-
ment that the government of the French Republic is pleased to
recognise it de facto as independent”. At the same time S. Pichon
entrusted the French ambassador to attempt to make the other
countries of the Western Allies also recognise the Ukrainian
government.

However, among all the members of the Western Allies, only the
English government was sympathetic to the French proposition and
charged its consul in Kyiv to fulfill the function of an English
representative in Ukraine. (Picton Bagge arrived in Kyiv in mid-
January and not in December as it appears in D. Doroshenko’s “The
History of Ukraine”).
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On the 9th January 1918 the ministry of foreign affairs in France
informed the world’s largest capitals (Madrid, Lisbon, Tokyo, Peking,
Athens, Washington and others) that “the French government offi-
cially recognises the independence of Finland and Ukraine”.

But the situation in Ukraine started to change very quickly. The
following facts did not allow the development and maintenance of
relations between Ukraine and the Allies:

1. Some members of the Ukrainian government, notably Vynny-
chenko, were not satisfied that France had delegated a commission
instead of an ambassador. They were also displeased that the com-
misioner who was delegated was a military man and not a civilian
who was familiar with and who understood Ukrainian affairs. Indeed,
Gen. Tabouis was in conflict with the Ukrainian government (except
for O. Shulhyn the general secretary of foreign affairs) the day after
the official notification of his nomination.

2. Ukraine demanded to take part in the Brest Litovsk Peace talks
due to reasons which would take too long to explain here. However
this fact was cunningly used by Ukraine’s enemies, notably after the
first plenary session of the talks (10th January). It was said that the
Ukrainian government was untrustworthy because it was betraying
the Allies. This argument had a strong influence on the military
circles of the Western Alliance, which had a decisive voice, because
the Allies were primarily concerned with the continuation of the war
and not with talks with the Germans.

3. As a result of the armistice on the Romanian front and the
talks at Brest Litovsk, German pressure in Romania ceased and the
danger of a German offensive vanished. Due to this, the interests of
the military leaders of the Allies in Ukraine as an underground for
the Romanian front diminished.

4. Ukraine was at war with Soviet Russia at that time. The repre-
sentatives of the Allies did not assess the situation very accurately,
not only because the Petrograd government disguised its intention by
its propaganda about the battle of “Ukrainian Soviets against the
Ukrainian bourgeois government” and about the existence of two
Ukrainian governments (in Kharkiv and Kyiv), but also because some
Ukrainians were considering talks with the Bolshevik government;
at this time, the Allies regarded the Bolsheviks as an enemy on a par
with the Germans.

5. Ukraine needed material aid, which France had promised to
supply but had given nothing concrete as yet; because of this the
strain between the Ukrainian government and Gen. Tabouis
increased.

6. The French were concerned about the frequent government
crises and internal changes. They most feared “pro-Austrian and pro-
German elements” becoming the main force.

Already on the 12th January 1918 the representatives in Yassy
informed Paris that they had entrusted Gen. Tabouis (on their own
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initiative) to “postpone” the notification of the “official recognition”
of Ukraine until the government crisis had passed. They of course
meant the notification of the formal decision of the French govern-
ment which was the topic of the telegrams sent between the 5th-9th
January, and not the notification of Gen. Tabouis’ nomination in which
Ukraine and her government were recognised de facto on the 4th
January 1918.

When Gen. Berthelot and the plenipotentiary — de Saint-Oler —
spoke of the “government crisis”, they had in mind the removal of
Petlura — a sympathiser of the Allies — from the post of general
secretary of war, and also the destruction of a project planned by the
left wing of the Ukrainian Socialist Revolutionaries, who planned to
overthrow the Centralna Rada, to arrest the members of the govern-
ment and to start talks with the Bolsheviks to end the war and even
eventually to transfer the rule of Ukraine to them.

The realisation of such a plan involved the removal of O. Shulhyn
from the government due to his support for the Allies. Although the
conspirators were arrested and there was no overthrow, Berthelot
and de Saint-Oler did not change their views on the Ukrainian
government. From this it evolves that the “government crisis” only
served as a pretext.

In mid-January, when the Ukrainian government officially
appealed for help, Gen. Tabouis replied a few days later that France
would only give aid when Ukraine had established certain conditions
and signed a “contract” in which those conditions would be outlined.
Gen. Tabouis’ conditions were very severe: if Ukraine accepted them,
then the French would obtain control of Ukraine's finances, the
economy, trade, foreign policy. In return for this, Gen. Tabouis
promised that France would officially recognise the Ukrainian nation
and would release Ukrainian money to the sum of 500 million. (The
terms of the contract do not specify the currency to be used but it
can be assumed that it meant the 500 million roubles which the
Ukrainian government planned to release according to the law passed
by the Centralna Rada on the 6th January).

Believing that France had already recognised Ukraine, the Ukrai-
nian government was not in a hurry to accept Tabouis’ conditions, the
more so because the Germans had not given such harsh conditions
for the Ukrainians to meet at Brest Litovsk, nor had they given such
small diplomatic concessions to the Ukrainian delegation.

In reality Ukraine’s recognition increased the pressure of Russian
and Polish political circles on the governments of the Western Allies
and on their representatives in Russia and Romania. In fact, not
everyone knew of the recognition and so under the pressure of those
afore mentioned circles objections were raised, notably to appease
the Russians. Russian (and Polish) circles put pressure on the
English and French governments and on their representatives in
Petrograd and Yassy, which pressure increased even more after the
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proclamation of the independence of Ukraine on the 22nd January-
1918.

Noulens, de Saint-Oler and Berthelot began to formulate their
sympathies for Ukraine more precisely and stated that they supported
her recognition, but not her independence, because an independent
Ukraine would disturb the unity of Russia; but Ukraine, as a member
of the Russian federation, would be able to gather strong forces
around herself from all Russian territories for war with Germany
and for resistance against Bolshevism.

In Paris, the deputy socialist and former minister Albert Thomas
led a strong attack against the policies of the French government. In
an article in “L’'Humanité” (on the 23rd January), A. Thomas sharply
criticised the policy of supporting “separatism” saying that Ukraine
was negotiating with the enemies of the Allies. On the whole the
French press took a critical attitude to the French government'’s
support of Ukraine.

The French government was left virtually on its own. The govern-
ment of the USA confirmed in a letter (11th January) that it did not
recognise any governments on “Russian” territory. The English gov-
ernment was indecisive, although its representative had been in Kyiv
since mid-January.

After the declaration of independence of Ukraine, the French
representatives in Petrograd and Yassy hoped that the situation in
Kyiv would change to the advantage of the Allies, after the talks
which were planned by the leader of the Masonic lodge “Moloda
Ukraina” (“Young Ukraine”) which had the intention of creating a
government from sympathisers of the Western Allies and from
“figurantes”, to recall independence and to declare a federation with
Russia.

But the overthrow was not successful, and the members of “Moloda
Ukraina” (with the exception of the High Master) in the face of
Bolshevik danger, turned fully to nationalist positions, positions in
the battle for the defence of an independent Ukraine.

On the 31st January 1918, Gen. Berthelot telegrammed Paris saying
that he saw no use in the Allies supporting the Ukrainian gov-
ernment.

After the Brest-Litovsk Peace was signed by the Central Powers
(9th February) the French press and various military, political and
diplomatic circles raised a movement against Ukraine saying that she
had “betrayed” the Allies.

The French government found itself in a very awkward situation.
To continue to support recognition of Ukraine became impossible.
What was more, as a result of various contradictory assertions, the
French government did not know itself if France had recognised
Ukraine or not. So on the 20th February the secretary of the political
section of the ministry of foreign affairs was entrusted with clarifying
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this question which was to be done on the basis of given ministerial
information.

The secretary prepared a separate report for the government
describing the dispatches which were connected with this question,
but he could not come to any clear conclusion. In his opinion the
matter was somewhat “doubtful” because although there had in fact
been recognition, the Ukrainian government had not been informed
of it. Obviously the ministry did not know that Gen. Tabouis officially
informed Ukraine of his nomination, which had taken the form of
recognition, since no text showing recognition was found in the
ministry for the 3rd January. However the relevant text can be
found in the archives of the Ukrainian government and in Gen.
Tabouis’ memoirs, which describe these matters.

In his report the secretary of the political section advised that the
French government should regard Ukraine’s recognition by France as
“not being effective”.

But the head of the political section accepted the decision that it
could be asserted that France did not recognise Ukraine because
there was no notification of such recognition. To appease their allies,
notably the Russians, (Red and White), French diplomats used the
suggestion made by the head of the political section.

It has to be taken into account however that the decision to use
this assertion arose from mere opportunism — to discount recognition
of a country which had “betrayed”, and not the actual fact of
recognition.

Accepting the thesis of non-recognition, prof. Reshetar affirms:
“Claiming recognition, Ukrainian functionaries forget that a separate
representative sent to a newly formed nation does not in itself
constitute de facto recognition”. (The Ukrainian Revolution”, in
English, p. 100).

This affirmation does not correspond either to the actual recogni-
tion of Ukraine or to the reality of international relations.

In his text book on international law, P. Ryter says that there is
no procedure which obliges any nation to recognise another, so de
facto recognition does not come under any specific formula, but it
can influence ordinary diplomatic relations, declarations, and agree-
ments, and it can even be implicit, expressed unclearly. P. Ryter
says that “Only one element is essential: that the deeds (action) from
which recognition stems, express the desire to recognise. (Interna-
tional Institutions”, in French, p. 124).

In the case of Ukraine, recognition stemmed not only from actions
which gave the impression of the desire to recognise, but also from
formal documents and the decision of the French government.

So no one can deny that the French government had the desire to
recognise Ukraine, and that it actually officially recognised Ukraine
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and her government. There is enough evidence to regard the recogni-
tion as being actual.

Finally Tabouis, who also desired recognition and had the authority
to grant it in the name of France, used his appointment as the official
representative of France as a form of recognition and wrote in his
diary “France recognised Ukraine first”.

Later debates about this question concern military functionaries
who were on the spot, and having realised the extent to which Ukrai-
nians were dependent on recognition, wanted to get as much
advantage from them as possible, tempting Ukrainians with a new
formal recognition.

After the signing at Brest-Litovsk, France informed Ukraine that
she did not recognise that Treaty, but she did not recall her recogni-
tion. Nor did she formally break diplomatic relations with Ukraine.
Only the arrival of the Bolsheviks in Kyiv forced Tabouis and his
mission to leave Ukraine.

But even the recalling of recognition and the breaking of diplo-
matic ties cannot deny the fact of the previous recognition. In the
case of Ukraine a recall of the recognition could have happened as a
result of the appropriate notification or through recognition of the
second government. But at this time France did not recognise either
the Lenin or the Kharkiv governments. Finally, according to interna-
tional lawyers, recall only applies in the case of de jure recognition
(L. Oppenheim).

The later conjectural and opportunistic denials do not negate
recognition — in fact, the French government did not produce any
document with which it denied recognition of Ukraine.

Recognition of Ukraine by England constitutes a somewhat different
matter. Picton Bagge came to Kyiv between 16-17th January, that
is, at the time when the English government was indecisive about its
politics as regards Ukraine. So the English government did actually
want to recognise the Ukrainian government. The letter which Picton
Bagge delivered to the Ukrainian government in the name of his own
government engaged England in that sense. So it can be asserted
that England also recognised Ukraine de facto, although less officially
than France.

The question of Ukraine’s recognition in January 1918 has a great
historical and political significance for the whole Ukrainian question.
This is precisely why the opponents of Ukrainian statehood deny this
recognition — but their arguments are at best very weak, and
practically meaningless.
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Igor SHANKOVSKY, Ph.D.

The Poetry of Courage & Anger

AN EXTRACT FROM THE BOOK BY THE ABOVE AUTHOR
“SYMONENKO — A STUDY IN SEMANTICS”

(2)
B. SYMONENKO'S POETICS

It has already been pointed out in the previous chapters of this
study that not only the inspired and bold phrases but every thought
of this exciting young man were directed against any evil and abuse
bestowed upon Ukrainian people by any invader. Unable to separate
himself from the social and moral issues of his time in his short
stories, offering allegoric reference to the reality in his fairy-tales,
the young poet excelled — all of it in his poems which can be
described as outright revolutionary. The semantic signification of
words in his verse is even more apparent. At the same time the
analysis of his own diary shows that Symonenko regarded himself as
an ardent searcher in the realm of new thoughts and was committed
against any sort of toadyism in literature. It would have saddened
Julien Benda, the author of the notoriously famous La Trahison des
Clercs (The Intellectuals’ Betrayal), to see a poet as committed to his
people as Symonenko, some thirty-five years after the initial printing
of his apologia. For Symonenko placed his creativity in defence of
national dignity and had the courage to write and say what others
feared even to think about. One of his contemporary adherants, the
poet Mykola Som, wrote in the foreword to the posthumous volume
of the departed colleague:

... Having entered literature, Vasyl Symonenko, gifted with generous
talent and incorruptible intellect, loudly sang his hearty song. His first
volume Tysha i Hrim immediately caught on with the people, became a
significant phenomenon in the Ukrainian poetry of recent years.

Today Symonenko is with us no more. Yet his fiery song remains, and
he himself remains forever young in life and in poetry.. .178

Singing “a hearty song” in a totalitarian State, especially on
Ukrainian soil, where a song was always favourably received, could
not have lasted for long. After realising that Symonenko’s poems
contain truly exposing qualities, sensing hidden semantic signification
over and above the normative meaning of many a word, having
considered all the possibilities of allegorical interpretation — Soviet
censorship did apply its proven measures, that are: refusal to print,
or, distortion of poems accepted for publication. The petulant ways
and means of Soviet censorship are confirmed by Symonenko in his
diary. It is also well known that Symonenko’s poetry was circulated,
in a clandestine manner and without regard for personal safety by

178) Mykola Som, “Slovo pro Vasyla Symonenka”, Vasyl Symonenko, Zemne Tyazhinnya
(Kyiv: v-vo “Molod"" — 1964), p. 3.
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those involved, widely in Soviet Ukraine even beforel® the volume
Tysha i Hrim was signed for publication in 1962.

To analyse Symonenko’s poems is not an easy task. The analyst
is faced at once with serious obstacles. Even now, some fifteen years
after his death, one cannot even dream about the availability of
his literary heritage, about free access to his manuscripts. His
biography and primary bibliography of his works are for the present
only solitary cadres on the film of a short life. More so, it is impossible
to conduct a serious analysis while having constantly to consider
which poem has been and which poem has not been abused by
censors. Especially, when after years have elapsed from the day of
the poet’s passing away, some Soviet “friends” keep on “bringing to
public attention” and publishing in Soviet Ukrainian periodicals
“newly discovered” (sicl) poems, where Symonenko, supposedly,
exults in praise of Russia and Communism. A question arises, why
were such poems not “discovered” while the poet was still alive?
Obviously, if there indeed were such poems written by Symonenko,
no censorship would ever have been needed. One thing that Symo-
nenko was not, is a scoundrel. Nor did he ever, to judge on the basis
of all available works, contradict himself. In one of his poems he
urges Russia to shut up, while he converses with Ukraine, so, where
do the “dithyrambes” in praise of Russia come from, several years
after his death? Such falsifications complicate and at times make it
impossible to arrive even at a suggestive appraisal of any poem
written by Symonenko and published in Soviet Ukraine. For that
reason | have selected to analyse and make inferences about semantic
signification on the basis of the poems smuggled abroad and published
in the volume Bereh Chekan (The Shore of Expectations) only. Two
chapters are being considered: “From Poetry Abused by Soviet
Censorship”, and “Poetry Forbidden in the U.S.S.R.”. Both chapters
contain only eighteen poems, a minimal percentage, if compared to
the entire heritage of literary works left behind by Symonenko, but,
indeed, more reliable than the works exposed to Soviet censorship.
This fact was admitted and confirmed by the Soviet Ukrainian critic
Ivan Svitlychny, who at the time was already being persecuted, yet,
apparently, forced to contribute the article quoted below to Visti z
Ukrainy (News from Ukraine), a Soviet propaganda newspaper written
and distributed excusively for the consumption of Ukrainians living
in exile. Here is what Svitlychny wrote:

. The textological history of many poems by V. Symonenko as of this
moment is not ascertained and it is difficult to say, in each and every case,
what was changed by the author himself, and what by the editors. There
was this, and there was that. And there are such changes that, indeed,

improve the work, but there also are such, that do not bestow honour on
those, who made them .. .iso

179) Editorial, “Ukrainian Poet and Hebei: Vasyl Symonenko”, The Ukrainian Bulletin
(October, 1965), p. 87.

180) I. Svitlychny, “Vasyl Symonenko — poet anhazhovanyi narodom”, Visti z Ukrainy
No. 35/421 (August, 1966), p. 4. Italics by the author of this study.
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It is not as important that Svitlychny, a persecuted adherent of
Vasyl Symonenko, who is now serving a jail sentence for his convic-
tions, admitted and confirmed that editorial or other “changes” took
place. More important by far is the underlining of such an admission
and confirmation by those who publish the propaganda newspaper by
permitting this confession to be printed. Whatever the reasons,
oversight, or repentance (there are such Western intellectuals who
never doubt any statement made in Soviet propaganda leaflets), the
statement stands. Nevertheless, 1 am only speculating when saying
that Svitlychny was “forced” to contribute this article, for it is
strange to see what he goes on to say there. First of all he attempts
to “disarm” the method selected by the editor 1. Koshelivets' in
naming the chapters in the volume printed in exile:

... That way, from the entire chapter “Poetry Forbidden in the U.S.S.R.”
practically remain only three poems: “Brama” (The Gate), “Zlodiy” (The
Thief), and “Nekroloh kukurudzyanomu kachanovi” (A Necrology for a
Corn-cob). Poems you can say, edged. So was V. Symonenko, un-
compromising, sharp, merciless. But even these poems, in spite of all
their edginess, are not anti-Soviet: to criticise selected events of collective
farm life does not mean to negate the collective farm system in general.
And they are no more edgy than the published poem “The Prophecy of
19177 .. 181

A few sentences later, as shall be proven after the next quotation,
Svitlychny exaggerated, trying probably, to “please” the editors and
censors in Visti z Ukrainy. He attempted to deny the fact that Symo-
nenko was ever preparing a volume entitled Bereh Chekan:

... And so, in his conception about an imaginary volume, which V. Symo-
nenko supposedly created, yet, “it was rejected by the Soviet publishers”
I. Koshelivets' builds only upon several poems. What kind of a volume
can be made out of several poems? All that, naturally, is not enough to
make up an entire legend about two Symonenkos, and such a legend can
appear verisimilar only to those, who are not in the position to verify
the factual warp of the legend .. .182

In this passage Svitlychny questions the vadility of a statement
made by the editor of the volume published in exile, where the latter
maintained in his foreword that there were two Symonenkos. One,
whose poetry was abused and then officially published in twisted
appearance, and the other one, whose poetry circulated in clandestine
manuscripts. Svitlychny also dismisses the conception that a volume
of poetry, entitled Bereh Chekan, every existed as “imaginary”. What
is true, then, in point of fact? — Exactly the opposite to what
Svitlychny states here. The “factual under warp of the legend” can
he verified. Svitlychny, or those who presented the above quoted
essay for his signature, did not take into account the fact that the
Soviet press (unlike the Western press in the Soviet Union) is readily
available abroad to anyone for the asking. He, or they, apparently
forgot, that yearly volumes of any Soviet newspaper or periodical

181) Ibid.
182) 1. Svitlychny, op cit., p. 4. Italics continued by me.
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can be kept legally by any private person for any period of time, not
only for the maximum of three years as it is practised in the Soviet
Union. I, for example, keep all of the issues of the Literaturna Hazeta
Ukraina printed since 1956. There, in the volume for 1962, the
following item appeared as a part of an editorial presentation, under
the title “Let’s get acquainted”:

Vasyl Symonenko — a poet. Born 1935, in Poltava province. Member
of the Communist Party. Graduated from the Kyivan State University
named after T. H. Shevchenko. From 1960 worked on the staff of the
newspaper Molod' Cherkashchyny. A volume of his poetry Tysha i Hrim
was published by the State Literary Publishers of Soviet Ukraine. Now
the poet has completed his second volume, entitled Bereh Chekari (The
Shore of Expectations).183

At this point it looks as if there is not much more to say about the
entire matter. Certainly, even the Visti z TJkrainy will not try to
convince anybody that I. Koshelivets', who lives and works in Munich,
West Germany, was at the time editing Literaturna JJkraina in Kyiv
to make up his “legend” there. Anyway, one is tempted to ask: who
are the ones that make up legends, and what happened to the rest of
the poems included by Symonenko in his completed volume Bereh
Chekan (for I do agree with I. Svitlychny’s statement that no volume
can be made “out of several poems”)?! Why exactly these, the
missing poems, not published in the Soviet Ukraine? Why do most of
the newspaper items printed about Symonenko, as mentioned in the
first chapter of this study, name V. Symonenko as a member of the
Communist party, while the Dictionary, published in 1965 and very
carefully listing all other writers who were ever members of the
Communist party, does not name him as a party member? Is it true,
as stated by the Polish émigré poet Josef Lobodowski in the respected
monthly Kultura (Culture), that Symonenko was posthumously tried
in a secret trial involving the very same. I. Svitlychny and the critic
I. Dzyuba, that it was decided during that trial to expel Symonenko
(again posthumously) from the party and that only some time later
was he restored to the party ranks under pressure of those party
members who refused to have anything to do with this insanity?

None of these questions shall ever be answered by Soviet author-
ities under the present circumstances, and it is fair to assume
under any circumstances that the Soviet regime will not be able to
appropriate Symonenko to its cause, no matter how expertly his
poems will be falsified in the future, no matter how many monuments
will be erected to his memory. No measures undertaken by the
authorities there could possible deceive anybody, either at home, or
abroad.

Thus, out of the volume of poetry that seems to have disappeared,
or, perhaps, by a chance of fortune, is kept hidden for the time being
by one or more of the numerous Symonenko adherents, the analysis®

183) “Bud'mo znayomi”, Literaturna Ukraina (December 14, 1962), p. 1. The editorial
items also presented other writers there.



20 THE UKRAINIAN REVIEW

must be confined to the eighteen poems available out of that volume
now. Two out of the eighteen were included in the quoted second
posthumous volume printed in Soviet Ukraine. They are: “ Samotnist”
(his poem was already compared to the entry Symonenko had made
in his diary), and “Ya” (1).188Two more poems from the chapter
“Poetry Forbidden in the U.S.S.R.” were printed some three years
later in the Kyivan youth magazine, squeezed in between already
known short topical poems that appeared in the first quoted
posthumous volume printed in Soviet Ukraine. They were presented
under the (very revealing!) title: “Parodies, Jokes, and Fairy-Tales”.
They were “Balada pro zaishloho cholovika” (Ballad About a Stranger),
and “Sud” (The Trial).18 Above this selection, in a short introduction
entitled “Zhyvi slova” (Living Words), a Candidate in Philology, one
Vasyl Lysenko, maintains that still another volume, one that contains
Symonenko’s satirical poems, is ready for publication and will be
released soon. The introduction is so short that it can be provided
here in its entire form:

LIVING WORDS...

. Not so long ago, it seems, he was still among us — given to reverie,
pensive, smiling. And yet, the literary community of Ukraine already
marked the fifth anniversary from the day of his premature, tragic death
— one of the most severe losses suffered during the last several years by
our young poetry.

Nevertheless, the thundering sound of his powerful poetic engines is
still coming to us from beyond the skyline, out of those high orbits that
were destined for him by fate forever.

Today we offer a new selection of the unpublished poems by Vasyl
Symonenko. There are quite a few of them left in the poet’'s archive,
according to previous counts almost 2000 lines. These are mostly poems
of the early period, written during school days, variants, and so on. But,
there are also some of the later works that for various reasons did not
make the pages in his published volumes: quite often they were rejected
by the poet, who was mercilessly exacting of himself.

The selection proposed here is composed out of the unknown fairy
tales, fables, and parodies by V. Symonenko, who during the last years
of his life took interest in the weapons used by our satirists and
humorists, contributed to Perets' (The Pepper) magazine, planned to
publish a small volume in the series “fellow-penmen” (in the near future
this dream, not realized during the lifetime of the poet-satirist and
humorist, shall be realized).

It is not difficult to notice that even in this genre the poet had time
to utter his ponderable, full-blooded, living words, saturated in the
passion of his thoughts and desires, with high civic strivings: from the
traditional beginners’ fables on indifferent, animalistic topics he was
passing to broader, socially important and socially significant themes. He
succeeded even in this, by producing a whole series of lasting achieve-
ments, which determine his place in Soviet Ukrainian poetry for
history.iso

184) Poezii, pp. 183 and 189.

185) Vasyl Symonenko, “Parodii, zharty, balky”, Dnipro (March, 1969), pp. 123-125.

186) Vasyl Lysenko, “Zhyvi slova ...”, Dnipro (March, 1969), p. 123. Italics by the author
of this study.
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Needless to say, the volume referred to in the above introduction
was never published in Soviet Ukraine as of this writing, some seven
years after the promise was made. Some of the poems presented as
“unknown” had been published before, as mentioned, in the first
posthumous volume, but V. Lysenko could have made an oversight.

A few words now to clarify my own position in relation to existing
critical schools before undertaking this final analysis. In the most
recent years a number of prominent scholars and literary critics
have voiced their discontent with the prevailing traditions in the
approach to literary study. On the one hand, there is the deadbeat
Western formalist approach by the so called “aesthetic purists”, who
have succeeded in reducing literary study to obscurantism. For some
decades now, instead of examining what a literary work really is
and what purpose it serves, the “aesthetic purists” tried to squeeze
anything analysed into a narrow framework by force, a framework
made up by themselves in the first place, even if it meant breaking
off arms and legs. On the other hand, there is the notorious Marxist
literary teraph, which assaults literature from the trenches of
dialectical ambiguity while tending to use historical structuralism for
camouflage. Both are totalitarian in their very nature and intolerant
to the point of narcissism. The discontent continues to be voiced and
is growing. Such outstanding scholars and/or literary critics as John
W. Aldridge, Bernard Bergonzi, Wayne Booth, Northrop Frye, Marie-
Beatrice Mesnet, Philip Thody, Geoffrey Wagner (in the Western
world), and Ivan Dzyuba, Margaryta Malynovs'ka, lvan Svitlychny
(in Soviet Ukraine), to name only a few, wrote and commented on
the urgent need to revaluate the theories that make up the bodies
of the New Criticism and the Marxist schools, or, perhaps, retire
both to the anthologies. | could not agree more, leaning toward the
latter proposition.

Rejecting both the formalist and the Marxist theories in their
traditional concept, | feel the need to expand the criteria of the
conventional terminology as well. For the sake of some fresh air,
I propose, conditionally, the following newly combined terms and
divide the eighteen analysed poems into three groups: a) poetry of
anger; b) psychological, deductive poetry; c) self-determinating lyrics.
The last category needs some additional explanation. Symonenko
shows in his lyrical poems not only his intimate world of personal
experiences, he also points out his attitude towards the reality
surrounding him, in other words, the poet self-determines the rela-
tionship of his own “1” to the surrounding reality. At the same time,
after conditionally agreeing to accept such a sub-division, it must be
denoted, that some of the analysed poems contain the elements of all
three groups and some others contain the characteristics of more than
one.
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As an example of “poetry anger” let us consider the poem
“Granitni obelisky .. (The Granite Obelisks ... marked by Symo-
nenko only by three asterisks and first among those printed in the
chapter “From the Poetry Abused by Soviet Censorship”:

*

The granite obelisks, just like medusae —

Crawled on and on, themselves of strength bereaved.
Here, on the graveyard of shot down illusions,

There isn’t any space left for the graves.

Few billion faith — into black soil buried,

Few billion fortunes — really blown to bits .. .
The soul in flames, the angry mind is burning,
And hatred guffaws screaming in the winds.

If, suddenly, their sight regained the cheated

If all the slaughtered could to life recur,

Then — heaven, by the curses all grey-smitten,

From shame and outrage would crack down for sure.

Oh, tremble, killers; meditate, you toadies,
For life refuses to accept your ways.

You hear? Here, on the graveyard of illusions,
There isn’'t any space left for the graves.

One solid gush — the nation is already,

The soil carnivorates all the blood,

For every headsman, every tyrant — ready —
A twisted noose for hanging is begot.

All torn apart, the hounded and the slaughtered
Arise and go, arrive to judge in grim.

And their loud curses, frenzied with anger,

Upon fed, mouldy souls shall fall to smother,

And on their dandling arms the trees shall gather
All the apostles of deceit and crime.187

The poem is a typical iambic pentameter, the first five stanzas are
composed of four lines each and rhyme in a-b-a-b order alternating
feminine and masculine rhymes; the last, sixth, stanza is composed
of six lines and rhymes in a-b-a-a-a-b order.18 An expressionist
hyperbole is used in the second stanza (“few billion faiths”, “few
billion fortunes™) to sharpen the acuteness of the portrayed discourse
and is repeated in the fifth stanza (“nation — one solid gash”, “soil

187) Vasyl Symonenko, Bereh Chekan®' (Munich: Proloh — 1965), pp. 137-138. From this
point on his source will be quoted as Bereh Chekan’', with indication of the appropriate
page number.

188) In all of the translations made by the author of this study a rigid attempt to
preserve the forms of originals is maintained.
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carnivorates from blood”). The poem ends with a figure of speech
often used by Symonenko: an oxymoron (“the apostles of deceit and
crime”).

Let me point out the individual words and phrases which contain
in my opinion semantic signification and/or a key to recognition of
the additional meaning provided by Symonenko himself within the
context of the above poem. “The nation” equals “one solid gash”.
“Ready-made, twisted noose” equals “the verdict”. “The apostles”
(as in the case of “the Jesuits” and “the Roman and Greek priests”
from the poem “Roses in Mourning”) equal “the leaders representing
the regime”. The anger is voiced by such metaphors and comparisons
as “the graveyard of shot down illusions”, “soil in flames”, “angry
mind”, “heaven grey-smitten by curses”. Symonenko exclaims, that
“a noose” is already awaiting every “headsman” and “tyrant” for
their crime against “the nation” which is “one solid gash”. There
can be no doubt that under “the nation” the poet had in mind the
Ukrainian people and this contention was understood well by Soviet
censorship. So, in order to dim the semantics of this poem, a title was
added to the version printed in Soviet Ukraine: “The Prophesy of
1917” (any suspicion that Symonenko might have named the poem
himself is refuted by the documents presented in the volume Bereh
Glnekan), while some veteran censor wrote two additional lines to the
poem:

... So truth and love shall win the world over,
To guard the truth — the labour shall arise.138

For the critic lvan Svitlychny, or for those who ordered him to
maintain the probability of the added title and the two extra lines
(there was such an attempt made in the discussed article by 1. Svit-
lychny in Visti 2 Ukrainy), it will be difficult to convince the reader
that there were “two different variants of this poem” in Symonenko’s
files. If there were — they surely did not resemble the one prepared
by Soviet censorship. The poet, who exclaimed so much anger while
portraying the realities the collective farmers and workers had to face
in Soviet Ukraine, who in his diary compared Marxism to religion,
could not have written, under the circumstances, that “labour” shall
“arise to guard the truth”, having selected for the “prophesy” a year
some eighteen years prior to his own birth. Symonenko was a con-
temporary poet and wrote about contemporary outrages committed
against his people. The consistent contemporaneity of his topics is
admitted and often even underlined by Soviet Ukrainian critics. A
German analyst goes even further, he comments:

... A passionate, well — simply revolutionary — hate blazes out of every

Symonenko poem, he whips by them, with curse and irony, the exploita-
tion and debasement bestowed by the Bolshevik regime .. .10

189) Vasyl Symonenko, Zemne tyazhinnya (Kyiv: v-vo “Molod' — 1964), p. 15.
190) Wolfgang Strauss, “Der Fall Symonenko 1935-1936”, Ukraine in Vergangenheit und
Gegenwart No. 32 (1965), p. 107. Reprint from Rheinischer Merkur No. 20 (15 May 1965).
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Another example of poetry of anger is “Zlodii” (The Thief), first
in the chapter “Poetry Forbidden in the U.S.S.R.”:

THE THIEF

Caught was an oldster, he, somehow was nailed flat,
They brought that oldster to the village Soviet,
They chid and lectured to him so about it:

— Won't you, oldster, ashamed now feel?

Out of the fields your own crops to steal?

Who did you steal from? Your own you pilfered.
Shame on you, stealing your toil, you! —

Oldster his sinciput shyly carded

And on a stipe he chewed.

Oldster’s eyelids were swollen, shivering.

So hard to stare into eyes of shame,

Hard for him, with plain domestic day-dreaming,
All, of this age, paradoxes to tame.

— That’s so, into his fist he kept on coughing —
Stealing is bad ... Yet, here what is worse:

— Tear yourself loose, from my throat fly screaming,
My disobedient verse!

Why is he a thief? What is the matter?

Why did he go to steal his own sweat?

A bundle like that would fit my back better —
Feelings of guilt into my heart spat. . .

Now I should kill him with scorn, for the merits.
Yet, in my chest grows a violent tide:

Who robbed him, who plucked off this oldster’s spirit?
Who had the hands of his keen conscience tied?
Where are they all — the dull, the fat-living,

The tongue-tied demagogues and liars, where,
Who bent the backbone of oldster’s believing,
While climbing to power and to high chairs?

They should be tried, and judged, and imprisoned,
Them to the dungeon for the brigandage!

Not enough evidence? Evidence is here,

Bundles of robbed expectations and faith.191

Again Symonenko calls for a trial against the “all-mighty”, who
climbed up to “power and high chairs”. Who are they and how did
they do it? They are “the dull”, the fat-living”, “the tongue-tied
demagogues and liars” and they bear remarkable likeness to “the
apostles” of the previous poem. They did it by “robbing the oldster’s
faith” in a better tomorrow by giving it to themselves today, while
the oldster must go on stealing his supposedly own crops; in order

191) Bereh chekan’, pp. 151-152.
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to survive. These are angry words. Symonenko even seems to be
annoyed by his own disenchantment with the Soviet version of
Communist ideology. This is not what Svitlychny describes as “to
criticise selected events of collective farm life”. In the previous poem
“billions of faiths were buried in black soil”; here — “bundles of
expectations and faiths were robbed”. To lose faith a given person
first of all must have believed at one time or another. When such a
person loses faith through somebody else’s fault — he, or she, gets
angry. If that person happens to be a poet — ‘poetry of anger is born.

It is an accepted notion, and not only in humanities, that poets get
ahead of exact sciences as far as discovery is concerned. When the
semantic value of a well selected word and the rhythmic dynamics of
the verses allow us to sense what the poet is trying to portray, the
picturesqueness, the inventive spirit in ways of expression, the
metaphoric insight of the poet allow us not only to sense but also to
react to a felicitous poetical phrase more appropriately. At the same
time, the poet is facing a much more difficult assignment when he
tries to evoke aesthetic feelings by means of semantic signification
rather than using conventional speech and the technical tricks or the
so-called otstranenie (estrangement) method. This point is well taken
by the Soviet Russian Member of the Academy V. V. Vinogradov,
who in his deliberation about the individuality of style says:

... This is a very important problem, but interpreted and solved in
different ways by the Marxist and by the idealistic aestheticians. In
reality, here arises the problem of all the accordances, co-relations, and
differences in the author’s biography, in his literary individuality, socio-
historical individuality, and — “the portrait of the author” within the
system of his creative literary works. The whole row of topics and
questions arising within this cycle calls for philosophical, cultural-
historical, and aesthetic-stylistic in-depth research ...

. Anti-historism in approaching the category of individual style and
the tendencies of its historical development to a narrow, very limited
evaluation of the possibilities offered by the research within the realm of
style as of a unique, intrinsically joined, individually integral system of
means and properties of the oral-artistic expression and portrayal. “The
fact, that a given literary work is valued by its own merits and not a part
of a whole, and only as an example of its intrinsic characteristics, and
only by necessity inserted within the row of all other literary works by a
given author, is, indeed, the substance in research of the individual
style.. ."1®

Such contentions, made by the leading Soviet Russian linguist and
literary theoretician, support my own observation made initially in
the first chapter of this study, that Symonenko was aware of the
experience accumulated by his literary predecessors throughout the
modern history of Ukraine. It was exactly on the basis of a cultural-
historical background (a tragic experience for the Ukrainian people)
that Symonenko did develop his conception of life. Poetry of anger®

192) V. V. Vinogradov, Problema avtorstva i teoria stilei (Moscow: izd. “Khudozhest-

vennaya literatura” — 1961), p. 195. The final thought in the above passage is quoted by
Vinogradov from: W. Kayser, Das sprachliche Kunstwerk. (Bern — 1956), p. 283.
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has to depend upon reality, else the anger might seem to be ground-
less and therefore irrational.

How deep Symonenko’s love for his native land really is can be
seen from the following poem, where anger is interwoven with self-

determinating lyrics:
* *

*

Lost in contemplation, I'm inspired —

By your blue and anxious orbs, like dawn.
Out of them red thunderbolts strike fire —
Revolutions, riots, risings — down.

Oh, Ukraine! My paragon of wonder!

As the years continue to expire,

I shall always, mother, proud and tender,
You, oh, my miraculous, admire.

For your sake — the pearls in souls I drill and
For your sake | think, create anew.

Russias and Americas — be quiet,

For the time that I converse with you.

Disappear, you all unfriendly, wily!
Wait for me, my friends, I'll come along!
Sacred filial rights | have: a while —

To be left with mother all alone.

Seldom, mother, | remember even

You, the days are all too short and square.
Not all devils live by now in heaven,
Plenty of them trot here on the earth.

See, I'm fighting with them every hour

Hear — the battle’s everlasting roar!

How can | without my true friends flower,

All their minds, eyes, hands — with me no more?

Oh, Ukraine, you are my very prayer,
And you are eternal my despair . ..

Roars over the world like mad fire
Struggle for your rights, your life to spare.

Let the purple clouds continue burning,
Let the insults hiss, regardless, all —
Into droplet of my own blood turning

On your sacred banner | shall fall.1B
* *

*

193) Bereh Chehan' pp. 146-147.
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This poem is composed with a trochee pentameter preserved
throughout all eight stanzas. Rhymes in a-b-a-b order. Semantic
signification is concentrated primarily upon two concepts: Ukraine
and history. The first concept is evident in the following words and
phrases: “paragon of wonder”, “mother”, “prayer”, “eternal despair”.
The latter is mirrored in: “orbs” (out of which red thunderbolts of
revolutions, riots, and risings strike fire, for such is the history of
Ukraine), “dawn” (the “orbs” are like a “dawn”, pointing out that
Ukrainian history is relatively young), “struggle” and “battle” (for
the same reason that “orbs”). Symonenko orders Russia and America
to “be quiet” while he talks to Ukraine. In the first line of the follow-
ing stanza he provides the reason why, by identifying both as
“unfriendly and wily” and, again, orders both to “disappear”. By
doing so Symonenko self-determines his relationship to both
SUpPEerpowers.

In the version of this poem printed in the Soviet Ukraine the third,
fifth, sixth, and seventh stanzas were omitted altogether, for obvious
reasons. It does not really matter how many versions there were in
Symonenko’s file, 1. Svitlychny had admitted that the one provided
above did exist, and that does matter, for it is exactly how it appeared
in the chapter “From the Poetry Abused by Soviet Censorship”.
This poem is perhaps one of the most intensely charged with Symo-
nenko’s love for his native land. For the sake of Ukraine the poet
“drills pearls in souls, thinks and creates”, even “fights devils every
hour”, that is, takes part in the “struggle for her rights and her very
life”. This lyrical self-determination is so sacred for Symonenko that
he is ready to fall with his own “droplet of blood” upon her “sacred
banner”. To write like this one really has to love and cherish his
native land. The poet’s feelings are passed to excite and involve,
even an indifferent reader and that can only happen when the
feelings are sincere.

A laboratory analyst would be helpless in trying to find meaning
in the case stated above; he would simply reject the issues as
irrelevant. Being a victim of his trade, he would choose to involve
himself with the mechanical task of establishing the way by which
the poet said all that he had to say — he would disregard the question:
what did the poet say? Moral, political, personal, generally humane
views of the poet, conditions under which the literary works were
written — do not matter. A laboratory analyst does not really care
what it is that he analyses. It could be a dog, a guinea pig, or a literary
text; he is concerned with classification and not with revelation of
his subject matter.

Symonenko does not classify his subject matter, he simply unveils
events by charging ordinary words with semantic signification to the
point that they become symbols. In his poem “Brama” (The Gate) he
shows the historical perspective of the oppression: This poem is
printed overleaf:
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THE GATE

Sombre gate, in wild, unknown forestalling,
Muses in delirious unease,

There just scroops and scroops protective railing
And the warders jingle with their keys.

Armed with bloody swords the apparitions,

In their cloaks as bleak as starless night,

Play a game with odd-shaped balls of tissue,
Heads, heads off the shoulders slashed, all right.

Blood keeps flowing to phlegmatic walls, where
All the wails freeze on the lips in turn,

A few hundred years of shame and torture

All the dead in graves do overturn.

Yet, the city doesn’t see in night’s gloom

How the guards, without the swords these days,
To the walls throw down another victim

With a dirty rag across his eyes.13

How many hag-ridden reminiscences such lines must evoke in all
the surviving political convicts and/or in the families of those, who
never came back from Soviet jails and concentration camps, what
horrification in the unexperienced. The use of trochee pentameter
here is also very much to the point and creates almost neo-classic
severity. Semantic signification concentrated upon the term “storazha”
(translated in the first stanza as “warders” and in the fourth stanza as
“guards”. The term is broadened to indicate a “few hundreds years” of
Muscovite “shame and torture” bestowed upon Ukraine. The expression
“without the swords these days” suggests that the historical “warders”
(now “apparitions”), who used to wear swords, are, perhaps coming back
to live again wearing more modern weapons, for there goes “another
victim” thrown down to the walls with “a dirty rag across his eyes”.
This is why this poem still is and shall continue to be banned in the
Soviet Ukraine, to re-name it with something like “The Prophesy of
1917 becomes impossible namely because of the last stanza.

Symonenko kept on expanding the poetry of anger until it was
anger reaching revolutionary proportions. In the poem “Kurds'komu
bratovi” (To my Kurd Brother) he sounds like Prometheus who is
about to break his chains:

194) Bereh Chekan' p. 156.
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TO MY KURD BROTHERS

Struggle — you shall win!
T. Shevchenko

Blood covered mountains crying out by calling,
In downfall — injured stars the distance cross,
Into rich valleys, wounded and appalled,

The chauvinism strikes down its hungry claws.

Oh, Kurd,guard carefully your deadly bullets,
But lives of killers — do not spare at all!
Upon high-handed, brigandaging bullies
With bloody wind-spot, striking storm, do fall!

With bullets talk to them for your advantage,
They didn’t only come to steal your goods:

They came to take away your name and language,
To make your son a bastard without roots.

You can’'t live with oppressor in compliance:
His aim — to rule; for you — to pull the cart!
Got fat on blood of peoples, hurt and pliant,
The chauvinism, worst foe right from the start.

He wed the treachery to base dishonour,

He shall do all that you yield, to win .. .

Oh, Kurd, do guard your every bullet on, or —
Without that you shall not preserve your kin.

Do not rock down to sleep your hatred’s power.
You’'ll add then cordiality to your list

When gaping grave forever does devour

The last, upon this planet, chauvinist.1%

No other contemporary could split word into atoms like Symonenko.
“Chauvinists” for him are “baistryuky” (bastards, translated as
“bullies” in the second stanza of this iambic pentameter), at the same
time “baistryuk” (bastard) would become a “son” conceived from a
relationship with a “chauvinist”. The relation of the term “bastard”,
as applied to “chauvinist” and “son” at the same time, implies that
the “son” would thus become a traitor. “Nation” — means “kin”;
“gaping” — means “ready-made”; “talking” — means “shooting”.
Fortunately, the poet does not try very much to hide his ideas and
my own interests in a literary work are in direct opposition to those
of the laboratory analyst. It does matter to me what a poet is trying
to say; in the above poem he calls for armed resistance to chauvinism
and since Russian chauvinism has taken massive proportions in
Soviet Ukraine there can be no question as to what, while addressing
his brother Kurd, the poet is actually saying. It was already pointed

195) Bereh Chekan', pp. 159-160.
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out during the analysis of the first fairy-tales that the citation from
T. Shevchenko’s poem “Kavkaz” (The Caucasus) provides a sort of
guiding light. There is also a common motive between that fairy-
tale and the poem. In the fairy-tale “tsar Lachrymal” weds his
daughter “lady Languor” to his subordinate, the “insidious snake,
captain Macaco”, while in the poem worst foe “chauvinism” weds
“treachery” to “dishonour”. Without armed resistance no “kin”,
“name”, or “language” can be preserved. The most recent “solution”
to the “Kurds' question” points out that Symonenko was right on
target. The analogy he drew between the Kurds and the fate of his
own people, now that intensified Russification in the Soviet Ukraine
is at its peak, is valid even more today.

Symonenko was a realist without any conjectures or disfigurations.
Desire to grasp the truth was forever haunting him. His youth,
saturated with exceptional wisdom, urged him to reject human weak-
ness; he fought against it until he breathed his last. His was an
amazing courage, considering that he knew about his incurable
disease. Quite often he would address himself with a whole chain of
rhetorical questions, answer himself, air his doubts and confirm again
and again his own position. For example; let’'s take the following

poem: . .

*

By thousands run the roads, a million pathways run in,
By thousands lie the fields, but only one is mine.

And what am | to do, when only minor reaping

Was destined for me on my non-abundant plain?

My sickle | should dump, go on to be a fritter,
Or should I curse my fate that harvest failed to bunch
And hire myself out to neighbours in ajitter

To get a pair of sandals, a crackling for my lunch?

If I could just forget about my squalid parcel,

For this poor plot of land I could get everything . ..
Indeed, they say of those, who toady’s sandals fit well,
Who put them on — the stubble doesn’t sting.

Yet, now | must go on to native plot barefooted,

Keep torturing myself, with lazy sickle fight,

And from exhaustion fall down to the crops uprooted,
And sleep embracing my own sheaf all night.

Because this land is mine! Here | shall harvest always,
Because no better crops are anywhere to find,

Because all thousand roads and million narrow pathways
To me paternal land return and bind.1%

196) Bereh Chekan’, p. 148.
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This time the poem is composed, somewhat amiss, by an iambic
hexamater (last lines in the three final stanzas are iambic pentameter),
rhyming a-b-a-b. Here, Symonenko arrives at self-determination
through psychological deduction. By asking and answering himself
rhetorical questions he comes to a conclusion that “his paternal plot
of land”, no matter how poor, is best for him and that he is to stay
there. “Toady’s sandals” Symonenko refuses to put on, even when
“the stubble does not sting” those who wear them. The psychological
deduction is simple: all roads do not lead to Rome, be it even the
“third Rome”; they always bring you home. In other words, do not
sell out your native land, for nothing can replace it. Simple, but truly
great poetry can only be achieved by the greatest simplicity.

This poem, censored, was first printed in Zmina (August, 1964) and
later, distorted as well (the third stanza was completely omitted), in
the second posthumous volume Poezii. In both publications the
omitted stanza was indicated by a single line of dots.

Similar devotion and attachment to his native land can be felt
in the poem which takes Symonenko into a nostalgic refuge of his
by-gone childhood:

Carry me, my happy feelings, on your speedy wings,

Where the sunny rill is beaming by the hills and things.

Where the houses stand in dresses, white and newly clad,

Native house, clear and clean, that hops by windows had.

Where young girls, who muse on happy, walk to cooling wells,
Where, like silk, green pastures flourish, by a corn-field swell.
Where myself, a pinkish wonder, with a twig in hand,

Grabs a mad and hollow gander, grabs me where | stand.

Bless me, here, my good old fortune, stubborn, squeamish-louder—
On this land to live my life also die round here.197

This trochee heptameter rhymes with masculine endings made by
an aa-bb-cc-dd-ee pattern.

To end this presentation of Symonenko’s poems in translation, as
well as my analysis, | have selected a poem representing what was
earlier conditionally described as his psychological, deductive poetry.
The poem carries a deliberately long title “Nokroloh kukurudzyano-
mu kachanovi, shcho zahynuv na zahotpunkti” (see the title in
translation). In it, by the means of personification and expressionist
hyperbole (note, that the importance devoted to a corn-cob alone is
expressionist), Symonenko creates a symbol:

197) Bereh Chekan', p. 163.
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NECROLOGY FOR A CORN-COB WHICH DIED
AT THE PROVISIONARY STOCK CENTRE

No moaning can be heard. The orchestras are rusting.
Orators from their screams — all hoarse and worn.

It is no leader, nor maestro resting —

Here, in a casket, lies a cob of corn.

A casket made of crassitude, in want of talent

Upholstered, followed by my trend of thoughts:
Whom to bewail? Whom should I bring to trial?
Out of whose heart should | knock off the bolts?

Whom should | shake by buttonholes and spirit?
Whom should I curse for this incongruous death?
The corn-cob died and | must scream and bear it,
Filled up with sorrow and despite to fret.

Oh, my corn-cob, why was by rot your dying?
Oh, my corn-cob, what sin did you commit?
Oh, my corn-cob, now in your grave are lying
The human labour, bounties of the seeds.

The sleepless nights, the days forever restless,
Sweat, calluses, the fiery thoughts in vain —
They all lay down beside you in the casket
And go on rotting under swollen rain . ..

Be cursed forever, you, deceiving plotters,
No matter what darn titles you have worn!
You go on bringing human hopes to slaughter
Just like you killed a simple cob of corn.18

Written in iambic pentameters (this time first lines in the initial
two stanzas are amiss, they represent iambic hexameters) this poem
rhymes in a-b-a-b pattern, as usual. If one would take only the literal,
even grotesque, interpretation, then, there would be no need for this
poem to remain on the “forbidden” list in the U.S.S.R. The fact, that
this poem continues to be blacklisted, indicates that the “corn-cob”
represents something much greater than its literal meaning. Let us
take into consideration, exactly what was it that died and lies next
to the “corn-cob” in the casket? Lying there are: “sleepless nights”,
“calluses”, “restless days”, “sweat”, “fiery thoughts”, “human
labour”, “bounties of the seeds”. Such, vast, hyperbolical overcrowd-
ing in the casket is rather far removed from interpreting “death of
the corn-cob” as being grotesque; nothing funny can be found in any
of the conceptions placed along with the corn-cob into the casket.

198) Bereh Chekan', pp. 153-154.
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A moment’s thought, while examining the reason responsible for
such an odd and bewildering predicament, brings forward a deduc-
tion that all of these conceptions, semantically, have some sort of a
connection either to human labour (already in the casket): “sweat”,
“restless days”; and/or to human hope (still outside the casket):
“sleepless nights”, “fiery thoughts”, “bounties of the seeds”. In the
last stanza there is a direct statement, that “human hopes” are soon
to join all these other conceptions in the casket for they are “being
brought to slaughter”. Who had “human labour” laid to rest and is
now trying to do the same with “human hopes”? Symonenko provides
an answer to his own rhetorical questions about that: receiving
plotters, who are wearing titles” he cursed them. And who, may I
ask, is there or ever was in the U.S.S.R., “wearing titles”? | leave the
answer to that entirely with the reader.

This psychological deduction was deliberately made easy to figure
out, especially for those who are being cursed out in anger and
despair by the narrator, and this is exactly why this poem was and still
is on the blacklist. Symonenko, a thoughtful poet, could not have
applied grotesque meaning (it may seem that he did, if the poem is
taken literally) to tears, labour, calluses, sweat, and hopes — they all
are serious conceptions — to make fun of these entities one would
have to be a loathsome scoundrel. I must remind the reader at this
point that Symonenko came out of the countryside, and in Ukraine,
at least in the rural areas, such conceptions as “labour” and “hope”
were always held to be sacred. Thus, all these, seemingly strange
gravefellows, lying and rotting next to the corn-cob, are there to
symbolize failure of the Soviet agricultural system. “Rusting
orchestras” and “hoarse, worn orators” only underline the failure
(they are instantly present on any Soviet public scenario). The
convicted Ukrainian dissident Mykhailo Horyn', addressing the closed
court session of the Lviv Regional Court on April 16, 1966 with his
last words, where he had categorically denied the charges of “Ukrai-
nian nationalism” stating that, among others, he was “brought up
on the works of Dobrolyubov, Herzen, and Ogarev”, had, never-
theless, this to say about the Soviet agricultural system:

... Yes, | considered that the solution of the economic and legal
problems of the kholkhoz (collective farm) peasantry is being delayed.
The press made a lot of noise about the prosperity of kholkhoz members
while they were receiving only grains and kopecks for a working day.
That became the reason for mass pilfering in the villages. The situation
was still further complicated by the fact that a kholkhoz member was
not allowed to leave the kholkhoz without a certificate from the chairman
of the village Soviet and from the kholkhoz chairman. Having no passport,
being dependent on the village administration, the peasant was morally
depressed. All declarations about substantial changes in agriculture
remained statements only .. .1990

199) Vyacheslav Chornovil, The Chornovil Papers (Toronto: McGraw — Hill — 1968),
p. 107.
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Having evaluated the contexts of all eighteen poems making up
the two aforementioned chapters in Bereh Chekan | must arrive at
the following conclusions: a) Symonenko’'s poetry is dedicated to
Ukraine and to her people; b) Symonenko’s poetry presents a bold,
loud protest against the infringements upon legality, constitutionally
guaranteed rights, and upon the very socialist mode of life (all
directed and supervised from Moscow) in Soviet Ukraine.

Ukrainian people felt deeply, understood, and absorbed the words
of Vasyl Symonenko. Under the pressure of his followers the Pub-
lishers “Molod” (Youth) proposed his works (volumes Tysha i Hrim,
Zemne Tyazhinnya, and fairy-tale Podorozh v Krainu Navpaky)
for the T. H. Shevchenko literary prize, in January 1965. The
posthumous candidacy of the poet was supported by the Ukrainian
kovisomol (Communist Youth), the Ukrainian Writers Union, and by
the editors of Zmina magazine. The announcement was printed in
Literaturna Ukraina (8th January 1965) on page one. Many readers
responded with approval, here are the voices of some:

. Vasyl Symonenko — one of the candidates for the Shevchenko prize.
He is one of the most worthy among candidates because his short but
constructive life, small, yet significant contribution, continued and
developed within contemporary Ukranian poetry its best humanist tradi-
tions. The poet managed to give all his strength, all his talent, and all
his vigour, every drop of it, to his native people .. .200

. The fairy-tale by Vasyl Symonenko “Podorozh v Krainu Navpaky”,
as well as his volumes Tysha i Hrim and Zemne Tyazhinnya are proposed
for the T. H. Shevchenko prize in 1965. It seems to us that the fairy-tale
deserves this distinction. And so do the volumes Tysha i Hrim and Zemne
Tyazhinnya .. 201

Many feelings and thoughts bring out this small volume. You have
closed it. You see a familiar name: Vasyl Symonenko... And you continue
with his thought:

“No, not enough, yourself great to imagine,
Great in life you must be”.

He did not imagine himself great. He became a wonderful poet of our
age, this modest young man, who would have been only thirty years old
this year .. 202

. Not a small treasure was passed on to his contemporary by Vasyl
Symonenko. His book is saturated with philosophical penetration of life,
freshness of thematics.. 203

. I am looking at the portrait of Vasyl Symonenko, which was
publlshed in his poetical volume Zemne Tyazhinnya. Familiar outlines of
the face. Musing eyes ... Half-opened lips... It seems, any moment he
will begin to speak, speak to him, to you, to me — his adherent, friend,
contemporary countryman:@

200) Leonid Koronevych, “Holosom Tarasa”, Molod' Ukrainy (21 February 1965), p. 1.

201) Vadym Skomorovs'ky, “Nadzvyehaina mandrivka”, Literaturna Ukraina (5 February
1965), p. 3.

202) Mykhailo Taranavs'ky, "Treba velykomu but™, Literaturna Ukraina (2 March
1965), p. 2.

203) Leonid Khodzits'ky, “Samobutna poeziya”, Literaturna Ukrainia (2 March 1965), p. 2.
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Today — everything is for you —
The lakes, the forests, the steppes.
And speed with your life is needed,
And rush to your love is needed —
Do not fall asleep !.. .24

Symonenko’s followers did not succeed in their efforts and support.
The T. H. Shevchenko literary prize for 1965 was granted to Mykola
Bazhan for his long poem Polit kriz buryu2® .(Flight Through a
Storm).

There is not much more to say, at this time, about Yasyl Symo-
nenko and his work. Time will come and, perhaps, the entire archive
(holding the whole complicated and guarded “case” of his life,
encounters, and his unknown and/or forbidden works in their
entirety) shall become available for in-depth studies.

Within this, limited, study | have tried first of all to keep up with
the subject matter. Wherever any controversy appeared — 1 have
always stated my own rights for subjective opinion, while, at the
same time, pointing out and underlining other possibilities for inter-
preting the analysed text. The very term semantics is already
subjective by its very nature; people understand and interpret any
matter according to their particular environment and conceptions of
life. For example, let us take the term labour (so often handled by
Symonenko) and it will become apparent at once what a different
description and explanation for the term would be offered by a
carpenter and a butcher. It happens to be like that with every other
term (with some terms and conceptions the difference is less obvious);
all depends upon who is receiving and interpreting. 1 am making this
comment because this simple and obvious fact often escapes us.

It is obvious then, that the possibility of multiple views and inter-
pretations of semantic values in Symonenko’'s poetry proves the
fact that words and phrases there are often charged with additional
meaning.

To prove exactly that was the main purpose of this study.@

204) Stanislav Shumyts'kyi, “Ostrovy”, Literaturna Ukraina (23 February 1965). p. 3.
205) “Povidomlennya”, Literaturna Ukraina (9 March 1965), p. 1.
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THE RVDEHKO-TYKHY TRIAL
The trial of Rudenko and Tykhy takes place in Total Secrecy

The trial of Rudenko and Tykhy began on the 23rd June 1977,
their families were informed about the date of the trial only on the
27th June, when they received summonses to appear as witnesses in
the court of Druzhkivka, a town in the Konstaniynivska region in the
Donetsk province of Ukraine, at 10 a.m. the next day. Rudenko’s and
Tykhy’s relatives came a day earlier than was specified in the
summonses, on the 27th June.

The chairman of the People’s Court in Druzhkivka — Mykola
Oleksiyevych Ladyzhsky — said that the trial of Tykhy and Rudenko
would take place in another building, but he refused to say exactly
where, justifying this by saying that the summonses were for the
28th June, not the 27th.

“Come tomorrow at 10 o'clock” he said, “and | will give you the
address of the place where the trial is taking place”.

The relatives then started asking people in the town if they knew
where the trial was taking place. It transpired that people did know
and the address was obtained. The trial took place in the building of
“Smeshtorg” (“Mixed Trade Building”).

When they came to these premises, they saw that the placard
which showed that this was the “Smeshtorg” building had been taken
down. Only a trace of where it had hung remained on the wall. The
entire two-storey building was guarded by two militia cars, several
militia men, and about twenty men in civilian dress.

Rudenko’s wife tried to enter the building, but as she approached,
six guards in civilian dress arranged themselves in front of a door,
on which she glimpsed a sign which read “The Red Corner”. She
asked to be let into the room but was rudely refused and the men
started to shove her out of the corridor. She then asked if they would*

* Mykola Danylovych Rudenko: born 19. 12. 1920; a graduate of the philological faculty
at Kyiv University; a writer and philosopher; married; a member of the Kyiv Amnesty
International Group and the head of the Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the
Implementation of the Helsinki Accords, for which he was arrested on the 5th February
1977 in Kyiv. He was sentenced on the 1st July 1977 under Article 62 of the Criminal
Code of the Ukr. SSR, to 7 years of imprisonment and 5 years exile. Rudenko is a war
invalid and is gravely ill.

* Oleksiy Ivanovych Tykhy: born 31. 1. 1927; a pedagogics post-graduate; principal of
a middle school; first arrested in 1957 and sentenced to 7 years imprisonment for his
endeavours to increase the number of Ukrainian speaking schools in Donbas. He was
again arrested on the 4th February and sentenced on the 1st July 1977 to 10 years of
imprisonment and 5 years’ exile. The reason for his sentence is his membership of the
Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords and his
authorship of material concerned with the question of Ukrainian national and cultural
education. He has left an elderly mother living on her own.
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take the food and a white shirt that she had brought for her husband,
but the guards swore at her and pushed her out into the street.

Some people were standing in the street, who said that they had
come when they heard about the trial on the radio, and they stated
that some peopie had even come from as far as Donetsk and Kramo-
torsk, but that they had not been allowed into the hall.

Two young men had come from Kyiv (Petro Vins and his friend)
whose documents had been checked but they were still not allowed
to enter the hall. When they asked if the trial was in public or in
camera, they were told that it was a public trial, but there was no
more room in the courtroom.

At two o’clock in the afternoon about 50 members of “the public”
came out of the court. They said that there was a recess for lunch
until three o’clock. Two “black marias” (police vans) left the court-
yard; they were taking Tykhy and Rudenko to Druzhkivka police
station. After these, two more cars left. These were taking the judges
to lunch.

At three o'clock the two cars carrying the judges, followed by the
two “black marias” returned and parked behind the toilets in the
yard. First Oleksiy Tykhy, escorted by two soldiers, was led from
the van to the back entrance of the “Smeshtorg” office. Then Mykola
Rudenko was led from the second van. At this very moment, Ruden-
ko's wife was coming out of the toilet and seeing her husband,
shouted to him loudly. Rudenko was not even allowed to turn round,
but was pushed quickly through the doors while several men in
civilian dress surrounded Rudenko’'s wife, started to shout at her,
and tried to physically push her from the yard threatening her with
arrest. She called to the militia men who ran to the scene, asking
them to tell those hooligans that they did not have the right to push
her about, because it was not forbidden to enter the courtyard and
neither was it private property. The men from the militia spoke
politely, but said that these people had been put there for security
reasons, and were thus not hooligans, and that she had to follow their
orders. Raisa Rudenko asked why they were not wearing arm bands,
or some other sign to indicate that they were guards. She received no
reply to her question and was led away.

After the recess, both of the Kyivans went into the hall before
anyone else to ensure free places for themselves. But by the entrance
they were pulled aside — one was pulled to the right, the other to
the left — and there they were held until the hall was filled by the
same people who were there earlier. The Kyivans, relatives and
friends were then told there was no more room for them. The reason
given for this was that those who had summonses for the following
day, were not allowed in until the time they were to be questioned.

At six o'clock “the public” left the hall, the judges were
immediately driven away and the “black marias” took Tykhy and
Rudenko to the Donetsk prison (it is approximately 90 km from
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Druzhkivka to Donetsk). The judges left in such a hurry that no one
had a chance to discover which court was trying the defendants, why
relatives were not notified or any other information. The militia and
the guards maintained that they knew nothing.

All the guards, the judges and part of “the public” were staying
at a hotel in the town of Druzhkivka — evidence showing that they
were specially brought in for Rudenko’s and Tykhy’s trial.

When Rudenko’s wife asked the hotel administration for permission
to invite two friends in for 30 minutes (from 6 to 6.30 p.m.), the
administration categorically refused although the hotel regulations
which were hanging on the wall stated that guests were allowed
into rooms up to 11 p.m.

The trial was to resume at 9 a.m. the following day. Relatives,
witnesses and friends of the accused arrived at the court at 7 a.m. to
discover that the building was being guarded more carefully and that
no one was being allowed into the courtyard even to go to the toilet,
and that the guards now wore red arm bands on their sleeves.
Rudenko’s wife attempted to look into the still empty courtroom, but
was pushed away.

At 830 a.m., the secretary of the court came out and collected
the summonses from the witnesses. Rudenko’s wife requested that
she accept a statement from her addressed to the court concerning
the violations of the defendent’s right of defence, but the secretary
refused to accept it saying that the defendant — Rudenko — had his
own attorney, and that she would talk to him about it. The secretary
promised to tell the lawyer that Rudenko’s wife wished to see him. The
lawyer came to see her soon after this. His name was Fedir Ivanovych
Aleksyevnin. He said that he had been assigned to Rudenko’s
defence by the Presidium of the Donetsk College of Advocates, and
that he was employed by the legal consulting office of the Kalinsky
region in the town of Donetsk. He then asked about the statement
Rudenko’s wife was talking about to the secretary. She replied that
she was filing a complaint against the fact that the KGB had assigned
its own lawyer without informing her that the preliminary investiga-
tion had ended, so she had been deprived of the right of hiring a
lawyer of her own choice. The lawyer took offence at this and said
“then there is nothing more for me to say to you” and left.

Meanwhile “the public” started to enter the courtroom. Once again
those whose presence at the trial was undesirable were held back.
Those who were persistant were taken to militia cars and driven to
the police station for “identification purposes”. This happened to two
young men from Moscow (Peter Starchyk and Kyryl ....). They
were held in the “KPZ” (investigation cell) from the 28th June to
the 1st July. They were freed on 1st July — two days after the
sentence had been passed. Two Kyivans came from Donetsk to
Druzhkivka (Petro Vins and his friend) on the 28th June. They were
hoping to be present at the trial, but they were taken off their bus,
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taken to the militia, where they were searched, had their money
confiscated, were given 'plane tickets, put on the ‘plane and flown back
to Kyiv. Later three more people who had tried to get into the court-
room were brought to the militia. Their names are not known. The
residents of Druzhkivka, Kramatorska, Konstaninivska and Donetsk,
who gathered in front of the building where the trial was being held
were not allowed in, although there were plenty of free seats. Not even
Tykhy’s sister and her husband were allowed in, even though they
were not witnesses. The guard told them that the chairman of the
court had not given them permission.

On the sixth day of the trial (28th June), only Tykhy’s eighty year-
old mother and Rudenko’s sister were allowed in, and later in the
evening Tykhy’s two sons were permitted entry.

THE TRIAL

The first to be called were Tykhy’'s witnesses: H. S. Hrebenyuk,
Tsap Chuprunenko, Skrypkin, Syadrysty, and Bakhayeva (a lecturer at
Donetsk University). On the 29th June Professor Illy Isakovych
Stebun of the department of literary theory at Donetsk University
was called to testify.

Other witnesses had been questioned in the Tykhy case previously
but nothing is known about their testimony.

1 Alla Vasylivha Rusakovska — head of the department of
psychoneurology at the hospital where M. Rudenko spent two months
(from January to March 1976) undergoing examination. She testified
that Rudenko was brought to the hospital to determine the category
of his invalid state. The examination, which lasted one month, was
conducted by physicians at the hospital — including herself — and
Rudenko was pronounced completely healthy. However, for certitude
Rudenko was kept in the hospital for an additional month, during
which the examination was conducted by scientists and professors
from the Pavlov Psychiatric Hospital. They too, pronounced him
completely healthy.

Dr. Rusakovska also testified that Rudenko had brought a transistor
radio with him in order to listen to Western radio broadcasts, but
that on the following morning, she (Rusakovska) had taken the radio
away from him and returned it only two months later when Rudenko
was released from the hospital.

2. This was followed by a reading of the testimony of Volodymyr
Volodymyrovych Balan, a former soldier who testified that Rudenko
constantly listened to Western radio broadcasts whilst in the hospital
since his wardmate had a radio. (To this Rudenko replied that
Rusakovska had also confiscated his neighbour’s radio. Rusakovska
said that she remembered taking Rudenko’s radio but could not
remember anything about the other radio).

Then Volodymyr Volodymyrovych Balan testified that during his
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hospital stay Rudenko would demonstratively turn of? the radio and
whenever anyone protested he would walk out of the ward. Balan
also testified that Rudenko said that Soviet radio broadcasts did not
contain a single word of truth and refused to watch television.
However V. V. Balan said that he himself had never heard or seen
any of this, since he had been in a different ward and had only heard
about it from Honcharov and Zzhilkin. Honcharov was dead but
Zhilkin might be alive and could confirm this.

3. The next witness to be called was Ivan Oleksiyovych Kandyba,
who said that Rudenko had visited him.

4. Nadia Oleksiyivna Svitlychna, who said that she had given
Rudenko her letter addressed to the Ukrainian Public Group to Pro-
mote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords.

5. Oleksander Pavlovych Berdnyk, a Ukrainian science fiction
writer.

6. Lev Hryhorovych Lukyanenko, who testified that Rudenko had
visited him and that Tykhy had been there at the time, that this
meeting had not been planned in advance and that it had taken place
as a result of pure coincidence. He said that Rudenko had brought
with him the Declaration of the Group and its Memorandum No. I,
that he (Lukyanenko) had taken these documents to the kitchen, read
them and signed them. Later Oleksiy Ivanovych Tykhy had also gone
into the kitchen where he read and signed the documents. During
this time Lukyanenko and Rudenko had been sitting in another room
There was no discussion concerning these documents. Afterwards all
three discussed the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the
Final Act of the Helsinki Accords.

The prosecutor asked who was the author of the anti-Soviet
documents the Declaration, Memorandas Nos, 1, 2 and 3. Lukya-
nenko replied that all the members of the Group who had signed
the documents were the authors ... Each had contributed comments
and exchanges. During the leave-taking, Tykhy had asked Rudenko
to add his (Tykhy’s) letter to the Group’s documents and to include
it in the Memorandum. Rudenko agreed.

7. The court then called Rudenko’s wife, Raisa Afanasiyivna Rudenko,
to testify. The prosecutor asked her which anti-Soviet documents
she had reproduced on the typewriter. She replied: none. She then
stated that she still did not know what charges were being brought
against her husband and that she felt that the court had violated
the defendant’s right to defence by not informing her of the begin-
ning of the trial. She said that the American lawyer Ramsey Clark,
had agreed to defend Rudenko, and that she had written to the
American Bar Association (ASY-u) and to the International Association
of Democratic Lawyers (MAYuD) requesting that Mr. Ramsey Clark be
permitted to defend her husband. The presiding judge, E. M. Zin-
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chenko, replied that foreign lawyers do not have the right to defend
Soviet citizens.

8. The testimony of Kaplun (Raisa Rudenko’s brother) was then
read. He stated that he had taken a manuscript entitled “Energy of
Progress” in parts from the Rudenkos flat without their
knowledge or approval and read them at home. He did not tell his
wife about this. He also testified that his sister had typed “Energy
of Progress” and other works by Rudenko. (Meanwhile the Rudenkos’
stated that Rudenko himself typed all his materials and that his wife
neither typed nor read them).

After an intermission, Rudenko’s lawyer Aleksyevnin came up to
Mrs. Rudenko and told her that he wished to speak to her at the
request of her husband. She asked which court was trying him and
why only selected people were being admitted into the courtroom.
The lawyer replied that the trial was open and named the judges. As
regards her claim that only selected people were being admitted into
the courtroom, he said he had “not noticed”. Aleksyevin said that he
had recommended M. Rudenko to plead guilty and recant, but that
Rudenko, in the lawyer’'s own words, had become very angry and
had asked that he never bring up the subject again, or he would be
forced to refuse his services as counsel. Therefore he, as the lawyer,
suggested that Mrs. Rudenko convince her husband to recant. Ruden-
ko’s wife replied that she would never suggest anything of the kind
to her husband since in her opinion he had nothing to recant. Mrs.
Rudenko asked the lawyer why he had not informed her of the
beginning of the trial. Aleksyevnin replied that Rudenko had not
instructed him to inform her, and that he as a lawyer did not have
the right to suggest this. Moreover, the court is not obliged to inform
anyone. There is no such law.

The court refused to accept a written statement from Raisa
Rudenko concerning a violation of the right of defence.

9. The testimony of V. I. Barladyanu was read. He stated that he
had visited M. D. Rudenko on his (Rudenko’s) birthday on December
19th 1976, that afterwards he had slept at the train station, and that
the following day he had again visited Rudenko and given him his
letter to the prosecutor of the Odessa region. Mykola Rudenko had
then acquainted him with the contents of Memorandum No. 2. Two
days later a search was conducted in Rudenko’s flat and the
letter was confiscated. Therefore a month later, Barladianu sent an
identical letter to Rudenko. At the same time he authorised Rudenko
to make use of his (Barladianu’s) signature as he saw fit.

The judge stated that everything mentioned here was corroborated
by the documents taken from the searches made at Rudenko’s home.

10. The testimony of lvan Petrovych Matusevych was then read.
Matusevych confirmed that during a search of his residence some
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black envelopes were confiscated containing papers which had been
left there by his son. He had not read these papers and did not know
their contents. He stated that he knows nothing of his son’s activities.
He only knows that his son is unemployed at the present because, as
his son explained, he is looking for a different job.

11. This was followed by a reading of the testimony of Mykola
Ivanovych Matusevych or rather by a leading statement that Mykola
Ilvanovych Matusevych refused to testify.

12. This was followed by a reading of the testimony of Myroslav
Marynovych who stated that he visited Rudenko often and had talked
mostly about literature with him.

13. The testimony of Prof. Yu. Orlov was then read but not in its
entirety.

M. Rudenko asked that the addenum to the record of Yu. Orlov’s
interrogation be read, but the court refused.

M. Rudenko asked for a reading of the testimonies that Matusevych
and Marynovych had given after their arrests, since the court had
made public only the testimonies that they had given prior to their
arrests.

The judge asked Rudenko why he found this necessary. Rudenko
replied that he wished the witnesses — members of the Ukrainian
Public Group — to know about these testimonies since they are
slanderous, of a provocative nature and terrible. They state that the
Public Group is an underground anti-Soviet organisation.

The presiding judge forbade any discussion of this saying that
this was not part of the indictment.

Rudenko and Tykhy asked that all the documents with which they
were being charged be read out, including: the Declaration, Memoran-
da Nos. 1, 2 and 3, Borys Kovar’'s open letter to the KGB, Yosyp
Terelya’'s “Open Letter” and many others. The court refused.
Concerning the letters of Kovar and Terelya, which form part of the
charges against Rudenko, the judge stated that both authors are
mentally ill and therefore their letters would not be read.

Tykhy asked that no costs be deducted to pay for expertise to
determine whether various documents had been typed on his type-
writer since he had not denied this and no expertise had been
required. Tykhy also asked that the proceedings be recorded sten-
ographically or taped. The court refused, Tykhy made frequent
requests that his counsel, Koretsky, be dismissed, but neither the
court nor the lawyer paid any attention to this.

During a visit with his wife on the 4th July, 1977, Rudenko told her
that many other witnesses had testified at the trial. Incriminating
testimony was presented against Rudenko by Yevhen Volodymyro-
vych Tsybulsky, who regularly wrote denunciations against Rudenko
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to the KGB. What was in these denunciations is not known for the
Rudenkos were not permitted to finish their conversation.

The witness Stebun testified that Tykhy had called him once at
the university and asked for an appointment to see him. This was
arranged and during the conversation Tykhy expressed views on the
nationalities question that are hostile to our ideology. Stebun said
that Tykhy had slanderously claimed that Ukrainian culture is
perishing and the Ukrainian language is disappearing. Tykhy’s words,
according to Stebun, are politically hostile towards Soviet reality
and falsify and slander it. Stebun added that Tykhy hates the
Russian language.

M. Rudenko asked Stebun: “Do you remember, lliya Isakovych,
how in 1949 you were accused of cosmopolitanism, and what my
position was at the time?”

Stebun: “It's true | was accused of this (at the time). Rudenko
was then secretary of the party organisation of the (Ukrainian)
Writers’ Union. He fiercely defended writers (who were eventually
rehabilitated). But he never helped me personally”.

Rudenko: “Why, then are you pouring salt into the fresh wounds
of those who are suffering today?”

Stebun: “These are imaginary sufferings. There is no suffering
among our people today, and sowing such talk is a crime against
Soviet reality”.

Tykhy (addresssing himself to Stebun): “Do you remember how in
1939 you wrote in your article that Rylsky and others like him belong
in Siberia and not in Ukraine?”

Judge: “Tykhy! Tykhy! ... Don’t insult the investigative organs”.

Tykhy: “1 did not give you my writings and did not ask you to
review them. Who gave you my articles to review?”

Stebun: “The KGB”.

Tykhy: “I telephoned you at the department (at the university) and
asked you to give me a copy of the review of my works that you had
sent to the KGB. You said that you would give it to me, but when |
arrived, you told me that you could not do so (for someone had
forbidden you), but that you had nothing against talking to me.
Thus the initiative for the conversation came from you, and not from
me, as you claim. You slanderously claim that | came to change
your convictions for the purpose of engaging you in hostile activity.
Furthermore, there was no talk whatsoever about a conflict between
Russian and Ukrainian culture. (Turning towards the court): | accuse
Stebun of slander and of denouncing me, Tykhy, to the KGB”.

NOTE: The witness Bakhayeva, a lecturer at Donetsk University,
had been questioned the day before and said that she was present
during the discussion between Tykhy and Stebun and described this
discussion exactly as did Stebun.

All of this took place on the 28th and 29th June. All that took
place earlier is known only to the court, the KGB and the defendants.
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Following is the abbreviated speech of the prosecutor who began
his address with an attack on Rudenko then on Tykhy and then on
the Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the Implementation of the
Helsinki Accords, which he called anti-Soviet, hostile, etc.

“Prosecutor Arzharov spoke for 2 hours and 20 minutes:

“What we have here is not some everyday matter, but an especially
dangerous crime committed against the state, and anti-Soviet activity,
by Tykhy and Rudenko. Both actively engage in anti-soviet activities.
Both are adversaries of socialism, helpmates and agents of enemy
states. These renegades and traitors to the fatherland prepared,
reproduced, retained in their possession and circulated slanderous
documents which defamed the Soviet state and the social system for
the purpose of undermining and weakening Soviet rule.

In 1930 Rudenko circulated and sent to the Central Committee (of
the Communist Party) his essay on “Questions of Political Economy”.
In 1963 under the pseudonym “Fedorov” he sent an anti-Soviet work
entitled “The Universal Law of Progress” to the Central Committee.
In 1972 he sent an open anti-Soviet letter to the Department of
Science of the CC CPSU. In 1974 he circulated the anti-Soviet works
of “Energy and Progress” and “Economic Monologues” amongst
Sakharov and Turchyn. He wrote and retained in his possession the
following anti-Soviet works: “The Glow Above the Heart”, “Farewell
to my Party Card”, “Where are We?” “Reply to a Former Friend”,
“Before the Commissioning of the Kaniv HES (Hydro Electric Sta-
tion)”; Rudenko wrote and disseminated the anti-Soviet poems
“History of an lllness” and “The Cross”. In 1975 he wrote an anti-
Soviet letter to Sakharov and the anti-Soviet story “The First Line”
and the novel “The Eagle’s Gully” in 1976: “Gnosis and Contem-
poraneity”, “Afterword” to the “Energy of Progress”, an anti-Soviet
letter to Turchyn (1974) and a letter to Sakharov (1976); he circulated
Grigorenko’s “Introduction” to his own “Economic Monologues”; he
wrote and circulated “If You Refuse to be a Swine — Off to Jail
with You”, “To All People of Good Will”, a letter addressed to the
Prosecutor of Moscow and Kyiv; he circulated the letters of Berdnyk
(1972-1977), the letters of Borys Kohvar (dated 30th January 1972),
V. Moroz’s “Chronicle of Resistance”, I. Dzyuba’s “Internationalism
or Russification?”, the letters of Barladyanu, Y. Terelya, Nadia
Svitlychna and many others. He prepared, retained in his possession
and disseminated the following anti-Soviet documents: the Declara-
tion, Memorandums Nos. 1, 2, and 3. Many of the above mentioned
documents reached the West and were published there. Articles about
them appeared in Western enemy newspapers.

Wishing to become more active against the Soviet regime, Rudenko
befriended the mentally ill Grigorenko and in his flat, as well as in
the flat of Ginzburg, passed documents to foreign correspondents. He
reproduced and circulated in Moscow among: (he reads a list of nhames)
the slanderous pasquil “If You Refuse to be a Swine — Off to Jail
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with You”. He gave Ginsburg documents to be passed on to foreign
correspondents. Rudenko accepted the letter of the mentally ill Yosyp
Terelya as factual and used it for his own ends. Together with Grigo-
renko he prepared an appeal to Communists in the United States and
Canada. He authorised Grigorenko to sign his (Rudenko’s) name to
this “Message of Good Will” (Poslannia) .. . He conducted an anti-
Soviet telephone conversation with Bohdan Yasen and this conversa-
tion was published in the newspaper “Svoboda”. He wrote a letter to
Bohdan Yasen in which he asked the latter to help him establish
contacts with the American consulate in Kyiv since dissidents in
Moscow have free access to correspondents, while those in Kyiv have
no such possibilities”.

The prosecutor charged Oleksiy Tykhy with the authorship of the
following articles: “The Ukrainian Word”, “Thoughts About the
Native Language”, “Village Problems”, “Reflections on the Ukrainian
Language and Culture in the Donetsk Region”, the Declaration, and
Memorandums Nos. 1, 2 and 3, as well as possession of firearms.

The prosecutor said “Tykhy’s destructive activity was well masked
and well thought out. Tykhy persistently tried to implement it.
Tykhy claims that the presence of Russian schools and higher educa-
tional institutions is a violation of Ukraine’s sovereignty”. The
prosecutor accused Tykhy of forcible Ukrainianisation of citizens who
speak other languages, because Tykhy wrote that people who do not
speak Ukrainian should not be permitted to hold leading positions in
the Ukrainian republic and in this fashion sowed enmity between
the Ukrainian and Russian peoples.

The prosecutor said a great deal more and at the end demanded
that Mykola Danylovych Rudenko be sentenced to 7 years of strict
regime labour camps and 5 years of deprivation of freedom in
accordance with Art. 62, Sect. | of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR,
and that Oleksiy Tykhy be sentenced to 10 years of special regime
labour camps and 5 years of deprivation of freedom in accordance
with Art. 62 Sect. Il of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR, and that
Tykhy be declared an especially dangerous recidivist in accordance
with Art. 26, Sect. 11 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR.

THE DEFENCE OF M. RUDENKO

Rudenko’s attorney, Fedir Ivanovych Aleksyevin asked Rudenko
whether he had any objection to his defending him in Russian.
Rudenko did not protest.

NOTE: The trial was conducted in terribly broken Ukrainian.
Earlier the judge asked Rudenko and his wife whether they wished
to dismiss Aleksyyevnin as Rudenko’s counsel. The Rudenkos replied
that it was too late to hire another lawyer — it was the sixth day of
the trial — they agreed that Aleksyevnin represent Rudenko at this
level.
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ATTORNEY ALEKSYEVNIN “I cannot deny and dispute the guilt
of my client Rudenko since it has been proven by the evidence in the
case. But | ask the court to review the reasons why the crime was
committed, where its roots lie, how strong they are and if there are
grounds for believing that under the influence of Soviet reality
Rudenko will change his views regarding the Soviet state and social
order. It cannot be said that what he has done so far is the culmina-
tion of his life. | believe that time passes and everything changes,
and that the roots of his crime will whither away with time. These
roots are not of a purely political nature. Before Stalin’s activities
during the personality cult became known, that is in 1956, not only
was Rudenko’s life wholly dedicated to supporting Soviet rule, but
he did much to strengthen it.

When one of Rudenko’s poetry collections was censored by our
criticism, his works were no longer published. Then he was expelled
from the Party and from the Union of Writers. These circumstances
influenced Rudenko. Pie felt wronged. This led to a sense of dis-
satisfaction and injustice. No one wanted to hear his side and Rudenko
began looking for reasons, recalling the personality cult, gathering
documents of people who had been sentenced, contemplating the fate
of Ukrainians and so forth. His sense of being wronged transformed
itself into a need to express his views in his works.

Meetings with Sakharov and Grigorenko as well as with like-minded
people who were present here as witnesses also affected him. And
although they are not worthy of Rudenko, my client met with them
finding satisfaction in discussion. All this helped to ease Rudenko’s
pain. In addition his material situation had become less secure. The
whole essence of these experiences was expressed in the documents
confiscated during the search of his residence. | regard them as being
unobjective for they are not based on confirmed facts. Rudenko was
mistaken not only in regard to our reality. He says that he seriously
accepted Article 19 of the United Nations Declaration on Human
Rights. Article 19 does indeed deal with human rights. However
these rights cannot be used against our state and people!

Yet this does not mean that Rudenko’s goal was the overthrow of
Soviet rule. He had to deal with bureaucrats whom he considers
potentially dangerous. But these are not essential roots that can lead
us to conclude that Rudenko is an especially dangerous person.

In choosing the term of punishment for Rudenko, I ask the court
to take into consideration the explanation of certain views, which
Rudenko says have been misunderstood. For example in the last
verses of the poem “The Cross” he had something else in mind, and
not the overthrow of Soviet rule. Please take into consideration also
that part of his works were not circulated. For example his “Credo of
Unity” was read only by one person — the writer O. Berdnyk. Ru-
denko sent his “essay on Questions of Political Economy” only to the
Central Committee, his “Economic Monologues” only to Sakharov-
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The brochure “Ukrainian Intellectuals Tried by the KGB” came into
his possession accidentally and he did not show it to anybody. “To
People of Good Will”... The letter from Barladyanu was not circu-
lated. Neither was the letter to the Shah of Iran. As regards the
anonymous materials which he found in the letter box, he himself
describes them as rubbish. Rudenko himself is critical of some of the
documents. He says: “l draw a line between the results of bureau-
cratic distortions and Soviet rule as a whole”. This statement by
Rudenko proves that he is not conservative and that he is able to
return to the true path which he followed for many years and along
which he did a great deal of good for his people and his state.

From 1935 Rudenko was a member of the Komsomol; before the
war in 1941, he was already a member of the Communist Party.
During the harsh years of our nation, he did not finish his education
but, concealing the fact that he was blind in one eye (the left) from
the military commission, he went to defend the fatherland from the
Hitlerite invaders. He was a soldier in the cavalry regiment of the
Special Force formed by the People’'s War Commissariat. Afterwards
he finished school and was a political instructor on the Leningrad
front. In October 1941 he was seriously wounded but despite this,
continued to propagate the policies of our party among the troops.
In May 1946 he was deputy chief of the Political Section on the
Caucasus front; on March 15th 1946 he was promoted to the rank of
major on the 3rd Western and Byelorussian fronts. In 1944 he was
awarded the Order of the Red Star and later other medals. All this
is corroborated by documents in the case. The case also contains
exceptionally good personal characteristics of M. D. Rudenko (The
lawyer then read excerpts from various character testimonials).

1 “Rudenko feels very sick but continues to work ...”

2. "Rudenko is conducting excellent propaganda work, he is
dedicated to the party of Lenin . ..”

3. (The following is a recommendation from the Presidium of the
Writers’ Union). “Rudenko is highly disciplined, morally stable, has
often been elected to the posts of assistant secretary of the Party
organisation and secretary of the Party organisation of the Writers’
Union. His novels “Wind in the Face” and “The Last Sword” won
popularity among a wide readership. M. D. Rudenko is active in all
the activities of the Union of Writers in Ukraine”.

Prior to his expulsion from the Party and the Writers’ Union,
Mykola Rudenko accomplished a great deal. He published over 30
books and did much toward the education of our youth.

I believe that prosecutor Arzhanov has asked for too harsh a
sentence for Rudenko and 1 feel justified in asking for its reduction.
I am certain that Rudenko has the spiritual and intellectual potential
to find the path he followed earlier. Please take into consideration
that Rudenko is an invalid of the Second World War. The blood he
shed on the altar of the Fatherland also contributed to our victory.
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Rudenko is gravely ill and such a long term of imprisonment can
seriously worsen his condition. | ask the court to show humanity and
pass the minimum sentence on Rudenko ..

The Defence of Oleksiy Ivanovych Tykhy

Attorney Koretsky said that the Court, acting in accordance with
Article 111 of the Constitution of the USSR, had assigned him to
defend O. I. Tykhy. Koretsky said:

“In my opinion the judges have taken a questionable position in
this case, and | wish to express my active defence of O. I. Tykhy,
who is charged under Art. 62, Sect. Il and Art. 222, Sect. Il of the
Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR.

Let me refer to Art. 222 — “concerning the possession of firearms”.
An old German rifle, almost completely eaten away by rust, was
found in the house of Tykhy’s mother, in a storage space under the
straw roof. These circumstances should draw our special attention.
In order to find Tykhy (guilty) of possessing firearms we need proof.
What proof did the prosecutor present? The rifle was found in
Tykhy’s house, i.e. ... he must have hidden it. No further evidence
was presented. Many witnesses were questioned during the prelimi-
nary investigation, and they all said that during the war, Tykhy’s
older brother, Mykola, collected weapons abandoned by the Germans
as they retreated and himself was a partisan against the Germans.
Later he was drafted into the army and died at the front without
having the opportunity to tell anyone about this rifle. There is no
convincing evidence that Tykhy had any connection with this rifle.

Of a more serious nature is the charge brought against Tykhy
under Art. 62, Sect. Il of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR. It deals
with anti-Soviet agitation and propaganda. | am not able to prove
that he is innocent of this charge, for his guilt has been established
here, but not fully. The mere fact that Tykhy signed the Declaration
and the Memorandums of the so-called Ukrainian Public Group to
Promote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords in itself con-
stitutes a crime. In these documents, the Group accuses the govern-
ment of deliberately creating a famine in Ukraine in 1933 and uses
such terms as “genocide” and “ethnocide” — terms that can only be
used in conjunction with Hitlerite fascism. It has been said that
Tykhy began his destructive activities in 1972. Tykhy completed the
sentence imposed on him in 1957 on February 15th, 1964. This means
that by February 15th, 1972, eight years had elapsed and in those eight
years Tykhy had not committed a single crime. For this reason, the
present conviction cannot be qualified as recidivism, since it is
covered by a term of 8 years’ prescription.

Article 62 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR states that a
conviction that has not been rescinded or extinguished cannot form
the basis for qualifying a person an especially dangerous rescidivist.
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And Tykhy’s first conviction has been extinguished by an 8-years’
prescription.

I ask the Court to take into account that Tykhy is an elderly person
and has an old mother, whom he must support.

I also ask you to take into consideration the reason why Tykhy
chose this path. He did so under the influence of people like Lukya-
nenko and others”.

Mykola Rudenko’s Final Statement

“Citizen Judges!

Standing before you today is the Word.

In the beginning was the Word,

And the Word was with God

And the Word was God!

(The Gospel according to St. John, Chapter I)

No matter how we might deny idealism ... The Word found itself
in Man, in Logos ... This is the knowledge of the Universe about
itself. From this it follows that you are in the position of having to
judge the Universe for having embodied itself in Man (in the form of)

the Word .. . The Universe knows no boundaries. The Word must
freely transcend the boundaries of hearts and states. Information
which does not emanate from the mind destroys itself ... In order to

determine whether a society is progressive or regressive, there must
be freedom of the Word, freedom of information ... As Tykhy wrote:
“The language of a people — is the people”. ... What is the role of
the writer and philosopher? It is the expression of his beliefs. Article
19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states: “Everyone
has the right to freedom of opinion and expression; this right includes
freedom to hold opinions without interference and to seek, receive
and impart information and ideas through any media regardless of
frontiers”.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights has been legalised by
our government’s ratification and must be law for our government.. .
In my case the Word was never expressed, because no one has read
(my) works. They constitute an archive ... you are not judging me,
you are judging the Word ... You are judging the Universe, because
it is not what the KGB would like it to be.

Millions of Soviet citizens, writers and scholars have been con-
demned for having said that there is no democracy in our country.
For this they were thrown behind barbed wire. The Soviet govern-
ment will not convince anyone that this is not so in this fashion ...
My crime consists in expressing my convictions. How can the KGB
prove that it is not violating Article 19 of the Universal Declaration
of Human Rights? Without the right to be a person... The Russian
czar Nikolai |1 was the most ruthless of all the czars, yet he punished
Lermontov by exiling him from St. Petersburg to the Caucasus to
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serve as an officer in the imperial army. Even he did not deal with
writers and poets in as brutal a manner as is done in our country . ..
In Russia a poet was always a prophet.. Nothing weakens despotism
more than jail. ..

I committed no crime against Soviet rule. All my activities were
directed against bureaucratic distortions. All my civic passions ...
were aimed at eliminating (these distortions) and not at overthrowing
Soviet rule.

I do not consider myself guilty of any charges in the indictment. ..

{1

As Tykhy said, (‘they’ve) sentenced a bull for eating hay’ ”.

OLEKSIY IVANOVYCH TYKHY'S (born 1927) LAST STATEMENT
(abbreviated)

“1 must declare (at the outset) that my final statement will concern
itself only with the case at hand. | ask that my words be recorded.
I believe that | will need from 4 to 6 hours for the presentation of
my final statement”.

Judge: “If you repeat yourself or mock the Court, we will interrupt
you. You Tykhy, know too much. It would be better if you knew less”.

(Tykhy) “As | have already stated, | do not consider myself guilty
of a single charge in the indictment. 1 am forced to defend myself not
only before the prosecutor, but also before my lawyer. His profes-
sional duty is to defend, not to accuse. He should have stated that in
accordance with Article 62, the presence of a lawyer is not
compulsory, and left. That is what my lawyer did during my first
trial. But Koretsky went ahead and spoke. And what is more, just
as | expected, he devoted half his speech to the matter of the rifle.
The case contains not a single proof concerning this matter, and he
knew this.

I am forced to describe my life. I am a citizen of the USSR, a
Ukrainian and have never belonged to any parties. The CPSU would
not accept me, but | would not want to be a member of it anyway,
since (I disagree) with certain articles in its constitution. When | was
18 or 19 years old | read the collected works of Lenin. | have always
viewed life through my own eyes. | remember 1933, the famine; I
remember the war, the fascists; 1 remember how they hung people,
the round-ups, the refugees, etc. | studied at the Transportation and
Agricultural institutes, worked on construction in Zlatoust. Even
then my credo was: “The road to freedom leads through prison”.

Afterwards | graduated from Moscow University and worked in a
school, where | discovered my vocation. | worked in a village school,
saw the village up close, from the inside. It was then that | had my
first encounter with the MVD. At that time, they only observed the
“rebel” and did not conclude that “an unaccommodating attitude
towards bureaucrats” warranted arrest. Everyone recalls the 20th
Congress of the CPSU. During a conference held at my school, |
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presented a paper about the necessity of changing our educational
system which had reached a blind alley and that it needed to be
reorganised according to Makarenko’s views. | said that everyone has
a right to his own opinion, but in mine, we were not building com-
munism. Then began (a series of) questions from secretaries of
regional party organisations. This was followed by a letter (I might
add in Russian, which | am accused of hating) to the Presidium of
the Supreme Soviet — “lI can no longer remain silent”. The two
groups of KGB agents took me to Donetsk, where | told them every-
thing | thought. The investigators there fabricated a case against me.
The prosecutor there also demanded a sentence of 10 years for me.
There 1 dismissed my lawyer and | did not have to defend myself
against him. The main point there was also the fact that | had
graduated from Moscow University. The prosecutor at that trial need
not have made his remarks, as he need not have made here. The
court did not prove a single charge of the indictment, but on the
basis of “internal convictions” sentenced me to 7 years’ imprisonment
and 5 years’ loss of rights. |1 was not the only one convicted. | recall
others ...”

Judge: “Tykhy! Tykhy! There’s no need to list the sentences of all
those with whom you were imprisoned. That way you could talk 6 or
even 8 hours...”

Tykhy: “1 wrote to every department and always received the same
reply: “convicted justly”. Why do | insist upon a stenographic or
taped record, that is, a scrupulous record of the proceedings? Because
after 20 years | had the opportunity to acquaint myself with my old
“case” and what did | find? The record omits many of the questions
I asked witnesses; my final statement is missing. The testimony on
the whole, is recorded accurately, but all it contains is that “the
school has reached a blind alley”. What constitutes my crime against
Soviet rule in this?

The case record contains three documents. The first is dated 1958,
in which Sudarev, the same prosecutor who appeared at the trial,
declared that: “Further action in this case in the form of surveillance
is to be discontinued and the records sent for safekeeping to the
Donetsk KGB”. The document is labelled “secret”. Nine years later,
Yu. Ya. Noskov writes an identical document, also labelled secret.
The third document is once more signed by Prosecutor Noskov”.

Judge: “Why are you telling us about that case? Proceed with the
present case”.

Tykhy: “Why am | speaking about that case? Because on the basis
of that “case”, they want to add on from three to eight years to my
sentence. | consider it wrong that the court does not have a copy of
the verdict from my first trial. | asked that it be included in this case,
but my request was denied. Can | expect a just sentence from the
court given these experiences? Who is it then that is undermining the
authority of Soviet rule? Only the prosecutors, the judges and the



52 THE UKRAINIAN REVIEW

KGB and not people like myself or Rudenko. The records of the 1957
trial have been hidden away, and nothing can be learned about it.

A search was conducted in Tykhy’s (that is my) home. They were
looking for “material goods stolen from Store No. 7”. Instead they
found articles, letters and a typewriter. Everything was confiscated.
I was also taken in and placed in the investigation detention cell. |
wished to speak to the prosecutor, but this was denied. | announced a
hunger strike. Then Melnikov from the Donetsk KGB visited me and
showed me the opuses of Stebun and others, and tore up two files
in front of me. A year later, a document appeared showing that the
files were not torn up by Melnikov, but by another KGB officer, and
that in the presence of witnesses.

The first trial was closed. This one is open. However, | believe
that this is not a chance “public”. Just as it is no mere chance that my
relatives appeared in the court room only on the sixth day of the
trial.

My articles deal exclusively with the Ukrainian language and
culture. The article for which the prosecutor wants to convict me, he
has refused to read aloud here because it is evident that there is
nothing in it. The prosecutor has demanded information on the
number of Ukrainian-language schools in the Konstantynivsky region,
but why does he speak about all of Ukraine and the Konstantynivsky
region, and not about the matter that | tried to investigate? Because
these data are useful to him! The status of the Ukrainian language
and culture in the Donbas region is well known to all of you.

The prosecutor claims that | reject the term “Soviet people”. | am
a son of the Ukrainian people, but 1 am also a son of the Soviet
people, a son of the world community.

Everyone — the prosecutor and the lawyers — knows that in
accordance with Art. 19 of the Criminal Procedure Code, trials in
the Ukrainian SSR are to be conducted in the Ukrainian language.
Yet all my complaints were answered in Russian. Or, for example,
since the witness Skrypkin does not know the Ukrainian language,
and | know Russian, the record of the proceedings is being kept in
Russian.

I know the laws and although | do not agree with some of them,
I do not break them. That was the case with the law about the
language of instruction in schools. 1 wrote my proposals regarding
this matter during the period of discussion concerning this bill. These
proposals were not published, and | never received a reply regarding
them. But once a law is passed and ratified, 1 do not break it.

All the charges against me were fabricated by the investigators and
upheld by the prosecutor. Some documents were not investigated
during the preliminary investigation, since they appeared only after
I had been formally charged. About others | can only say that the
article entitled “Reflections on the Ukrainian Language and Culture
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in the Donbas Region” was sent by Neprak to the archives, and four
months later to the KGB. Why wasn’'t | charged for a whole five
years for writing this article? Probably because there was nothing in
it. (Regarding) a second article — the letter to Hrushetsky, | asked
that the former deputy chairman of the regional executive committee
Illyyashenko, as well as Pakharev, who evaluated the work, be
guestioned. The court denied my request, obviously in order to
prevent the details of my conversation with Illyashenko from
becoming public. Then this article was sent to the KGB and there
it lay for four years.

I am neither a chauvinst nor a nationalist, nor a hater of humanity.
In the article |1 wrote that | am against the “internationalisation” (in
guotation marks) of the Donbas region. In the speech of the prosecu-
tor and in the “case” record, the quotation marks disappeared.
Insofar as these documents were not investigated at this trial, they
cannot be included in the charges against me. Still, Stebun was given
these articles to review and he did so. The prosecutor argued before
the court that this is a provocative claim, but the prosecutor built
his entire case on such words as “intellectual genocide” and “spiritual
castration” taken out of context. These are legitimate literary terms
and have no hidden meanings. I am being charged with the letter to
Hrushetsky after my conversation in the regional executive
committee. This letter contains pertinent facts, yet when | asked that
it be read out to the court, the prosecutor said: “He wants to be
heard here .. and the letter was not read”.

Judge: (Warns Tykhy to stop insulting the investigative organs.
Tells him that he will deprive him of the right to continue his final
estimate).

Tykhy: “The letter to my daughter-in-law dealt with everyday
matters. It was not investigated by the court. The prosecutor
commented on certain passages from it quite arbitrarily. “Village
Problems” was a draft of an article rejected by the author himself.
It was originally meant for “Literaturna Gazeta” and encouraged
readers to take part in a discussion on this topic.

The prosecutor said that Tykhy is engaged in sabotage in a masked
form and that mask has to be torn off. Yet the prosecutor’s statement
about my conversation with Andros, in which I tried to convince him
not to keep 10 chickens is totally absurd. 1 have no idea what the
article “You and We” is all about. Proof of my authorship of it was
that it had been typed on my typewriter. Yet my typewriter was
being held by the KGB as an instrument of crime! At the same time
(it was said) that Tykhy conducted anti-Soviet propaganda in 1967-68.
But what kind of propaganda is it when conducted with one single
person — Andros? | told the court that | wished to question Andros
but Andros is not present. All that | have is a copy of a letter from
him in which he writes: “My comrades have shown me some of your
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things, and I know what you are like”. Andros testified during the
preliminary investigation that | never conducted anti-Soviet pro-
paganda with him. You all know the old saying: “one witness is not
a witness”. Especially since the conversation was held face to face.
Professor Stebun in his elegant speech presented testimony as if it
had been taken directly from Article 62 of the Criminal Code. Isn't
it strange that having numerous acquaintances for 13 years | would
choose precisely Professor Stebun with whom to conduct propaganda?
The witness Skrypkin did not present a single fact. He merely said
“He spoke Ukrainian with everyone”. Yes, | spoke Ukrainian with
Russians, Georgians, Armenians and they all understood me perfectly.
I want to call the court’s attention to the fact that Skrypkin presented
his testimony in 1974. What is more, he did not go there himself, but
was summoned. This means that the KGB had their own people there,
who told them to call that one. Syadrysty also did not go voluntarily
to the KGB, but was called, interrogated and told them: “Yes, he
spoke Ukrainian”. As regards Leonova, she spoke of works with
which I am not being charged, and therefore her testimony cannot be
used as evidence. The preliminary investigation also proved that no
dissemination of materials occurred.

I did in fact receive a warning on the basis of the secret decree
of 25th December 1972. But | cannot accept a warning given on the
basis of an unpublished law. At that time, after receiving the
warning, | submitted an appeal to the courts asking that my papers
be examined in a court proceeding. But the materials of this case
contain no mention of my appeals (there were four of them), nor do
they contain documents about my arrest in June 1976, about my
being held in the investigation detention cell. Yet the court refused
to examine my articles.

Stebun’s “notes” about my articles fall under Article 125 of the
Criminal Code. His testimony distorts our conversations and meet-
ings. The presiding judge did not permit me to ask Stebun all the
guestions | wished to pose to him. The investigation did not take into
consideration the fact that there were also positive reviews of my
articles by teachers and official institutions. Why did | not try to
meet with those who looked upon my work favourably, but instead,
chose Prof. Stebun to agitate?

There is one sentence in the prosecutor’s speech that merits our
attention: “He associated with people who had been imprisoned for
especially dangerous crimes”. It would follow from this that such
people are like lepers. | did not know that this was the view of the
KGB and therefore for 13 years, | associated with people and met
with friends who had been convicted of “especially dangerous state
crimes”.

It was decent of the prosecutor not to say that I am internally
hostile: he only spoke of my “masked interior”. But to go on. I am
being charged with discussing the “Declaration” and the “Memoran-
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dum No. 1”. Witnesses Lukyanenko and Rudenko both testified that
there was no discussion on this subject. I am a member of the Public
Group to Promote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords, and
I declare that the authors of these documents are all those who signed
them and the other documents. They have a specific goal and do not
contain anything anti-Soviet. That is why the prosecutor refused to
read them here, which constitutes a violation of Article 314 of the
Criminal Procedure Code of the Ukr. SSR. If these documents con-
tained anything anti-Soviet, | would not have signed them.

The commentaries to Article 62 of the Criminal Code define (what
constitutes) agitation and propaganda. According to these commen-
taries, neither Rudenko nor | can be accused of these crimes. It
does not say in them that a conversation with one person can be
regarded as agitation. (The commentaries) define what may be
considered literature as designated by Article 62. It is obvious that
some of the documents that I am being charged with (*Village
Problems”, “You and We”) cannot be regarded as anti-Soviet.

The judge asked Rudenko how the investigators and the prison
administration had treated him. He forgot to ask me, so | will
volunteer the information. Investigator Chorny and others, with
the approval of the investigatory group, Nagovitsyn, and Prosecutor
Noskov:

1 Demanded that | testify concerning facts with which | was not
being charged.

2. Tried to force me to testify concerning facts which cannot
constitute part of this case under the statue of limitation and con-
cerning facts that have no bearing on this case.

3. Rejected my applications with respect to questioning witnesses,
including new material in the case, and then accused me of prolong-
ing the investigation.

4. Refused to read me the decision of the preliminary investigation.

5. The investigator refused to give permission to add my remarks
to the records which constitutes a violation of Article 85 of the
Criminal Procedure Code of the Ukr. SSR.

6. Presenting specifically formulated reasons, | refused to testify
yet | was driven to interrogations and forced to sit for 4-6 hours
behind a bare desk without the right to read, move, or stand up”.

Judge: “Tykhy! How many hours have you been going on about
this...”

7. “1 do not know if my statements have been included in the
materials of the case.

8. During the first six days | was not allowed any books or news-
papers. For 36 days | was not given my glasses. Although | had
money with me when | was arrested, | was forbidden to buy even
cigarettes for the first 12 days.



56 THE UKRAINIAN REVIEW

9. The prison administration kept losing complaints and held back
replies to them. My complaint to the supervisory prosecutor was not
forwarded. For example, something banged on the pipes (in my cell)
for seven days, but the administration refused to respond to all my
complaints. Something caused a banging noise in my cell around the
clock for six days. After my complaint to the prison warden, it
finally stopped.

10. The guards arbitrarily shortened the exercise period from 50
to 40 minutes.

Now about my right to defence. | was refused the right to have
the lawyer assigned to me by the President of the Association of
Democratic lawyers to defend me. | was refused the right to have my
son to defend me. Instead | was appointed a “defence counsel”
against whom | am forced to defend myself. Both this “defence
counsel” and the court pay no heed to my dismissal of him, which
constitutes a violation of Articles 45 and 46 of the Criminal Procedure
Code of the Ukr. SSR.

The court forbade Rudenko to express his opinion of me. Since we
are both being tried in the same case, | wish to give my opinion of
Rudenko. | believe that has some significance for the court...”

Judge: “l strike this question (from the record). It may be of
significance to you, but not to us. You say that you know Article
319 of the Criminal Procedure Code. You do not know it. (The judge
reads Article 319 concerning the final statement of the defendant).
I will deprive you of your final statement”.

Tykhy: “If 1 did not know this article, you would have stopped
me long ago. But since this question has been struck, I will say no
more.

| became familiar with the works of Rudenko .. .
Judge: “I am striking that also!”

Tykhy: “I believe that no criminal act was committed. No guilt in
the form of intent on my part has been established. There were no
motives of gain on my part.

My “defence counsel” said many things about the negative influence
exerted on me by Lukyanenko and others. | therefore declare that
I have lived my entire life fully conscious of my conduct.

It is a strange path that has brought me and the court to Druzh-
kivka. Why was | brought here when | was arrested on the order
of the Prosecutor of the Ukr. SSR P. K. Hlukh, on the basis of a
decree of the Moscow Prosecutor Sevastyuk? It is strange that the
trial is being held in Druzhkivka and not in Kyiv or Donetsk where
all the witnesses are from. | cannot understand this but obviously
there is something illegal behind this. After my arrest, a large group
of investigators arrived in Donetsk from Kyiv. If I ...”

”
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Judge (Interrupting): “The court will adjourn to an ajoining room.
The verdict will be announced tomorrow evening at 5 or 6 p.m. or
more probably, early the following morning”.

(Everybody leaves).

NOTES:

1 During (O. Tykhy's) final statement Mykola Rudenko felt very
ill because the room lacked ventilation. Rivulets of perspiration
poured down his face and he was unable to remain seated. The
presiding judge accused Tykhy of making Rudenko ill by dragging
out his final statement. However the judge failed to mention the fact
that Rudenko was then placed in a Black Maria without windows or
doors and transported nearly 100 kilometres to the Donetsk prison.

2. The verdict was read on 1st July, 1977. The court fully upheld
the prosecutor’s demands.

3. Rudenko’s typewriter and camera were confiscated by the state
as instruments of the crime.

4. Rudenko was granted a visit with his wife and son Yuriy on the
4th July, 1977. He told them that during the investigation he was
charged under Art. 64 but at the trial this was changed to Art. 62.

5. Tykhy was not permitted a visit with his relatives, who were
told that he was not in Donetsk. It is obvious that Tykhy was being
held in an isolation cell.

6. Rudenko said that during a meeting with his family that his
cell-mate did not receive food parcels; therefore the 5 kilogramme
parcel that Rudenko received each month was divided between them,
each receiving 2.5 kilos.

7. Rudenko’s wife was dismissed from her job due to “administrative
lay offs.”.

8. During his visit with his wife, Rudenko told her that he did
not believe in the slanderous testimony of Matusevych and Maryno-
vych and regards it as a KGB provocation.

9. All the above materials are presented in an abbreviated form.
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A. SHIFRIN*

FOREIGN NATIONALS IN SOVIET CONCENTRATION
CAMPS — 1977*

Today you meet people from all over the world in Soviet cencentra-
tion camps. This might surprise you. However it does not surprise
those who know how the Soviet authorities gradually started to
arrest foreign citizens and sentence them to camp terms.

First let us say a few words which will present the background to
this sad story, and then we’ll review the cases of those foreigners
who are currently languishing in the KGB concentration camps.

As far back as 1950, at the famous “Paris Trial”, Pierre Dex, an
eminent member of the French communist party, denied the fact that
there were concentration camps in the USSR; and after the fact of
their existence had been proven by numerous witnesses, he had the
audacity to proclaim that he was “grateful to the USSR for this
magnificent enterprise” — meaning the concentration camps. The
witnesses, former political prisoners, who submitted evidence to the
trial were: Dr. Yul Margolin (Israel) who had served 5 years in the
camps; the Spanish Civil War hero Kampesino (Spain) — 15 years in
the camps; Mrs. Leonard (France) — 12 years in the camps; and
many other victims of the Soviet Union.

These people were imprisoned in Soviet concentration camps for
various reasons. Dr. Margolin, for instance, landed there by *“bad
luck”. He was visiting Poland at the time of her occupation by the
Soviet Army in 1939, when Stalin and Hitler divided Poland between
themselves. What was to be done with a foreigner? Sent to the camps
of course.

The Spaniard Kampesino came to the USSR to escape Franko's
dictatorship and he hoped that there he would be able to help the
Russians in building communism. The Russians really looked after
him well — for 15 years they kept him in the Kolima camps, beyond
the Polar Circle. In those camps he met many of his fellow com-
munists who had similarly escaped from Spain.

Later on the authorities started to send the Spanish children who
were “rescued” from Franko in 1936-37, to the camps. These children
grew up in the USSR, they matured and expressed the desire to
return to their homeland. But instead, they were sent to Siberia. As
for Kampesino, the immediate reason for his arrest and conviction
was also his wish to leave the USSR.

*) Shifrin — Director of the Research Centre for Prisons, Psychprisons and
Forced Labour Concentration Camps of the USSR, Israel.
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Mrs. Leonard from France and Mrs. Buber-Noiman from Germany
spent 12 years each in the camps; they too were members of the
communist party.

Thus the USSR was gaining experience arresting unruly foreign
communists who were naive enough to believe that they could freely
express their thoughts and opinions in the USSR.

By the end of World War Il the Soviet secret police had extended
its activity in the field of bringing foreign citizens to Soviet con-
centration camps. They could now be sure, on the basis of their
previous experience, that they did not have to be afraid of being
reprimanded since the governments of the Western countries would
not make any noise of protest when their citizens “disappeared”.

In 1945-47, the KGB kidnapped and deported hundreds of people
from Vienna, the Austrian capital, divided by then by the Allies, to
the USSR: the most usual accusation made against those kidnapped,
was espionage, and they were all condemned to slave labour in Soviet
concentration camps; for example, Simon Kranz, who throughout the
ten years that he spent in the camps could not grasp the actual reason
why he had been arrested. For those naive Westerners, Russia
was a real hell, a most terrible pit of horror where they faced hunger,
bitter frost, beatings, deathly labour. They became reserved, sullen,
shrank into themselves, tried to do everything in order to survive.
But most of them perished.

Hundreds of German, Belgian, French, Polish, Hungarian, Yugo-
slavian, Spanish and Italian citizens were sent to the Soviet camps as
“Nazi collaborators” or “war criminals”. Actually, most of them were
simply deprived of their status of POW'’s and instead “granted” the
status of camp inmates with 25-year terms in special regime camps.
They remained in the USSR, in the camps only until 1955-1956, i.e.
approximately ten years. They were freed as a result of open
bargaining between the USSR and their countries. West Germany,
Belgium, and other countries gave the Soviets raw materials, equip-
ment and made political concessions in lieu of them. And today
nobody remembers the countless of thousands of innocent people who
perished in Siberia.

Former inmates of the “Ozerlag” camp remember that in 1956
about 10,000 Germans were freed from that camp in Taishent (the
Siberian railway construction) and permitted to leave the USSR. But
in 1946 about 100,000 had been brought there. Only about one out of
ten have survived. Why are they silent now? Where are you, our
camp comrades, Captain Zigmund Ol'sner, General Sartorius and
others?

The Soviets’' insolence knew no limits whenever they wanted to
kidnap “useful” people, whoever they were. Thus in 1945, the KGB
kidnapped Raul Valenberg, a Swedish diplomat in Budapest and took
him to the USSR. Valenburg had helped to save Hungarian Jews
during World War Il and had valuables and information about
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valuables belonging to those who perished or survived the war in his
possession. All this disappeared. So did Valenberg. It was as late as
1973 that the witness Ch. Mashinsky, who had arrived from the
USSR, told us that he saw Valenberg in 1963 on Vrangel’ Island in
the Arctic Ocean, where three top secret camps for foreigners are
located. According to Ch. Machinsky, the inmates of these camps are
subject to medical experiments needed for Soviet navy and space
flights.

A leader of the anti-communist organisation NTS, Yugoslavian
citizen Trushnivich, kidnapped in West Berlin in 1953, was also kept
in one of those camps on Vrangel’ Island. Thanks to Ch. Mashinsky’s
evidence it became possible to locate tens of Italian and German
citizens who had been reported “missing” since World 11: all of them
had been sent to Soviet concentration camps where they can be found
today.

As late as 1953-1963, while a prisoner in Siberian political camps,
A. Shifrin met the American Army officer Alexander Shornik, and
French citizens Vensan de Santer and Pierre Sup’u. A. Shifrin also had a
chance to talk with a Greek guerilla fighter, communist Vazupolis, who
was kept in the same camps. The USSR “kindly” deported him, as
well as five other Greek communists, to Tashkent after they had
escaped to Yugoslavia after the failed communist coup in Greece.
After a few years in the USSR these people realised that communism
in that country did not exist, and they started to openly criticise the
Bolshevik dictatorship. All those Greek communists were promptly
dispatched to the camps for “anti-Soviet propaganda”.

In 1945 the KGB kidnapped Stany Dubik, an American Army
General in Vienna; he spent ten years in the camps of “Peschlag”
(Kazakhstan) and “Ozerlag” (Siberia). The KGB agents had
simply thrown a bag with narcosis over his head and he regained
consciousness in a Moscow prison. The KGB demanded information
about the American Armed Forces from him. After ten years in the
camps, he was exchanged for a Soviet spy arrested in the USA in
1955.

In 1946 the KGB kidnapped Vensan de Santer and his brother in
Paris: both were given sleeping potions, brought to the USSR and
sent to the camps beyond the Polar Circle. They were frankly told
in the KGB headquarters: “We took you by mistake”. But to return
them? Impossible! Vensan's brother died in the camps, Vensan
survived and after 12 years returned to France. We do not know
where he is now and why he is silent.

Pierre Sup’u was brought to the USSR by his father who wanted
to help the Russians build communism. The father died in the camps
in 1942. In 1946 Pierre requested an exit permit to France. He was
sent to Siberia instead, in the footsteps of his father, where he spent
ten years in the same camps.

Vladimir Gorbovii, a citizen of Czechoslovakia, had to pass through
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both German and Soviet camps. He spent 25 years in the Soviet ones.
He was sent there for taking part in the Ukrainian National Libera-
tion Movement. He was released from the camps in 1975 and exiled.
He is still unsuccessfully trying to obtain an official permit to rejoin
his relatives in Czechoslovakia.

The Israeli Yehuda Kogan found his brother in theUSSR, with whom
he had fought in the partisan movement against the Nazis during
World War Il and whom he considered killed during the War. In
1963 he went to the USSR holding an official tourist visa in order to
see his brother. However, he was arrested immediately. He spent ten
years in the camps for political prisoners of “Dubroviag”, being
falsely accused of “deserting the Soviet Army”. He brought us
information about the foreigners who were inmates of those camps
in 1974. Below a list of their names is published. Y. Kogan could
only recall those he had been friendly with, but could not remember
the others.

Alex Gincas, American citizen, sentenced to 5 years.
Gerstel’ Pinkas, French citizen, 15 years.

Malofazi, German citizen, 25 years, (died in the camps).
Otikava Masafu, Japanese, 10 years.

Walter Newman, German, 5 years.

Wolker Schafchauser, German, 5 years.

Harald Brook, British, 5 years.

Debash, Turkish citizen, 10 years.

Shudashdemir, Turkish citizen, 25 years.

Diszkant, Polish citizen, 18 years.

. Marczak, Polish citizen, 15 years.

Peter Sontag, German, 7 years.

Bek, Czech citizen, 15 years.

Katrotzius, former commander of the communist Greek guerilla
fighters, 7 years.

Elevtorius, former commander of the communist guerillas in
Greece, 6 years.
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In addition to this, Y. Kogan gave us information about ten
Japanese, five Egyptions, three Italians, eight Iraquis, seven Lebanese,
three Jordanians and two Englishmen who had been arrested in the
Soviet Union and were serving terms in the camps there.

Most of these people are suffering in the Soviet camps even today.
Their hope to see the free world again is almost nil, since the KGB
does not spare any afforts to prevent foreigners from going abroad
after they have seen GULAG with their own eyes.
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It is interesting to mention that neither | nor my numerous
friends who passed through tens and hundreds of Soviet camps of
various types have ever met foreign spies in the USSR. And this is
not because spies are kept in special camps: we have seen both pilot
Powers and the Englishman Vain who was involved in the Colonel
Pen’kovsky’s affair. Both of them were kept in regular camps along-
side other political prisoners. However we have seen no other spies
or saboteurs in Soviet camps. There is an explanation for this: until
recently foreigners in the camps were not considered enemies of the
communist regime sent from abroad; they were mostly people who had
got into the clutches of the KGB by mere chance. Or they were
“criminals” like the deported Hungarian who took part in the Hun-
garian revolution of 1956 or Czechs who participated in the struggle
for liberation from Soviet occupation in 1968.

However recently, during the last two or three years, the
situation with foreigners in Soviet camps has started to change.
Some young people in Europe decided to help the nation living under
the communist dictatorship, in constant fear of the KGB.

So, young men and women from the Free World went to the USSR
bringing with them a weapon which is most horrible for the com-
munists — books forbidden in the USSR. These tourists had in their
luggage Bibles, books on anti-Marxist philosophy, studies on the
crimes committed by the Soviet regime. These brave young people
were deliberately defying the KGB and the Soviet authorities. While
distributing the books and at the moment of their arrests, they
claimed: “The Helsinki Final Act envisaged the free exchange of
ideas and literature. The USSR signed the Helsinki Agreement. We
are openly promoting the exchange of ideas”.

The list of such heroes who dared to join the struggle for human
rights in the USSR is lengthy: Van Brantegem, Elizabeth Lee,
Annelie Copiel, Jo Dris, Willy Keipers, Francis Bergeron, Jaques
Armou, Takki, Marinutzy, Eidsvig, Jengset — we cannot name them
all!

True, during the interrogations the KGB forced some of them to
orally renounce their views, after which they were immediately
expelled from the USSR without any trial. When they returned to
the Free World they told about the KGB methods of interrogation:
intimidation, deception, blackmail, provocation, hunger.

But some of the best representatives of the Free World remained
unbroken, and that sometimes resulted in expulsion from the USSR
after interrogations. Sometimes, however, they had to stand trial and
were consequently sentenced to three to five years of concentration
camps (and this only for bringing books to the USSR).

With deepest respect and appreciation we pronounce the name of
Anton Pype from Belgium, sentenced in 1977 to 5 years of corrective
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labour and released before the end of his term, in September 1977,
due to the world-wide protests on his behalf.

But some of these heroes are still suffering in Soviet camps. One
of the latest victims is Jean-Jaques Poli, the Frenchman who was
arrested on September 12th, 1977 in the USSR for distributing leaflets
among the population calling for a struggle for human rights in the
Soviet Union. What happened to him is still unknown.

In 1976 the executive director of our Research Centre was invited
to the US State Department. The State Department asked for the
assistance of our Centre in locating the American citizens who
“disappeared” in the USSR. The State Department has a list of such
people which includes both civilians and servicemen: some went to
the USSR on business matters and “disappeared”, others were
obviously kidnapped; pilots of the planes which crashed, also
disappeared without leaving any trace whenever they were picked up
and “saved” by the Soviets, and it is only due to mere chance that
it became known that they have been seen beyond the Polar Circle.

Some American servicemen captured in Vietnam have also been
seen in Soviet concentration camps.

Our Research Centre offered a number of proposals regarding the
search for American citizens in the USSR to the US State Depart-
ment, but as far as we know, no action has been taken as yet. Why
then, was the director of our Centre invited to the State Department?
It seems the only purpose was to show that the State Department
officials were “making efforts”.

During a visit to the USA, we happened to hear a speech given by
the President of the Committee of Relatives of Service Men Reported
Missing in Vietnam. The Committee was trying to press the US
Government to take some concrete measures so that their relatives
might return home, but to no avail: they are “the voice calling in the
wilderness”, among the legions of indifferent officials. Everybody is
too afraid to disrupt “detente”; thus the USSR gets everything and
gives nothing in return.

As for the foreign citizens who so strongly believed in their
countries’ democracy and were sure their governments would rush
to defend them — they are languishing in countless Soviet camps and
prisons even to this very day, forgotten, helpless, utterly in the
power of the KGB.

Just recently we received information concerning one more secret
camp for foreigners located in the Far Eastern part of the USSR. But
apparently nobody is interested in this information. The Free (for the
time being) World is cowed by the USSR.
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Documents and Newsfrom Ukraine

PRISONERS CONDITIONS IN THE CAMPS

ADMINISTRATIVE REPRESSION AND THE SELF-DEFENCE
ACTION OF PRISONERS DETERMINES THE CONDITIONS
FOR PRISONERS IN THE USSR

MORDOVIAN CAMPS

At the end of 1976 Colonel Romaniv replaced Colonel Drotenko as
chief of the KGB division in the Mordovian camps, with Major
Tryasoumov as his deputy.

Camp No. | — Strict Regime (Colonel Kropotkov)

In 1976 eleven people died in the camp. One of the reasons for the
high mortality rate is the dangerous industry within the camp: the
air is saturated with glass fragments. There are approximately one
hundred prisoners in the camp.

Svyatoslav Karavansky has been put in a cell with the *“short-
term” prisoner Shynkevych, a man well known for his aggresive
behaviour and who has terrorised many of his cell-mates.

Danylo Shumuk was hospitalised from the 23rd January to 22nd
April 1977. He is suffering from a stomach ulcer.

On the 12th January 1977, a one-day hunger strike was staged to
mark the anniversary of the new wave of repressions which began in
Ukraine in January 1972. The participants of the hunger strike
demanded the release of Ukrainian political prisoners and the end of
persecution against those with nationalist convictions. The following
Ukrainian took part in the hunger srike: Mykhaylo Osadchy, lvan
Hel, Valentyn Moroz, Svyatoslav Karavansky, rev. Vasyl Romanyuk,
Danylo Shumuk, Petro Saranchak (from camp no. 1), Vyacheslav
Chornovil, Vasyl Stus, Mykola Budulyak-Sharyhin, Vasyl Ovsiyenko,
Roman Semenyuk, Konstantyn Didenko, Artem Yuskevych, Ihor
Kravtsiv, Iryna Stasiv-Kalynets, Stefania Shabatura, Oksana Popo-
vych, Iryna Senyk. The following non-Ukrainians took part in the
hunger strike: Paruyr Ayrikyan, Razmyk Markosyan, (Armenians),
Vladimir Osipov, Herman Ushakov, Serhiy Soldatov, Yuriy Fedorov,
(Russians), Mykhayil Heyfyts, Edward Kuznyetsov, (Jews), Maygonis
Razvinish, (nationality unknown), Babur Shakirov, (Turkman), and
Niylone Saduhayte, (Lithuanian). On that day V. Osipov wrote a
statement in which he included a list of 40 Ukrainian political prison-
ers known to him, and called the forced removal of the national
language and culture from the prisoners a crime.

In February 1977 Kuznetsov, Murzhenko, Rebryk and M. Osadchy
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went on a hunger strike for five days to protest against the worsening
regime. In three other Mordovian camps one-day hunger strikes were
held in solidarity.

In April 1977 a search of Valentyn Moroz's cell was made during
which his notes about the Vladimir prison and the Serbsky
Psychiatric Institute were confiscated. He was deprived of a personal
visit, which was to have taken place in July and was thrown into
the isolation cell as a penalty for writing the notes. Moroz declared
a hunger strike.

Camp No. 3

Iryna Stasiv-Kalynets was held in SHIZO (a penal isolation cell) from
the 5th to 18th May.

On the 10th December 1976 Valentyn Moroz declared that he was
changing his status to that of a political prisoner, and so stopped
going into the yard, wearing a name-tag, and wearing prison
clothes as much as he possibly could. He would not give permission
to have his hair cut and would not undress during searches, (his hair
is cut and he is undressed forcibly). He also declared that he would
only do work for which he is qualified and said that he would
agree to other forms of work if prisoners were protected by work
rules (at present prisoners work for more than the prescribed 48
hours a week and often work on Sundays) and if the policy of taking
half the pay for the MVD were stopped. After this statement Moroz
was thrown into SHIZO four times: on the 31st December for seven
days (he was put into SHIZO when he was ill and without a medical
examination), on the 11th February, again for seven days, on the
26th February for 14 days and on the 23rd March for 14 days.

On the 26th December 1976 Chornovil sent a statement to the
Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR in which he recalled
his former statement about his renunciation of Soviet citizenship and
his request to emigrate from the Soviet Union. Chornovil wrote that
he continued to regard himself as a citizen of Ukraine but not of the
Soviet Union, and that he wishps to share the fate of his nation.

On the 31st December 1976 V. Osipov, the former editor of the
samvydav journal “Veche”, and Chornovil were thrown into SHIZO
for two weeks. Chornovil and Osipov both refused to wear the dirty
and ragged clothes that they were given and wore only their under-
wear. On the following day, the head of the camp, Pikulin, agreed
that the clothes were useless and ordered that they be given other
clothes to wear. During their stay in SHIZO Chornovil and Osipov
held partial hunger strikes in protest against the violation of the
rights of political prisoners. During the imprisonment of Chornovil
and Osipov, Paruyr Ayrikyan, an Armenian, held a temporary hunger
strike.
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Camp No. 19.

On the 3rd February 1977 political prisoners Ushakov, Budulyak-
Sharyhin, Yuskevych and Semenyuk held a hunger strike protesting
against the imprisonment of Chornovil and Osipov in SHIZO.

In February 1977 due to an ifluenza epidemic which was in the
camp, the work quota was not fulfilled and so the head of the camp
declared that the Sundays of the 16th and 23rd were work days with
the rights of payment. However, because no one was paid for the
work they did on the 16th, no prisoners came to work on the 23rd.
For this 7 people were deprived of their right to receive parcels and
to shop in the camp store. These prisoners were: Budulak-Sharyhin,
Kapoyan, Markosyan, Ovsiyenko, Ravsynsh and Semenyuk.

Artem Yuskevych is suffering from cancer of the kidneys. The
state of his health has greatly deteriorated from the hard physical
labour and from the poor food. On the 8th of February he was taken
to the hospital at the third camp point (s. Barashevo). Yuskevych is
trying to obtain a transfer to the Leningrad prison hospital, Haza.

THE PERM CAMPS
Camp No. 35

The number of administrative workers in camp no. 35 has not
become smaller since 1974, despite the fact that in 1974 there were
250 people in the camp, and today there are only 96 (April 1977).
The prisoners believe that the administration is more concerned to
preserve a reliable personnel than with economy.

Nearly all the prisoners are old, invalids, who are serving time for
“war crimes”, (police, inflictors of punishment), or who are serving
time for their participation in the fight for national liberation.
Searches take place two to three times a month; and some political
prisoners are searched more frequently.

On the 14th April 1977, Evhen Sverstyuk was brought here from
camp no. 36 for a personal visit with his wife Lidia. She was told that
Sverstyuk had been deprived of the right of visits, but that the
administration would allow her a short visit on the condition that
they would talk in Russian. Evhen Sverstyuk refused to do this and
as a sign of his protest started a hunger strike. 20 other political
prisoners joined him in a hunger strike in solidarity with him. On
the 30th April, the chief of the camp, Polyakov, sent Lidia Sverstyuk
a telegram, saying that a personal visit with her husband was
designated to take place at the end of the month.

Camp No. 36

There are approximately 30 prisoners in the camp. Towards the
end of September 1976, the political prisoner Hrynkiv was seriously
injured in manual labour. He was taken to the medical section of
the camp. On the basis of this, a statement written by the political
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prisoners of the camp was sent to the Prosecutor’'s Office and to the
Central Professional Trade Union of the USSR. In reply they were
told that Hrynkiv’'s wound was his own fault.

Yosyf Mendelevych is a practising Jew, and as such does not work
on Saturdays, but he fulfills his work quota during the rest of the
week. On Saturday, 11th December he came to the place of his work
and saw that his work reserve was missing. His friends helped him
to fulfill his work quota. On Monday, Fedorov, the deputy camp
chief, called all the work leaders and attacked them asking why
all their workers were not at their work places. A few days later
Medelevych saw his missing work reserve in the private office and
work shop of the chief of the camp. On the next Saturday, the 18th
December, Mendelevych was punished because he was not working,
and he was put into the PKT* for a month. Many political prisoners
protested. It is known that the Jews Dumshyts, Zalmanson, the
Ukrainians Chupriy and Hrynkiv staged a one day hunger strike.

Since October 1976 invalids have been forced to work. Dmytro
Basarab and Onufriy Kulak (they are “25-yearers” from UPA)
categorically refused. Fedorov, the camp chief, called Basarab to his
office every day for some time. At the beginning of February 1977
Basarab had a heart attack: he was taken to the hospital on a
stretcher. Earlier he had two strokes.

S. Hluzman, 1. Kalynets, V. Marchenko and I. Svitlychny were
transfered from camp no. 35 to camp no. 36.

THE YAKUTSKY CAMP

In February 1977 Hryhoriy Vyns spent two weeks in the regional
hospital of the MVD. His health has deteriorated. He has hypertonia.

On the 30th April 1977 the camp administration called him for
talks. He was accused of providing the initiative to Western publica-
tions for writing about him. As evidence of this he was shown an
English paper which had his photograph printed in it.

On the 22nd May 1977, Vyns had a long visit from his wife and
son. At the visit he said that new material was being collected for
a new case against him, and that copies that he made would be used
against him.

THE VLADIMIR PRISON

The administration of the VIadimir prison managed to obtain
the appeal of political prisoners in connection with the exchange of
V. Bukovsky with the Chilean communist Corvelan. The appeal was
signed by Abakyn, Antonyuk, Afanasyev, Balazhanov, Davydov,
Rode and Safronov.

For this Zinoviy Antonyuk was deprived of a personal visit with
his family. The other prisoners were transferred to two months of
strict regime camp on 22nd January 1977. At the beginning of April
1977 Zinoviy Antonyuk had a stroke.

*) Preliminary detention cell.
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“FREEDOM FOR THE UKRAINIAN NATION AND HER
FIGHTERS” — STATES VASYL FEDORENKO

A Samvydav document has reached the West concerning the
Ukrainian political prisoner Vasyl Fedorenko, imprisoned in the
Vladimir prison, Moscow, and contains the full text of his appear-
ance at his trial on the 21st March 1975.

Vasyl Petrovych Fedorenko was born in 1928 in the Mensky
province in Chernihiv. He received elementary education. The first
time he was arrested, he was sentenced under article 58-8 of the
Criminal Code of the RSFSR and was imprisoned in the Vladimir
prison. As a mark of protest against his illegal imprisonment, Fedo-
renko announced that he was going on a hunger strike and remained
in this state for 282 days. He was transferred to Mordovia, first of all
to camp no. 10, then to camps no. 11, 19 and 17. He was released in
1966. Altogether he served six years, five months and twenty five
days.

On the 2nd April 1974 and 12th May 1974 Fedorenko sent state-
ments to the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of USSR and the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs concerning the renunciation of his Soviet
citizenship, and made an application to emigrate. He received no
reply. Instead, he was summoned to the Kherson department of
visas and registration, and was warned not to write any more
statements. However, Fedorenko wrote another statement within two
months. When he did not receive a reply he decided to escape to
West Germany, where his sister Mrs. Valentyna Horbat lives. Valen-
tyna, born in 1925, has lived in Germany since 1942. She has the
statement made by Vasyl, which she does not fully comprehend, but
this does not mean that Vasyl's statement does not deserve attention.

V. Fedorenko crossed the border on 16th September 1974 in the
province of the town of Chop. He was caught in Cz. SSR and on that
same day handed over to the Soviet authorities. Fedorenko was
offered a compromise (unofficially): he was to spend a year and a
half in psychiatric hospital and then to receive his freedom. He
rejected this proposition and instead openly accused Moscow of
colonial politics, which precipitated his draconian sentence.

He was sentenced in March 1975 by the Uzhorod court at a closed
trial, although in documents, it is stated that the trial was ‘open’.
He was sentenced under articles 56, 62 of the Criminal Code of the
Ukr. SSR and under article 70 of the Criminal Code of the RSFSR
to fifteen years of loss of freedom (of which 5 years were to be
served in strict regime camps).

Fedorenko was brought to the Vladimir prison on the 25th April
1975 and on the following day he declared his hunger strike,
demanding that his illegal sentence be repealed. As a result of the
persistent demands of his fellow countrymen, he ended his hunger
strike on the 98th day. On the 10th December, 1975, a general day
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of hunger strikes held by political prisoners, he started a prolonged
hunger strike as a protest against the violation of the Declaration of
Human Rights by the Soviet government and against its anti-Ukrai-
nian politics with the demand:

a) that his illegal sentence be repealed,;

b) that he be given permission to emigrate from the USSR.

Below an excerpt from Fedorenko’s speech at his trial, held on
21st March 1975, is printed:

“Citizen Judges!... I am not a poet, not a writer nor an artist as was
Taras Shevchenko, but | love my native Ukraine, and although 1 am
unable to express my love on paper, | know that my love for Ukraine
is considerably greater than yours. 1 am more proud of my native
Ukraine than a Russian or a Czech because its beauty is unequalled
and its language is like a song. And my country is also richer because
it has never subjugated any peoples. But, instead, she was subjugated.
And now the Soviet government is crippling Ukrainian youth by
introducing systematic russification into the education system.

We, the Ukrainian nation, have the duty of fighting for our rights,
to attain the status of an independent nation and the recognition of
national rights. Only in this way can the Ukrainian nation attain
freedom and independence.

Citizen Judges! You yourselves are convinced that | have not
committed any crime, because all this is being done only for the
sake of formality — you pretend you are passing judgment
accurately — | cannot consider this investigation as being objective.

Let us examine the affair logically: 1 cannot remember an instance,
as you cannot, when a Soviet court made a decision independently of
the KGB. Now Soviet people are so frightened that they say they
are beyond politics ... However, people should not be afraid of the
supreme government, and the government should not encroach on
the rights of free thinking people. Let us take as an example the
International Pact on Social and Political Rights. The pact is distinct
from the Declaration, because it is a document which after ratifica-
tion does not have a facultative character, but is obligatory. The
General Secretary, Brezhnev, appearing in Sophia, emphasised that
the Soviet Union ratified the International Agreement on Human
Rights and with this demonstrated that the Soviet Union has a deep
respect for democratic rights and the freedom of individuals.

What will you say to this declaration made by Brezhnev? This is
political adventurism and highhandedness with regard to those people
who are fighting for their rights.

I think that people should obey the law of the government up to
the point that the lawmakers respect it. But when the lawmakers
violate their own laws, then such laws are illegal. If I cannot obtain
protection from the government, and lawful emigration without
hindrance, then | have the right to defend my trampled rights —
human rights.
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I have already referred to the higher organs of the government
with statements, and apart from those, | have twice referred to the
Supreme Soviet, but have received no relevant replies. My statement
renouncing my Soviet citizenship has simply been ignored by the
Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR. What kind of “na-
tional” government is this? | do not consider myself a citizen of the
Soviet Union and | consider this trial to be a violation of the Soviet
constitution, of international agreements and of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights. | acted in accordance with articles 13,
14, 15 and 16 of the Declaration of Human Rights, and what is more,
I was on the territory of another nation.

My convictions and actions are not crimes, and | regard the accusa-
tions made against me illegal. Conditions and my experience have
convinced me that the politics of the USSR are incorrect and un-
democratic. | have been sentenced several times, and when | was
reproached, | started to examine the present politics of the USSR.
I began to understand the great differences that exist between the
upper classes and the workers. | realised that the upper -class
occasionally give benefits, — such as more pay, shorter work days,
better flats to the workers, but this is only to hide the oppression.
The working class in the USSR live only on their wages and are hardly
able to make ends meet.. .

Freedom and democracy can only exist in a system where the
government is not afraid of its nation and tells its people the truth
both about its failures and successes. This refers to both internal and
external politics ...

I pledge that I will remain faithful to my beliefs and will serve
them until | draw my last breath. For me and for honest people,
convictions are more important than life itself.

Freedom for the Ukrainian nation and for its fighters”.

LETTER OF THE TEACHER V. OVSIYENKO TO THE
MINISTER OF EDUCATION OF THE UKR. SSR.

More and more information is coming from Ukraine showing that
after prisoners are released from camps or prisons, the organs of the
KGB continue to persecute Ukrainian political prisoners. These
persecutions are not only led against those who are sent into exile after
serving their prison terms, but also against those have no exile terms
to serve and return to their homeland.

One of the latest victims of such persecution is the teacher of the
Ukrainian language and literature — Vasyl Ovsiyenko from the
Zhytomyr province. Since his release from a four-year prison sent-
ence, he has been unable to obtain work as a teacher, and apart from
that he is under administrative supervision so is unable to look for
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work in another area. The reason for this is: “Ovsiyenko’s resistance
to re-education”. In connection with this Ovsiyenko wrote to the
Minister of Education of the Ukr. SSR, the Procurator of the Ukr. SSR,
and to the director of national education of the Radomyshylsky region
in the Zhytomyr province. All his letters are circulating in Samvydav.
The text of Ovsiyenko's letter to the Minister of Education of the
Ukr. SSR is printed below:

To the Minister of Education of the Ukr. SSR,
from Ovsiyenko Vasyl,

philologist, lecturer of the

Ukrainian language and literature.

Declaration

“On the 5th March 1977 | was released from imprisonment and now
I again wish to work according to my profession — in a school, or
another educational establishment where the Ukrainian language
and literature is taught. The court did not prohibit me from working
according to my profession in its sentence; and this is also not
mentioned anywhere in the laws of the Ukr. SSR.

I graduated from Kyiv University in 1972. In accordance with my
profession | worked as a teacher of the Ukrainian language and
literature in the Tashansky middle school (in the village of Tashan,
Pereyaslav — in the Khmelnytsky region, Kyiv province), where |
was arrested on the 5th March 1973. The Kyiv regional court sent-
enced me to 4 years of imprisonment, accusing me of anti-Soviet
agitation and propaganda (article 62, § | of the Criminal Code of the
Ukr. SSR). Such an accusation has no foundation; I do not consider
myself guilty.

Shortly before my release, workers of another organisation, nhamely
the KGB, without any authorisation and without any foundation,
interfered with the affairs of your ministry, and told me that | would
not be able to get any specialised work until “1 changed my views”
(this ensued in conversations with KGB worker Boroda in the
Mordovian camp ZhK 385-19, with Stetsenko, a worker of the KGB
of the Ukr. SSR, and with Pravalyuk, a worker of the KGB admin-
istration in the Zhytomyr province).

This is how it is. After my release | was obliged to go to my
widowed 67-year old mother, who needs me and my help (in the
village of Lenino, in the Radomyshlsky region, Zhytomyr province).
But the Radomyshlisky regional educational division will not give me
any work, saying that they do not have any vacant posts. My
administrative supervision (which is also illegal) — prevents me
from leaving my province — and the refusal of the Radomyshlsky
regional educational board to give me any work, is in fact a denial
to give me any professional work, that is, it is discriminating against
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me because of my views. This is how | am forced to be unemployed.
The organs of the KGB and the MVD can also accuse me of article
214 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR (concerning vagrancy).
Since it is deliberately unclearly phrased: “aversion from useful
community work, anti-social behaviour”, it can be used where
convenient — for example such forced unemployment as mine, help
received from family and friends, refusal to participate in communist
subotniks®* or in elections, and also criticisms about various aspects
of social life. | believe that this article of the Code contradicts the
Constitution of the Ukr. SSR, where nowhere is it stated that one has
to work, and it also contradicts the UN Convention of 1956 about the
rejection of utilisation of forced labour, which the USSR signed.

Please examine this affair with the aim of guaranteeing me work
in accordance with my qualifications in the territory of my province,
or, in the final instance ensure that my administrative supervision is
ended so as to enable me to seek work elsewhere. For this, it is
necessary that the KGB stops interfering with the affairs of your
Ministry.

In the event that my case cannot be positively resolved, | ask you
to officially register me as unemployed and to allocate me and my
mother (she only receives a pension of 20 roubles per month)
appropriate aid, because we have no means of survival, and | have
no desire to leave my profession, which is one that I love and which 1
attained through hard work”.

3rd April 1977
Vasyl Ovsiyenko

KVETSKO PROTESTS AGAINST HARSH SENTENCE

Dmytro Kvetsko, a Ukrainian political prisoner presently
incarcerated in the Permsk concentration camp, proclaimed in his
letter to the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR a one-day
hunger strike in protest against his harsh sentence.

Dmytro Kvetsko, a history teacher in the Ivano-Frankivsk province
and a former prisoner of Stalin’s camps, was arrested on March 21st,
1967. He was charged with membership of the Ukrainian National
Front and “betrayal of the fatherland” and sentenced to 15 years
incarceration and 5 years exile. Initially he served his sentence in
Vladimir prison but was subsequently transferred to the Permsk camp.

The following is the text of Kvetsko's protest which has been
circulating in samvydav:

“To the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR: Statement
by Dmytro Kvetsko, a political prisoner unlawfully repressed.

* Labour freely given to the state on “off days” or overtime.
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The human rights issue is presently actively discussed in the press.
The West accuses the East of human rights violations, the East in
turn accuses the West. It is difficult to decide who is right and who
is wrong. In my opinion there is nothing to violate in the USSR, as
there is a completely different approach to the concept of “human
rights” in the Soviet Union. Here we should not talk of human rights
violations, but the suppression of any kind of desire to attain human
rights. This function of oppression is the main task of the court
organs, who in their zealousness not only violate human rights but
also the norms of socialistic lawfulness and the judicial system.

My trial presents conclusive proof of these violations. On 21st
March, 1967, | was arrested and put into the Ivano-Frankivsk prison.
The inquest attributed the writing of critical articles of a nationalistic
content to me. The articles were published by Zinoviy Krasivsky in
the samvydav journal “Liberty and Fatherland”. | distributed and
circulated this journal to my friends: Mykhailo Dyakiv, Yaroslav
Lesiv, Vasyl Kulin. For this I was sentenced under article 56. sect.
I and article 64 of the Criminal Code to 15 years of imprisonment and
5 years of exile as well as having my private property confiscated.
The court grossly violated the Criminal Code by incorrectly
categorising the crime: it could not apply the crime to any of the 7
sections of article 56 which constitute the judicial concept of
“betrayal of the fatherland”. This violation of the Criminal Code lies
in the fact that according to Soviet law, punishment does not conform
to the crime | have committed, which forces me to protest
against the highhandedness and lawlessness of the court. 1 have
written about this on numerous occasions to various Soviet author-
ities, but to no avail. No one wishes to raise his voice in defence of
the trampled socialistic law or defend justice — my elementary
human right. To accept all this, would mean to give precedent to all
the new acts of highhandedness and unlawfulness. Ten years ago
this was possible since the human rights issue did not draw the
attention it does today. The trial was held in camera — so no one
could learn about the unheard of violations of human rights and
Soviet law taking place at this trial. Even today the sentence is
given in secret — not because of any hidden secret information, but
because it is primitively and clumsily prepared and from a judicial
point it has absolutely no substance. The only means by which | can
revoke this sentence is by continually pointing to its brutality and
unlawfulness.

As a sign of protest against my harsh sentence, | am proclaiming
a one day long hunger strike on the tenth anniversary of my arrest”.

March 21st, 1977,
Ural, zone 35
D. Kvetsko
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THE SUFFERING AND STRENGTH OF STEPAN SAPELYK

The latest “Samvydav” document that has reached the free world
gives methodical testimony of the brutality with which the KGB is
trying to break the morale and spirit of Ukrainian political prisoners
persecuted for their convictions. The document reveals detailed
information concerning Stepan Sapelyak, a Ukrainian political
prisoner, and includes sections of his protest letter written to the
Supreme Soviet of the Ukr. SSR.

Stepan Sapelyak was born in 1950 in the village of Rosohach,
Chortkivsky region, Ternopil province. He received his education and
lived there until his arrest.

Stepan Sapelyak was arrested in 1973 for “anti-Soviet agitation
and propaganda”, and was sentenced to five years of hard labour and
three years exile. During his incarceration in Ural prison camp
no. 36 (ust. VS 389/36, Kuchyno settlement, Chusovsky district, Perm
province), Sapelyak was often brutally punished and put into solitary
confinement.

In July 1976 Sapelyak was transferred to Vladimir prison.

*

In the village where Sapelyak was born and raised, many Ukrainian
national traditions, culture and ideals have been preserved. Since
his early childhood, Sapelyak was exposed to Ukrainian national and
patriotic songs.

The village of Rosohach has a long history. During the anti-Polish
insurrections, a burial mound was built there. From that time on, all
who died in defence of Ukraine’s independence were buried there.
The occupants of Ukraine (Austrians, Poles, Germans) repeatedly
attempted to destroy the burial mound, but it was always restored
by the inhabitants. Finally the Soviets had the burial mound
completely destroyed, levelling it to the ground.

In retribution someone destroyed the Soviet monument of the
“Unknown Soldier” — erected near the village. The “Unknown
Soldier” trampled land underfoot with his boots — land that was
foreign to him, and turned his machine gun against the people of that
land. A note was attached to the ruined monument which read: “In
reprisal for the destruction of our burial mound”. These events took
place approximately two years after World War II.

Sapelyak and a few of his village friends were accused of tearing
down the Soviet flag and raising the Ukrainian blue and yellow flag
in its place on the 55th anniversary of Ukrainian Independence
declared by the proclamation of the Ukrainian National Republic
(UNR) in 1918, and they were accused of erecting a sign saying:
“Independence Day”.

The population of the village greeted the swopping of flags with
approval and joy and added such slogans to the posters as: “Russians
get out” and so on.
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A watchman of the village of Rosohach, who guarded a building near
the flagpole, was questioned as to how this incident came about. He
remarked: “In the evening, | saw your (Soviet) flag flying, mister,
and the next morning when I looked, our (Ukrainian) flag was in its
place”. Some students of the summer school in the vicinity of the
village were frightened because of the “new activities of the Bande-
rivtsi” and asked to be transferred to another school.

During Sapelyak’s trial he was accused of collecting songs which
called for the liberation of Ukraine. At first Sapelyak was sentenced
to 7 years of prison and five years of exile, but later on his trial was
reviewed and his sentence was commuted to five years of imprison-
ment and to three years exile.

*

In 1974 Sapelyak was in the Ural prison camp no. 36 where the
camp administration often blamed and punished him for trivial things.
On the 21st June captain Malentiy wanted to punish Sapelyak for
“violation of the dress code”. It was a hot day and a few of the
political prisoners, amongst them Sapelyak, who were excused from
work at that time, removed their shirts. Captain Malentiy, who was
passing by, made a comment to Sapelyak about his shirt, which
Sapelyak immediately put on. However the captain ordered Sapelyak
to report for watch duty, where he was severely beaten, as was later
reported in the “Chronicle of Current Events”. Sapelyak was
punished with 15 days in solitary confinement. (Shizo).

As a result of this, the camp administration set up a rumour that
Sapelyak was not beaten and the story was his own fabrication. This
version was upheld by some prisoners who were monarchists.

*

In the spring of 1975 Sapelyak was brought to Ukraine where he
was pressurised to “recant”. He was promised freedom, threatened
and physically tortured, but he did not “recant”.

Subsequently Sapelyak was brought to Kyiv, Ternopil (where he
was held in KGB prisons). KGB agents took him to a beach where
girls were brought to him. Then he was driven close to his village,
where the car stopped and he was told:

— Go home. We feel that you have repented and tomorrow you
will sign a statement to this effect.

— No I will not go.

They then threatened to beat him up.

At that time a Ukrainian girl from Canada (an arrested tourist?)
was in Ternopil. Sapelyak was ordered to confess in front of the girl
that he was not a political prisoner, but a hooligan; that he was never
held in the Ural camp, but that he served his sentence somewhere in
a camp near Lviv; that all the things that were written about him
in the “Chronicle of Current Events” were lies; that he had never
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been beaten and that all his previous statements were fabricated.
The KGB agents promised that, if he fulfilled their conditions,
there would be no trace of any of this, but that if he did not fulfill
their conditions, they threatened that — “We will destroy you ..
Sapelyak is now suffering from extremely high blood pressure and
has started to get severe pains in his head.

*

From Stepan Sapelyak’s Statement to the Presidium of the Supreme
Soviet of the Ukr. SSR:

“On the 21. 6. 74 |1 was called to the guard room VTT 36 (corrective
labour camp) to see captain Melentiy — a worker in the camp
administration of internal affairs (UVS) =— in the presence of the
flag raiser — Ramenko (illegible).

On the 24. 6. 74 | was punished with 15 days of solitary confine-
ment, because | had described that incident to my friends. | was
physically punished on the basis of the report in which my “crimes”
are enumerated.

On the 6. 3. 75. | was ordered to take off my zek (prisoners’ clothes)
and ordered to put civilian ones on. In the corridor of the KGB prison
I heard the command: “Take him and drive him away” .

On the 23. 3. 75 | was taken to the KGB administrative investiga-
tion cell in Ternopil. The conditions of the cell were very poor (it was
in the cellars, it had a plank-bed and there were not any facilities to
satisfy physiological needs).

On the 2. 4. 75, during the (illegible) I was brought to the office of a
lieutenant general Ponomarenko who asked in a loud voice; “How
much longer do you intend to engage with such nonsense? Now we
will try you. Do you understand? We will brainwash you”. | sat in
silence and then declared a boycott, and was put into solitary
confinement.

On the 16. 4. 75, | was taken to the office of the head of the invest-
igative section of the Ukr. KGB — lieutenant colonel Binyuk
(illegible). In the presence of Ponomarenko and others I was warned
that if 1 wanted to be freed then: “Renounce your views with regard
to national politics. Declare that you are an ordinary hooligan, and that
you served your sentence with other such hooligans as yourself. And
if you do not do this — we will teach you, you fool. We will destroy
you. Do you understand? Do you see what the situation is?”

On the 19. 4. 75., while trying to presuade me to recant, Ponoma-
renko screamed: “We are not going to dirty our hands here, we'll
find a place for this one”.

... May, the doctor measured my blood pressure as being 170 over
110, and said the severe pains in my head were caused by “brain-
washing”, and nervous tension.

On the 12. 5. 75, lieutenant general Binyuk (the chief of the Ukr. KGB
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in Ternopil) in the presence of the general of the KGB from Kyiv
said: “Oh, and we have dealt with tradesmen before”. | questioned
this — “It is the same with the Jews as with traitors of the father-
land. What, don’t you understand? We'll get some rubber truncheons,
and you’ll soon understand. We’ll make your brain work properly”.
The general said: “Whilst he is still young ...”

I sent a letter of protest against this behaviour to the Presidium
of the Supreme Soviet, and then Binyuk called me to his office and
cursed me, saying: “I am a representative of the Supreme Soviet, and
we know what to do — we, the Presidium, have the last word ...
do you understand? And now — go to your cell and think about it”.
... 5 75 1 was driven to cities and villages where | was shown
“culture” but when | said that | wanted to see Ukrainian culture in
Kharkiv, Donetsk and Dnipropetrovsk, Ponomarenko replied: “that's
none of your business. So this is your intention. You better forget
about it”.

I appeal, that the brainwashing of political prisoners by the KGB,
prisoners sentenced because of their convictions, be ended”.

In the summer of 1975 Stepan Sapelyak was again transferred to
Ural camp no. 36. After his return, not one month passed without
his being punished for some trifle. He was put into SHIZO (isolation);
in May 1976 he was put into PKT (detention cell). Major Chernyak
of the KGB — delegated by the KGB to camp no. 36 declared:
“Repent”. Sapelyak turned his back to him. Chernyak shouted at
him: “1 will treat you in such a way, that when you leave here, you'll
have to put stones in your pockets so that the wind won't carry you
away” .

Sapelyak often has very high blood pressure. In June 1976 he had
a pressure of 180 over 120.

The camp doctors have refused to treat him ... (It is a well known
fact, and even the doctors do not hide this, that first and foremost
they are Chekists, and only after that — doctors).

*

In July 1976 Sapelyak was transferred to the VIladimir prison
(Obviously, as wusual for “systematic violation of the regime”,
and because “he has not taken the road of correction”, regardless of
his countless punishments and sufferings).

Sapelyak, who has a very small build, is extremely thin. He is a
highly cultural person and religious.

KGB BLACKMAIL PARENTS OF SAPELYAK

Repressions against members of the opposition movement behind
the Iron Curtain do not end with the arrest of these individuals. The
harassment often continues inside the prisons or concentration camps,
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while the KGB inveighs repressive tactics against the dissidents’
families.

Recently a letter written by Stepan Sapelyak addressed to Yuri
Andropov, the KGB chief, reached the West. In the letter Sapelyak
protested against secret police harassment of his mother, Hanna.

It was reported that the probable harassment of Sapelyak’s mother
was suggested in the July 1977, no. 31 edition of “News From
Ukraine” which carried a letter from Mrs. Sapelyak to Ursula Dor-
man of West Germany. It seems that Mrs. Dorman wanted to help
the young Sapelyak, but his mother refused all aid saying that he is
being “justly punished for a grave crime”.

It was reported that Mrs. Sapelyak’s letter resembled a letter
allegedly written by the mother of the late Ukrainian poet, Vasyl
Symonenko, protesting against Western interest in her son’s case.

Sapelyak in his letter, denied all KGB attempts to implicate his
parents in his case. He said that is absurd to think that his parents
are interested in politics.

“My mother is 48 years old, and completed two grades of schooling.
She works on a collective farm growing sugar beets. Her monthly
salary is 42 rubles. My father is a common labourer, and his monthly
salary is 50 rubles. He is illiterate. The most elementary provisions
have been denied my parents”, wrote Sapelyak on 8th June 1977.
“My parents’ sole goal in life is a slice of bread”.

He said that his parents were absolved of any complicity in his
case by the initial investigation, but nonetheless “immediately follow-
ing my arrest, repressions began against them and have continued
to this day”.

Sapelyak said that the KGB began harassing his mother after
Ternopil KGB agents discovered that he is greatly concerned about
his mother’s well-being.

In March 1973, a Col. Smirnov interrogated Mrs. Sapelyak, her son
wrote, and he suggested to her that she renounce her son. They
threatened to exile her to Siberia if she did not comply.

Sapelyak wrote that letters he sent to his mother have been
intercepted and correspondence from his mother was delayed by
camp officials. In one letter from his mother, which was dated 28th
June 1976 and given to him on 4th August 1976, she advised her son
not to use the word “Ukraine” on the envelope.

“My dear son, do not write the word Ukraine on the envelope.
Glory to Jesus Christ (Slava Isusu Khrystu), because letters will not
be forwarded to us”, wrote his mother. Sapelyak said that he had
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previously heard this warning not to use the word “Ukraine” on
envelopes.

In May 1977, his mother was again interrogated by the KGB. This
time they threatened her with imprisonment if she did not cease
corresponding with people in the West who sympathise with her
family.

“Frightened and terrorised, my mother now lives in utter fear,
not only for me, but for herself’, writes Sapelyak. “The Ternopil
KGB continues to scare the illiterate old woman only because her
son was arrested for his political convictions”.

Sapelyak said that harassment is receiving approval from the
Moscow KGB and he requested that Andropov instruct his agents in
Ternopil to cease this activity.

A day before writing to Andropov, Sapelyak addressed a letter to
the prosecutor-general of the Soviet Union, accusing the camp
officials of not sending his protest to Leonid Brezhnev.

Sapelyak also protested against harassment by Major Fedorov. The
young prisoner of conscience wrote that Fedorov, in a loud and vulgar
tone, ordered Sapelyak to do work which he is not able to because
of his illness. Sapelyak refused to heed the order and Fedorov warned
him that he can be denied all his rights.

FAMILY AND FRIENDS IN DEFENCE OF LUKYANENKO

Levko Lukyanenko, a member of the Ukrainian Public Group to
Promote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords, was released
from imprisonment early in 1976. He received the death sentence for
his role in “The Ukrainian Workers’ and Peasants’ Union”. However
the death sentence was commuted by the Supreme Court of the Ukr.
SSR on 26th July 1961 to 15 years of loss of freedom. Lukyanenko
served his sentence in Mordovia; in 1973 he was transferred to Perm
camp VS/389/36 (Kuchua, Chusovsky region) and from the 3rd July
1974 until his release, he served his sentence in the Vladimir prison.

To the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR:
To the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the Ukrainian SSR.

From the family and friends of Levko Hryhorovych Lukyanenko,
resident of Chernihiv, Rokosovsky Street, 41b, flat 41.

Declaration

L. H. Lukyanenko was born on the 24th August 1928 in the village
of Khrynivka, in the Horodyansky region in Chernihiv, but because
his birth certificate was lost during the war and his mother unable
to confirm the date of his birth with any other documents, Lukya-
nenko was drafted into the Red Army in 1944 along with those who
were born in 1927 — that is, when he was not even 16 years old. He
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served in the Army until 1953, sacrificing the best years of his life
to it. He was an intelligent person, which was manifest even in his
childhood, and had a great thirst for knowledge. During his service,
he finished ten years of secondary education, was an activist and in 1953
was accepted into the C.P.S.U.(B) (Communist Party of the Soviet
Union (Bolsheviks)).

From 1953 until 1958 Levko Lukyanenko studied at the faculty of
law at the Lomos University of Moscow.

Our family has always given precedence to straightforward honesty
rather than guile — it was not advantage, of whatever moral value,
but honesty and integrity — these were the moral principles that
we, the leaders of the family, tried to instil into our children from
an early age.

From 1944 to 1958 our Levko was educated in the Army, his
school and university, in the spirit of the ideology of the Marxist-
Leninist party — an ideology which widely interprets and propagates
the teaching regarding the right of a nation to self-determination.
That is why he, being an honest and upright person, interpreted the
right of a nation to self-determination, which was part of the
ideology he was taught, which is stated in Article 14 of the Constitu-
tion of the Ukr. SSR, in a straightforward manner.

In 1961 he was sentenced to death because he clearly expressed
his thoughts on paper about the secession of the Ukr. SSR from the
USSR, which thoughts were based on Article 14 of the Constitution
of the Ukr. SSR. His death sentence was commuted to 15 years of
imprisonment, during which he was continually forced to say that
“white was black”. Because Levko Hryhorovych’s moral convictions
are strong, he could not acknowledge that the “right” was
“forbidden”. So in December 1974, the administration of the Vladimir
prison, where he was serving his sentence, referred him to the
Rybynsky Psychiatric hospital, where it was discovered that he was
a so-called hypochondriac, and the doctors of the Vladimir prison
declared him to be a invalid of the second category.

This is completely outrageous and insulting. There has never been
anyone who was mentally ill in our family, and Levko Hryhorovych
is a completely normal person. The KGB does not have any doubts
about this either, since after his release on 21st January 1976, he
was not given any certificates concerning his mental disablement but
was put under administrative supervision

When, after his release, L. H. Lukyanenko wanted to make use of
his so-called invalidity to obtain the certificate no. L II, it was
officially attested that: “The category of invalidity which was pro-
posed by our institution, is not considered valid at the present time”.

A year has passed since Lukyanenko obtained his freedom. He
works as an electrician in a regional children’s hospital, he socialises
with us and with other people completely normally and there is no
difference between his behaviour and the behaviour of other people.
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As far as his views are concerned this is another matter. There is
little we agree on with Levko Hryhorovych, but his views are the
views of a completely sane person.

The life of Levko Hryhorovych throughout the year since his
release is reminiscent of the life of a hounded hare: he cannot visit
us without the permission of the police, and when he does come, he
continually watches the clock so as not to be late for his registration;
he is not allowed to leave his home at night, and cannot go to the
theatre when he wishes; his working rights have been limited as
have many other of his rights. His flat is searched without reason
and he is deprived of the right of free movement, and so on.

On the 1st March... (illegible) Teleznyak from the psych-
therapeutic hospital, who has to see Lukyanenko from time to time,
came to see Lukyanenko as if he were an insane person.

What does this mean? Who ordered a psychiatrist to visit Levko
Hryhorovych and why? In the certificate dated 28. 5. 1976 it is stated
that “the category of invalidity no longer applies”. Could it be that

after the report, .......... (illegible) it became “inapplicable”? Because
precisely at this time it became necessary to terrorise him
morally and in this way force........ (illegible), the activities of the

Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the Implementation of the
Helsinki Accords, of which Levko Hryhorovych is a member.

L. H. Lukyanenko has never and never intends to commit any
breach of the law; since the days of his youth, he has always been
concerned with the well-being of others. And because he demanded
the realisation of the rights proclaimed by Soviet law and by
international agreements which the Soviet government has signed
he cannot be found guilty of hostility towards the Soviet regime, on
the contrary, it is necessary ... (illegible) for him.

If L. H. Lukyanenko has broken the law, prove it to him ...
(illegible) to accept an open, fair sentence, and not concern...
(illegible) psychiatrically against an absolutely normal person.. .
(illegible) Levko Hryhorovych — because he wants the realisation
of official. . . (illegible) self-will.

We resolutely and categorically protest and demand that this case
is reviewed immediately and we demand an end to this cruel
treatment.

18th March 1976.

(Signatories: after the signature of Hryhoriy Lukyanenko, Levko's father, and the
signatures of other members of his family, follow the signatures of 12 friends, amongst
whom are workers, an electrician, a hospital worker, a specialist in agriculture and
others).

MALVA LANDA IN DEFENCE OF STEFANYA SHABATURA

Malva Landa, a Russian intellectual, well-known for her
compassion and courage, again appealed to world opinion, this time
in defence of Stefanya Shabatura, a Ukrainian artist.
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She describes in detail the brutal punishment of Shabatura by the
KGB, the destruction of her art work and appeals to the intellectuals
of the world to search for a way to help the imprisoned artist.
M. Landa’s appeal is circulated in the Soviet Union in Samvydav and
one copy has reached the free world. The text of the appeal is as
follows:

To Artists,

People of good will,

Amnesty International,

U.N. Commission of Human Rights:

Creative works of political prisoners — prisoners of conscience —
are confiscated and burned.

Stefanya Shabatura, an artist, was officially notified that all her
works — bookplates and drawings — will be burned.

Stefanya Shabatura, born in 1937, is a well-known Ukrainian artist;
her tapestry was often displayed at regional, republican, All-Union
and international exhibitions.

In 1972 Stefanya Shabatura, amongst many other representatives
of the Ukrainian intelligentsia, was arrested, charged with “anti-
Soviet agitation and propaganda” and sentenced by the regional
court in Lviv to 5 years imprisonment at a strict regime correctional-
labour colony and to 3 years exile.

Shabatura has been incarcerated in the Mordovian strict regime
concentration camps for female political prisoners since 1973. She
has been systematically punished and tortured in the camp prison
for her refusal to do degrading compulsory work. (The camp prison
is situated inside the women’s concentration camp).

At the end of 1975 Shabatura was taken to Lviv (here she lived
until her arrest) for so-called “re-education”, which proved to be
unsuccessful. As in previous years of imprisonment, S. Shabatura
went on hunger strike on Human Rights Day, December 10th, 1975,
protesting against the immense violations of human rights in the
USSR. Shabatura did not call off or cease her hunger strike even
after forceful persuasions made by the Lviv's KGB representative
Shumeyko, and a promise to be allowed to see her mother (Stefa
is an only child of this unusual woman) .. . Shabatura was warned
by Shumeyko that she will regret her noncompliance.

Immediately after Shabatura’s return from Lviv to the concentra-
tion camp, an indictment was read to her by the camp authorities
that all her art works, confiscated before her departure, would be
burned as “abstract” and “insulting to the camp”. Over 70 bookplates
and 150 sketches — all her art works that she was able to create
in spite of impossible conditions in the concentration camp — were
destroyed. The only reason for the destruction of the bookplates was



DOCUMENTS AND NEWS FROM UKRAINE 83

because they were dedicated to present or former political prisoners.
However, many of them were dedicated to non-prisoners and child-
ren. The burned bookplates were dedicated to the following present
or recently released political prisoners: Vasyl Romanyuk, Evhen
Sverstyuk, Vasyl Stus, Edward Kuznetsov, Ihor Kalynets, Vyacheslav
Chornovil, Sylvia Zalmanson, Daria Husyak, Maria Palchak, Nadia
Svitlychna, Irena Kalynets, Oksana Popovych, Nina Strokata.. .
Bookplates were also dedicated to the following writers: Zahrebelny,
Honchar: to artists — Natalya Pauk, Natalya Petruk, art critic Loh-
vyn and many others. Shabatura dedicated a large number of book-
plates to children: Yarema Svitlychny, Dzvinka Kalynets, the child-
ren of Luchuk, Tanya Kotsyubynska, Taras Chornovil, the son of
Valentyn Moroz, even a bookplate dedicated to Luis Corvalan was
destroyed. Many of the bookplates were already finished in ink, on
small pieces of paper, all were unique. Some of the completed
sketches were done in colour. Most of the sketches were designed for
future use for tapestry, with motifs of ancient Ukrainian history, of
Taras Shevchenko, Lesya Ukrainka... Many formal searchings,
compositions, even the form of a gobelin.

Until 1974 Shabatura was not allowed to sketch, to occupy herself
with things dear and more important to her than anything else. In
1974 Shabatura received a sketch book, paint, brushes, pencils and
paper. All this was brought to her by Lviv's KGB representative
Shumeyko. (That is why the camp administration did not confiscate
these articles which are forbidden in prisons).

Shabatura painted only at odd moments when she was not being
punished or incarcerated in solitary confinement (where not even a
pencil is allowed). However during these difficult and stagnant hours,
days and months of incarceration, new ideas and plans were born,
known only to her ...

During the previous searches, Shabatura’s sketches and bookplates
were not confiscated. However, in 1976 vandals destroyed all Shaba-
tura’s works that were created during her imprisonment. Perhaps
the camp administration did not carry out this sacriligious act and
only frightened her, in order to cause more pain, to break her spirit?

As a protest against the cruel treatment and destruction of her art
works, Stefanya Shabatura held a 12 day hunger strike in March
1976. In April Shabatura was put in solitary confinement for 6
months. Since May there have been no letters from her. This causes
even more concern as regards her fate. It is hard in prison. The
Soviet prison is especially frightful. It is awful when the last thread
and bond with freedom — letters — is severed.

Stefanya Shabatura did not commit any criminal offence or state
crime. To torture her, to persecute and treat her cruelly, to cripple
her physically, to strive to destroy her spiritually, to destroy her art
works, is the crime. These crimes are practised in a country of
“victorious socialism” under the pretence of socialist legality.
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I am convinced that it will not do any harm to artists — “leftists”,
“rightists” and others, intellectuals all, who cherish the human being
and the exhalted aspirations of man, to take a stand in the defence
of S. Shabatura and her creative work.

I am confident that international organisations, which dedicate
themselves to the fight for humanity, for human rights — will
persistently demand an opportunity to visit Stefanya Shabatura in
the concentration camp where she is being cruelly tormented with
hunger and cold, and will try to obtain a testimony from Shabatura
concerning the actual crimes committed against her.

IN DEFENCE OF NADIA SVITIYCHNA

The text of the memorandum no. 2, dated March 1977, of the
Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the Implementation of the
Helsinki Accords, addressed to the participant governments of the
Helsinki Conference has reached the free world.

To: The participant governments of the Helsinki Conference:
Memorandum no. 2

From: The Ukrainian Public Group to Promote the Implementation
of the Helsinki Accords in Ukraine.

The fate of Nadia Svitlychna:

On the 18th May 1976 the reknowned Ukrainian activist Nadia
Svitlychna was released from a four year concentration camp
sentence. She was sentenced for daring to openly criticise her own
government, which she helped to elect, and for considering it her
sacred right to hold different opinions, and for not believing that to
hold this right constitutes a prison sentence in our country for anti-
Soviet activity (article 62 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR).

Nadia Svitlychna served a sentence for a crime she did not commit.
She served her sentence in full, and according to the laws of the land,
she is a full member of the community (ie has all her rights). Soviet
law even demands that those who have served sentences be adopted
back into normal life as quickly as possible. What new crime has
Nadia Svitlychna committed that these laws do not apply to her? How
is she dangerous to the Soviet government that after four years in
strict regime concentration camps, she is undergoing psychological
torture — which is even worse than camps? And, we are about to
prove that this is real torture.

l. N. Svitlychna, after her release, was ordered to live in the same
place where she lived before serving her sentence and where she
was registered — in the flat of her brother Ivan Oleksiyovych Svit-
lychny, who is currently serving a sentence under the same article
of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR (as his sister) and of his wife —
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Leonida Svitlychna. On the 15th June 1976 she was issued a passport,
that is — she became a citizen of the Soviet Union, with full rights.
She was refused a resident’s permit though, to live in Kyiv, on the
basis that she did not have living quarters there (the flat where she
lived until the time of her arrest, measures 28.4sq. metres). This
refusal is in violation of the declaration made by the Council of
Ministers of the USSR on the 28th August 1974, a declaration con-
cerning the “residency system”, which has not yet been repealed.
Here is an excerpt from the above-mentioned document: “About
some citizens’ rights over residents’ permits” :

Il. To establish that living rights are guaranteed in towns and
villages of the residential type, regardless of the size of the quarters...

People who have been released from punishment i.e. deprived of
their freedom, exiled etc ... to the living quarters that are occupied
by members of their families or their parents, with whom they lived
until the time of their arrests”, (taken from the journal “Socialist
Law”, no. 12, 1974, p. 70).

Here is an incomplete list of the institutions that Nadia Svitlychna
turned to with her complaints: the passport office in Kyiv, the
administration of internal affairs in Kyiv, the Minister of Internal
Affairs in the USSR, the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the
CC CPSU, and to the general secretary of the CC CPSU, L. Brezhnev,
and to the regional procurator of Kyiv personally.

There was a single reply to all her complaints: “refusal, based on
the grounds of absence of living quarters”.

The Kyiv committee concerned with residency rights eventually
came to the same conclusion, but this decision does not come under
the jurisdiction of the procurator. The secretary of the town
committee and the head of the above mentioned committee —
Zahrebsky, explained in a conversation: “Your sister-in-law, Leonida
Svitlychna, might remarry, then frictions could arise between you
and her future husband. We cannot contribute towards such tensions”.
This phrase is lawful in the face of such events, but the stance of the
Council of Ministers of the USSR, of Zahrebsky and others, only has
weight as the next volume in the czarist world of Soviet fantastica.

On December 8th 1976, after seven months of being unemployed,
Nadia Svitlychna obtained employment as a janitor-gardener in the
Kyiv children’s nursery, no. 164, although she is a philologist by
profession. On the 16th March she was dismissed from this employ-
ment because she did not have a resident’s permit, and the manager
fined her 50 roubles. This is how Nadia Svitlychna, a citizen of the
Soviet Union, was eventually deprived of the right to work — a right
guaranteed by the constitutions of the USSR and the Ukr. SSR.

I1l. The seven year old son of Nadia Svitlychna — Yarema Svit-
lychny, is living with his mother, but also does not have a resident’s
permit. In May 1972, after Nadia Svitlychna's arrest, he was force-
fully taken to a children’s home, of which not one of Nadia's relatives
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was informed for 10 days. The district committee for the care of
children decided that the seven-year old Yarema was not to be cared
for by his grandmother because of her advanced age and her small
pension — 20 roubles. Instead the child was placed in the care of
Nadia's sister who lives in Voroshylovhrad, but this was against
Nadia Svitlychna’s wishes and so illegal. Then Yarema’s residency
permit was cancelled, which was also unlawful, since he did not serve
a sentence with his mother. Now that Yarema Svitlychny is not
registered, he has been deprived not only of the right of education,
but also of medical attention. Nadia Svitlychna, as his mother, was
refused a medical certificate for her son at the regional hospital,
which according to the law, guarantees payment. At this, the director
of the hospital, obviously forgetting his Hypocratic oath, thickly said:
“l1 am giving you a certificate for three days, but don’t count on it
being more”. Leonida Svitlychna was also refused a certificate for
the continuance of medical attention for her nephew.

V. In September 1976 police organs raised the question of Svit-
lychna's “malicious deviation” from residency rights, which under
article 196 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR carries a sentence
of up to two years of deprivation of freedom. These actions of the
police can only be termed as the cynical and sadistic destruction of
a person, because Svitlychna, after her release, only attempted to
obtain a resident’s permit.

The above mentioned article of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR
requires two warnings from the militia, a meeting of the committee,
and then a court trial before it can be used for sentencing. The first
warning came to Svitlychna at the beginning of October 1976. The
second came in December of that same year. Leonida Svitlychna has
also not paid the fine for the “illegal residency” of Nadia Svitlychna
in her flat. The meeting of the committee took place on the
16th March 1977, but the results of this meeting are not yet known.
But it is obvious that in this campaign of terror, the conditions have
been calculated to include the minutest detail, and either sooner or
later, the court will pass an infamous sentence. We do not want to be
and cannot be silent witnesses of this.

From all that has been said it emerges that: the governments of
the USSR are unable to adhere to their own laws and are unwilling
to comply with them.

The government of the USSR greatly violated the Declaration of
Human Rights which it signed, and violated the Final Act of the
Helsinki Conference — especially the section concerning human
rights.

We demand that the governments of the USSR and the Ukr. SSR
immediately resume lawful consideration of Nadia Svitlychna's
residency permit and finds her employment according to her profes-
sion and education. If the governments refuse to heed these demands
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then we demand that the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the
USSR allows her to emigrate as soon as possible.

We call on the governments which have signed the Helsinki
Accords to request the Soviet Union to explain this gross violation of
the Final Act of the Accords:

We call on all Soviet and International organisations, all honest
people of the Soviet Union and the world to defend Nadia Svitlychna
— the victim of arbitrary administration.

Oles Berdnyk, Ivan Kandyba, Petro Hryhorenko, Levko Lukya-
nenko, Oksana Meshko, Myroslav Marynovych, Mykola Matusevych,
Nina Strokata.

Kyiv, 20th March 1977

DOCTORS FULFILL THE FUNCTIONS OF CHEKISTS
— STATEMENT MADE BY IVAN SVITLYCHNY*

The appeal of political prisoner Ivan Svitlychny, is currently
circulating in Samvydav. In connection with this appeal and
others that Svitlychny has written, in which he depicts the
harsh conditions of his life, his poor state of health and the
cruel treatment he receives from the camp administrators, 15
other political prisoners from Perm camp have sent letters of
protest in defence of Svitlychny to the Procurator of the USSR —
R. Rudenko — the former procurator of the USSR at the Nuremburg
trials. The latest appeal of Svitlychny, dated 27th November 1976,
is printed in full below:

Statement:

To the General Secretary of the CC CPSU:
L. Brezhnev.

I am fully aware that my statement will not find its way to such
a lofty addressee (I do not even pretend that this could be so), but I
ask the citizen who has been delegated to fulfill these responsible
functions and who will be examining this statement, to pay attention
to all the attendant characteristics which are connected with various
statements which reflect the greatest interests of the authors rather

* lvan Olehsiyovych Svitlychny: born 19. 9. 1929; a graduate of Kharkiv University;
a post-graduate and then an employee at the Institute of Literature at the Academy of
Science in the Ukr. SSR; a literary critic, writer, translator, researcher; married;
detained by the KGB for 9 months from 1965 to 1966, during which time the KGB broke
the fingers in one of his hands. He was arrested again on 14. 1. 1972 and sentenced on
27. 4. 1973 in Kyiv under Article 62 of the Criminal Code of the Ukr. SSR to 12 years of
imprisonment. He was accused of Ukrainian national patriotism. He is currently serving
his sentence in Perm camp no. 36.
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than the essence of the matter. | ask you to look — without bias — at
the sketch included; it shows the outline of the bones in my hands,
and then, with such minimal factual information in front of you (I am
afraid, given the conditions of my existence, | cannot give you more),
I suggest that you make yourself familiar with the official documents
concomitant with genuine declarations. It is in this that the real
reason for my declaration lies: to pierce my way through to you —
through your solid wall of prejudice, ambitions, the individual con-
cerns of the leaders of various organisations — with whom | have
the misfortune to be in contact, although I am aware that my
attemps are futile. But | do not have any choice, and have to do this.

In a statement | made to you on the 30th October 1976 1 briefly
explained the situation which the local administration had created
for me. But after this statement and probably because of this state-
ment, the administration decided to take new measures against me
and I am forced to add more information to complete my previous
statement.

It appears that the administration understood the injustice of its
acts and so decided to cover it up by using medicine. A medical farce
was acted out (a farce because no one even looked at my injured
hands, not even for the sake of formality, and that is why 1 am forced
to draw the outlines of the bones of both my hands) with the result
that it was decided that | could work with compressors. Un-
fortunately, | cannot accurately describe the pains | have in my head,
the increased pressure and the spasms of the blood vessels in my
head, which cause me more pain than my injured hands do, for
which illnesses | have appealed to doctors, and received treatment
long before the question of working at the compressors arose. | can
only hypothetically suggest what the medical results are, because the
role of doctors and of the KGB are not sufficiently clear for me to
defferentiate between them: the Chekists — the half-disguised
producers of the above mentioned farce, freely used medical concepts
and determined the conclusions drawn by the doctors; the doctors,
with their knowledge of the affair, fulfilled the functions of the
Chekists, and the representatives of the camp administrators
generalised and realised practically that which the others decided.
After a conversation with the representative of the Perm Ukr. KGB
— lvaniv, | was called by his co-worker of the Skalinsky Ukr. MVD
— Major Sharlikov, who promised that all punishments would be
applied to me. He realised his promise very quickly: at the present
moment, as | am writing this statement, | have been deprived of
using the camp shop, deprived of my right to receive parcels and of
visits; | am trying to finish my statement before I am thrown into
the isolator, and there ... well, | have already been promised that
I will receive all forms of punishment. | am not going to mention
them beforehand and list them off. Arbitrariness is arbitrary, and
sadism is sadism — and | do not wish to attain the reputation of
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someone somewhat naive and simple by expressing my amazement
and my anger to that which has become a permanent and unalterable
feature of our existence here, and which only deviates from the norm
when reminders are made about “humanitarian” verbal legalities
(and anyway, this rarely occurs). Having decided to appeal to you
again through this statement, | want to emphasise, that without
regard to my individual characteristics, I do not refuse any work
which I am capable of doing and for the past one and a half years
I did not refuse to fulfill the function of a librarian and of being
responsible for the club. I did this work in such a way that there
could not be any complaints made against me. Today | also do not
refuse work which | am capable of doing and | have repeatedly asked
the administration to give me such work. But even in this I am
refused and instead | am forced to do such work which is dangerous
for my life and health — so that I receive all forms of punishment
dimply because | defend myself. The punishments have already
started; | am left with nothing else save to wait for your reply in the
hope that it will not be formal.

27th November 1976,
Ilvan Svitlychny

OKSANA MESHKO PROTESTS AGAINST ILLEGAL
HARASSMENT

Oksana Meshko, a member of the Kyiv based Group to Promote
the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords, sent a letter to the
Supreme Soviet of the USSR, protesting against the KGB harassment
of herself and other members of the Group. A copy of the letter was
sent to the Political Bureau of the CC CPSU. The text of the letter
is as follows:

To the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR.
Copy: Political Bureau CC CPSU.

Protest.

In April 1977, | forwarded complaints to the USSR and the
Ukrainian SSR State Public Prosecutors, to the head of the KGB at
the Council of Ministers of the Ukrainian SSR (a copy was also sent
to the general department of the CC CPSU), protesting against the
illegal search of my flat which was conducted on February 5th in
violation of Soviet law and which was approved by the Moscow and
Kyiv prosecutors.

I did not protest against the unlawfulness of the search but against
the abuse of authority by KGB official Pankov: the unjustified search
was conducted in the manner of a pogrom — breaking windows,
applying physical force, personal search, forceful undressing in the
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presence of this KGB official. (This even exceeded the norms that
the KGB applies during searches in prisons and isolated penal
institutions).

They did not find or confiscate any anti-Soviet materials during
the search; however they confiscated the following materials:
Photocopies of the UN Human Rights Declaration;

Photocopies of excerpts from the Helsinki Accords Final Act;
Photocopies of the UNESCO by-laws;

Grievances and petitions sent to high Soviet authorities concern-
ing my son Oleksander Serhiyenko, a political prisoner;

My correspondence with deputies of the Supreme Soviet of the
USSR, with Borys Paton, president of the Ukrainian SSR
Academy of Science, writer Mykhaylo Stelmakh, composer
Dmytro Kabalevsky, who made appeals in 1974 to review the
case of my guiltlessly sentenced son;

6. Some books, published in the USSR, in which | underlined some

passages without any comment;

7. My correspondence with my son Oleksander, my family and
friends and letters written 30 years ago to my mother and son
from the Stalin-Beria camps;

8. Letters and statements describing violations of human rights
written to the Ukrainian Helsinki Group by citizens. These were
mostly copies sent to various Soviet authorities which were
never answered,;

9. Finally everything else written or typed in notebooks, on loose
sheets of paper, even on scrap paper: poems, aphorisms, pro-
verbs, spontaneous notes, possibly even radio broadcasts — in
a word — very personal material, some worthless, which was
confiscated without being examined. According to KGB official
Pankov, all confiscated material will be “scrutinised by experts”.
All of the confiscated material was placed in a sack and sealed.

The authorities do not concern themselves with government
officials violating the law, while I am persecuted by the KGB and
the public prosecutor. (I was called twice for interrogations to
Donetsk, five times to the prosecutor’s office in Kyiv — without
regard to the report of my poor health issued by the city clinic).

The search of my flat was conducted in connection with my affilia-
tion with the Ukrainian Group to Monitor Compliance with the
Helsinki Accords, and demonstrates the unlawful actions of Moscow’s
and Kyiv’s prosecutors.

The entire group was subject to persecutions, searches and arrests.

The following is indisputable evidence of the violations of human
rights:

1 The Group sustained persecution from the first day of its exist-
ence (on November 9th stones were thrown through the window of
Mykola Rudenko’s flat — the leader of the Group. | was present at
that time in his flat and was hit in the arm).

AWOWNPE

o
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2. The initial KGB searches were conducted on December 23rd,
1976, and repeated on February 5th and April 23rd, 1977 in the flats
of the Group members and in the flats of their parents and friends.
In connection with the Ukrainian Group the searches were conducted
in: Kyiv, Drohobych, Chernihiv and in Moscow, and in the provinces
of Kyiv, Lviv and Donetsk. In all 27 flats were searched.

3. Four of the Group’s members were arrested: On February 5th,
1977 — Mykola Rudenko and Oleksa Tykhy, and on April 23rd 1977,
Myroslav Marynovych and Mykola Matusevych.

4. During the searches in all cases except one, all personal corres-
pondence, photographs, even typewriters were confiscated, despite
the fact that a typewriter is essential to a writer.

5. The Criminal Code of Ukrainian SSR (Article 116) was violated
by taking a Kyivan resident, Mykola Rudenko, after his arrest to
Donetsk for KGB interrogations (the place of residence and arrest
of another Group member — O. Tykhy; why not the other way
round?).

Witnesses for Mykola Rudenko’s trial, predominantly residents of
Kyiv, were summoned to Donetsk.

Mykola Matusevych and Myroslav Marynovych were arrested in
Kyiv. Witnesses were summoned to the KGB at Roza Luxemburg
Street.

The entire Ukrainian Helsinki Group, a non-political association
with a loyal and law-defending accent on its activities, is subjected
to cruel persecutions and four of the Group members were arrested.

The Group has been groundlessly compared with illegal and hostile
organisations and its activities termed anti-Soviet and criminal.

The highest USSR authority — The Presidium of the Supreme
Soviet — approved the Final Act of the Helsinki Accords and its
principles, along with principle no. VIl — to respect human rights
and the basic freedoms — including freedom of thought, conscience,
religion and conviction.

The rise of the Ukrainian Group evolves from the Helsinki Accords
which guarantee basic rights and grant lawful activities, aimed at
the realisation of the will of the Soviet state, as expressed in the
Final Act.

The Final Act was undermined by repressions employed by the
KGB and the prosecutors, and the political and juridicial meaning
of the Helsinki Accords was debased — and not only in the eyes of
compatriots.

I am turning to you — the highest authority in the USSR and
Ukrainian SSR — with a request not to disregard the “matter” of the
Ukrainian Group but to secure for members of the Group the guaran-
tees of basic human rights in compliance with the Helsinki Accords
(which you accepted and signed) and of which Mr. Brezhnev remark-
ed in the presence of the representatives of 35 nations, members of
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the Helsinki Conference: “It is a victory of mind ... It is endemic
for mankind to strive for progress in deeds ... Well, sooner or later,
there must be a beginning”.

AN OPEN LETTER TO PEN-CLUB

An open letter from the members of the Ukrainian Public Group
to Promote the Implementation of the Helsinki Accords has been
received by the International PEN-Club. The letter was written by
Mykola Rudenko and Oles Berdnyk on the 5th January 1977, exactly
one month before the arrests of M. Rudenko and O. Tykhy. A
shortened version of the text is printed below:

To the International PEN-Club,
New York.

Open Letter

Dear Fellow Writers,

We did not want to trouble you with the affairs
of your distant colleagues, however, the problems which confront us
today, could be your problems tomorrow if the world literary
community does not manifest strong solidarity.

You have probably heard of the repressions which have been going
on for many years against the well known publicists and literary
writers I. Svitlychny, V. Moroz, E. Sverstyuk, V. Stus, V. Chornovil,
S. Karavansky and many other Ukrainians or representatives of other
socialist republics.

Now in the activities of the KGB organs a new qualitative period
has arisen: in their battle they pay particular attention to futurology,
science fiction, to those works which create consciousness in those
who are oblivious, to those which stimulate evolutionary or revolu-
tionary changes. For example all the works of Oles Berdnyk (nearly
30 titles) are completely banned from libraries and burnt on the
orders of a special “circular” (circulated in total secrecy — is it not
reminiscent of Hitler in 1933?). Berdnyk himself was expelled from
the Writers’ Union five years ago and was forced to live in harsh,
miserly conditions.

The same was done to the poet and futurologist Mykola Rudenko.
For many years he troubled the ruling organs of Ukraine and the
USSR, suggesting that they examine and take into consideration a
whole list of scientifically based predictions in the economic, socio-
logical and other spheres. Criticism was not long in coming (however
not literary). He was expelled from the party, and from the Writers’
Union and became subject to all round terror.

We both experienced repeated searches made by the KGB (O.
Berdnyk was searched three times, and Rudenko twice). Nearly the
whole of their literary archives were stolen: ten note books with
ideas for new books, unfinished stories and novels (futurologistic),
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thousands of lines of poetry, which are impossible to rewrite (from
Rudenko) and also the philosophical work “Hnosys i suchasnist” were
removed. The works “Ukrainian Festivals”, “Alternative Evolution”
and many others were removed from Berdnyk.

It is impossible to work creatively when every day (or to be more
precise, every night) brutal and cruel guests are expected. You, fellow
writers, have probably never even dreamt of such a situation, that
in a socialist country, ignoramous-gendarmes come and dig with their
dirty paws the works of futurologists and poets, while on their
dreams of a world of unity, humanity and brotherhood ominous
shadows of a merciless present fall.

Do not regard these facts as a mere accident. The state of futuro-
logy and science fiction is a very sorry one in our multi-national
country. For example, immediately after the death of the famous
Russian science fiction writer 1. Yefremov, his widow had guests —
from the KGB. They conducted a heartless search of her flat, and
collected many valuable manuscripts... Many science fiction works of
the world-known brothers Struhanskis are banned. The publications
of science fiction from abroad barely exist. The future has become the
monstrous pretext for the organs of security — in it, they feel a
danger to their monolithic rule.

And this is how it is. It is impossible to hold the fire of thoughts and
hearts in the paper labyrinths of prohibition and persecution. Prison
walls and even death are not able to prevent the flaming flight of
thought. Fellow writers, raise a voice of protest against these
medieval persecutions against creative writers. The Cosmic Era
demands free contacts, free thinking, the union of all the strengths
of creators to build a world of Happiness and Love.

We are waiting for your word to rise in our defence.

5th January 1977, Kyiv, Ukraine.
Mykola Rudenko and Oles Berdnyk

UNDERGROUND LEAFLET CALLS FOR INDEPENDENCE

An underground leaflet currently circulating in Ukraine calls on
the populace to fight for their independence.

The brief statement decries Moscow’s “centralism” as “coercion”
and says that “the policies of Ukraine should and will be made in
Kyiv, not Moscow”.

The full text of the leaflet is as follows:

UKRAINIAN INDEPENDENCE!

Moscow plunders the natural riches of Ukraine and the
Ukrainian people. Centralism is coercion. The policies of Ukrai-
ne should and will be made in Kyiv, not Moscow.

Ukrainians, if you want to be masters of your own house, then
fight for Ukrainian independence!



94 THE UKRAINIAN REVIEW

Ukrainian World News in Brief

US DELEGATION IN BELGRADE RAISES RUDENKO, TYKHY
CASES

The United States delegation, in a
meeting of the 35 sighatory states on
Basket One implementation, has
formally intervened on behalf of the
two Ukrainian dissidents, Mykola
Rudenko and Oleksiy Tykhy, the only
two Helsinki monitors in the USSR to
have been sentenced. They received 12
and 15 year prison sentences and
internal exile respectively for their
monitoring activities.

The following are excerpts from the
address by R. Spencer Oliver, U.S.
delegate to Basket One deliberations,
Monday, 12th December, 1977:

“We have expressed our specific
concern for the members of the
Helsinki monitoring groups because
we feel that the treatment they have
received should be of direct concern
to this Belgrade meeting. We have
spoken forthrightly of our concern for
the fate of those who sit today in
prison without contact with their
families or lawyers in violation not
only of the Helsinki Final Act, but
also in violation of the rights suppos-
edly guaranteed by their own laws.

“There are Mykola Rudenko and Olek-
siy Tykhy, founders of the Ukrainian
Group to Promote the Implementation
of the Helsinki Accords in the USSR,
who were given maximum sentences,
12 and 15 years loss of freedom,
respectively, for merely exercising the
right which Principle VII guarantees.
As Vice-President Mondale said a few
days ago: ‘Their lives are a testiment
to the moral courage of a few we will
see in our lifetime, and because of
their courage, because of their un-
yielding commitment to liberty, those
who enter the moral conflict, all those
struggling to be free have companions
in every corner of the world today’.

“The Belgrade conference is a step
in a process which has just begun,
but it is a historic step. For the first
time an international forum is based
on the demand of human conscience
to raise the standard of performance

of governments in the treatment of
individual rights.

“We will continue to insist that
human rights be addressed by the
signatories of the Helsinki Accords”.

Mr. Oliver’s comments on Rudenko
and Tykhy are America’'s strongest
statement on human rights violations
in the USSR in the five weeks of the
conference.

The Soviet delegate, Vladimir
Loginov, in reply, made the sharpest
attack on the United States since the
beginning of the conference. He said
that the U.S. “has no right to teach
other countries about human rights”
and that “life in the United States
includes people who cannot afford
medical care, and that there is dis-
crimination against minorities”. He
asked: “Can the U.S. judge when it
used napalm and terrible weapons of
destruction to kill hundreds and
thousands of people in Viet Nam or
those who plan secret CIA pro-
grammes to assasinate foreign states-
men?”

While the Soviet delegate quoted
such accounts from U.S. sources he
did not refute or challenge the actual
charges levied by Mr. Oliver on Ru-
denko and Tykhy.

Recently President Carter issued
his semi-annual report on compliance
with the Helsinki Final Act, in which
he spoke of the Rudenko and Tykhy
cases. On Friday, 9th December 1977,
the director of the World Congress of
Free  Ukrainians Human Rights
Bureau discussed the cases with
Myron Hoffman, chief spokesman for
the U.S. delegation to the talks in

Belgrade.
In other developments, the most
significant stumbling block at the

‘conference which recessed on 22nd

December, is to establish the frame-
work for drafting a final document
of the conference. The disparities are
between the East and West interpreta-
tions of the Final Act.
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The East wants a general, short,
forward-looking document and the
West countries want a long, thorough
assessment of implementations. There

have been over 90 resolutions intro-
duced for inclusion in the final
document.

The controversy is now centered on
the number of special drafting com-
mittees to be set up to draw the final
document. The East wants no more

than two, and the West wants as
many as possible, at least one com-
mittee for each  basket. Many
delegates hope that the non-aligned
countries such as the Nordic bloc, Swi-
tzerland and Austria, will arrive at a
compromise solution. The structure
of the drafting procedure was to be
decided by Friday, 16th December,
Isince the conference recessed 6 days
ater.

U.S. SENATOR DOLE ON POLITICAL PRISONERS IN THE USSR

Sen Bob Dole (R.-Kan.) made a
personal appeal about the fate of 14
Soviet political prisoners to Yuri
Vorontsov, head of the Soviet delega-
tion on the Conference on Security and
Co-operation in Belgrade.

During his attendance at the CSCE
in mid-November, Sen. Dole presented
Vorontsov with a list of incarcerated
human rights activists in the Soviet
Union. The list included Rev. Vasyl
Romanyuk, Nijole Sadunaite, Anatoly
Shcharansky, Kaliju Matik, Sergei
Soldatov, Mati Kiirend, Artyom Yus-
kevitch, Feliks Serebrov, Mykola Ru-
denko, Oleksa Tykhy, Valentyn Mo-
roz, Algirdas Zypre, Antanas Terlec-
kas and Viktoras Petkus.

Sen. Dole is one of the leading
Senate spokesman in defence of
human and national rights advocates
in Ukraine and other Soviet republics.

The text of Sen. Dole’s speech
before the plenary session of the
CSCE is printed below:

. My delegation, however, is not
only concerned with the human rights
provision of the Final Act. We are
dedicated to the fulfillment of all its
provisions. Quite frankly, great doubts
were expressed by many Americans
about the Final Act at the time it was
signed in August of 1975. It was not
all some Americans wanted and more
than others cared for. President Ford
was criticised for his participation at
Helsinki and the Final Act was a
matter of some contention in last
year's Presidential election.

To his credit, President Carter not
only continued, but personally streng-
thened America’s commitment to

implement the Final Act. Just last
week Vice-President Mondale rea-
ffirmed this resolve. American com-
mitment to the implementation of this
Act is across the board, it is strong,
it is bipartisan ...

Politics of Human Rights

.. . Without a doubt, it is popular
politically speaking, to persue the
quest for human rights. In most cases
it is also highly appropriate. Some, of
course, would have you believe they
discovered the dignity of man, others
are quick to condemn but slow to
self-examine.

Ambassador Goldberg and other
United States delegates have been
specific and to the point. They have
properly stated our case. Therefore it
is not my purpose to confront, or
posture, or pound anyone over the
head. Specific “human rights” cases
which have been called to my atten-
tion have been passed on to approp-
riate officials. | shall hope for expedi-
tious handling and favourable dis-
position . ..

A Nation of Immigrants

... We are a nation of immigrants,
people who have come from all over
the world to participate in the
promise of America. Most of our
population come from European back-
grounds. They have cultural and ethnic
identity with most of the participating
states in this meeting. They actively
maintain  their interest in their
heritage and in their former home-
lands.
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They express their interest through
associations and organisations through-
out America. For example, | have
met with representatives of organisa-
tions such as the National Federation

of American Ethnic Groups, the
Czecho-Slovak National Council of
America, the Congress of Russian

Americans, the Polish-American Con-
gress, the Hungarian Organisation in
North America, the Ukrainian Na-
tional Association and the Joint Baltic
American National Committee — and
many others. They have expressed
their concern not only about the
human rights provision of Basket 11l
and Principle VII but also about the

right of self-determination of all
peoples.

It is a fact that the United States
has never recognised the Soviet

incorporation of Lithuania, Latvia and
Estonia and U.S. official policy of non-
recognition was not effected by the
results of the European Security Con-
ference. This long standing principle
is the policy of the United States and
is supported by the Congress of the
United States.

| cite these groups and their con-
cerns not to be provocative or con-
frontational. | merely wish to clarify
and explain the reasons for the
strong concerns of my delegation and
my government in the field of human
rights. There is — in my opinion — a
direct connection between the public
perceptions of the integrity of the
Helsinki Process and the ability of
governments in the West to carry on
the process of detente. Public trials
and political dissidents, for example,
could have a profound impact on
pending or subsequent bilateral and
multilateral agreements. Most mem-

bers of the Congress of the United
States believe, in my opinion, that
human rights cannot be subordinated
to development, co-operation and
security.

Our basic goal is to promote genuine
understanding and realisation of ten-
sions between the participating states,
greater respect for human rights,
freedom of religion and self-determi-
nation of all peoples. We view CSCE
as an important step toward achiev-
ing these objectives. We also under-
stand that ours is not a perfect
system, that we too have our own
problems and failings — but we are
making efforts to do better, and we
will continue our work toward full
implementation of all the provisions
of the Final Act in our own country.

American Proposal

Finally, it is in this spirit that the
American delegation, with the support
of other delegations, will put forward
a proposal which will, among other
things, recognise the importance of
the CSCE process and its continuation.
The proposal will resolve to imple-
ment unilaterally the relevant provi-
sions of the Final Act relating to
Human Rights and fundamental free-
doms and to ensure their implementa-
tion bilaterally and within the context
of CSCE and other multilateral fora.

December 10th is Human Rights
Day, Anniversary of the U.N. General
Assembly’s adoption of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights in 1948,
May it serve to remind all nations of
how far we have come and the dis-
tance yet to travel as we strive for
future co-operation and security in
Europe.

CARTER CENSURES REDS ON HELSINKI VIOLATIONS

President Jimmy Carter censured
the Soviet government and satellite
countries for continuing violations of
the human rights provisions of the
1975 Helsinki Accords.

In his biennial report to the Con-
gressional Committee on Security
and Co-operation in Europe, President
Carter said that Soviet bloc countries

continue to violate the human rights
of their citizens while claiming that
they are adhering to the Helsinki
Accords.

Mr. Carter is required to report to
the commission headed by Rep. Dante
Fascell (D-Fla.), on compliance with
the Accords.

The American President said that



claims of Soviet compliance with the
Helsinki Accords are disproved by
“The reality of Eastern societies and
specific events”, such as the persecu-
tion of individuals for seeking their
government’s implementation of the
treaty.

In his report, President Carter men-
tioned the arrests of Aleksander
Ginsburg, Yuri Orlov, Anatoly Shcha-
ransky, Mykola Rudenko and Oleksa

Tykhy as examples of Soviet viola-
tions.

Mr. Carter also censured the Cze-
cho-Slovak government for persecu-
ting the members of the “Charter 77"
movement.

He also criticised the East German
government for abusing psychiatry
for political purposes, and the
religious harassment in most Soviet
bloc countries.
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Lev SHANKOVSKY

UKRAINE AND THE UKRAINIANS

Ukraine, a constituent republic of the Union of Soviet Republics
and a founding member of the United Nations, is located in Southern
Europe, north of the Black Sea and the Sea of Azov. It is bordered
on the north by the Byelorussian SSR and the Russian SFSR. Ukra-
ine’s neighbours on the east are the Cossack lands, once independent
republics and now incorporated into the RSFSR.

In size, Ukraine is the second largest country of Europe. The
present-day Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic with an area of
232,600 sq. m. is larger than France (211,207 sq. m.) and larger than
both German Republics (137,744 sq. m.) However, not all Ukrainian
ethnic territories are incorporated into the Ukrainian SSR. In fact,
the Ukrainian ethnic territory covers an area of 384,900 sg. m.

Ukraine, called the “bread basket” or the “granary” of Europe, has
for millennia been one of the most important agricultural regions in
the world. Widely known for its “black earth” belt and mild
continental climate, Ukraine produces a wide variety of grains, vege-
tables, fruits, sugar beets, and sunflowers. About seventy five per
cent of Russian grain exports prior to World War | were grown in
Ukraine. Unfortunately, it is not so now. Constant crises of Soviet
agriculture and dependence on grain imports from the USA and
Canada have one of their sources in the fact that Stalin destroyed
the Ukrainian agricultural class. More than eight million Ukrainian
peasants, expert toilers of soil throughout millennia, men, women,
and children, perished as a result of Stalin’s policies of “elimination
of rich peasants” (1930) or of the government-made famine to force
collectivization (1932-1933). Many others were uprooted, exiled, or
fled their native villages to save their lives. All this brought a complete
disruption of the Ukrainian farming economy, a catastrophic decline
of livestock, a dangerous decline in standards of living with resulting
health deficiencies. If to this we add the destruction brought by World
War Il, which was fought fiercely on all Ukrainian lands, it becomes
understandable why Ukrainian agriculture could never return to its
pre-World War | status as one of the largest grain exporters in the
world. And this has its impact on the situation on all of Soviet
agriculture.

It would be erroneous to think, as many still do, that Ukraine is
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only an agricultural country. In fact, Ukraine is a highly industrial
ized country and, accordingly, highly urbanized too. Out of the forty-
eight million inhabitants of Ukraine (in 1973, on January 1, 1976
Ukraine's population was estimated at 49.1 million), twenty-sevei
million lived in cities and towns, and only twenty-one million ii
rural areas. Kyiv, with two million inhabitants, is the capital and thi
largest city of Ukraine. Next come Kharkiv with 1.3 million, anc
Odessa, Donetsk, and Dnipropetrovsk with approximately 1 millioi
each.

There are also thirty-seven cities with a population of 100,000 o
more, among them Zaporizhzhya with more than 700 thousand, Lvn
with more than 600 thousand, and Kryvyi Rih with more than 50
thousand.

Ukraine’'s natural conditions for industrial development are ver
good indeed. One of the greatest assets is the abundance of minera
deposits. Ukraine possesses some of the largest deposits of iron am
manganese ore in the world, the only large hard coal basin in Europe
substantial deposits of oil and natural gas, and large resources o
water power. Besides, salt, sulphur, titanium, mercury, magnesium
cobalt, nickel, uranium, chemical minerals and construction material
are also in sufficient supply. In many cases the location of deposit
is very favourable; for example, the iron and manganese deposit
are located close to each other and to coal. This not only facilitate
transportation but also makes the development of large industria
centres easier.

Thus, at present, Ukrainian industry rivals Ukrainian agricul-tur
in importance. In production of coal, iron ore, natural gas, pig iror
steel and rolled steel, and in production of locomotives, Ukrain
occupies the first place in Europe. In terms of natural resources am
industrial output Ukraine occupies the second place in the USS1
after the Russian SFSR. The most developed branches of Ukrainia:
industry are heavy industry, such as coal-mining, iron and stee
production, the chemical industry and heavy machine building. Som
of the latter plants are highly specialized.

The Lviv automotive crane plant, for example, produces all th
automotive cranes in the USSR and the satellite countries of th
USSR; the Kharkiv and Voroshylovhrad locomotive plants produc
ninety per cent of all diesel locomotives in the USSR; the Zhdano
heavy machine plant makes all the oil tanks and chemical cisterns i;
the USSR, and 'the Mykolayiv shipyards built the first 45,000 to
aircraft carrier for the Soviet Navy, named Kyiv. Another carrie:
named Mensk, is now under construction.

In comparison with heavy industry, the development of consume
industries, including light and food industries, lags behind heav
industry. The reason for this is the Soviet economic policy whic
stresses the development of heavy industry and allots a very sma
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share of resources to the development of consumer industries. Yet
Ukraine’'s share, in the USSR food industry is 19.4 per cent, and
in the production of granulated sugar Ukraine occupies the first place
in Europe.

Ukraine is the country of Ukrainians. Sometimes Ukrainians are
mentioned by Western writers as a “Soviet minority”. It is quite an
illogical term because Ukrainians constitute a majority in Ukraine.
The Soviet census of 1970 states that Ukrainians constituted
32.284.000 or 74.9 per cent of the entire population of the Ukrainian
SSR.

As the 1970 Soviet census shows, the barbarous action of the
Russian rulers in the past did not eliminate either the Ukrainian
language or the Ukrainian nationality. In the 1970 Soviet census
40.753.000 people, or 16.8 per cent of the entire population of the
USSR, declared their nationality as Ukrainian.

By their actions of 1863 and 1876, a Russian Minister and a Russian
Tsar wanted to imply that Ukrainians did not exist because they
counted them among the Russians and considered the Ukrainian
language a “Russian dialect”. It may be surprising to see that, despite
ample evidence to the contrary, many people in the West still sub-
scribe to such outmoded theories of Russian imperialism. It is daily
fare for Ukrainians in the USA to see themselves identified as
“Russians” in the press and other media, in popular usage, encyclo-
paedias, textbooks, and in general literature. One can only wonder
how the Russian imperialists succeeded in imposing upon the Western
world their own conception of “Russia”, a conception which treats
the Soviet Union as one whole and its people as “Russians”.

It must be said here that centuries ago the Western cultural world
was better informed about Ukraine than it is now, in the era of
communication satellites. Maps published in many countries as early
as the sixteenth century bore the designation “Ukraine”, and one of
the oldest maps bearing such a designation is the map dated 1572 and
made by order of Charles IX for his brother Henry of Anjou. This
map has been kept in the archives of the French Foreign Ministry.

The Ukrainians belong to the family of the Slavic peoples. The
Slavic peoples are sharply contrasted: the Russians differing from the
Poles, the Ukrainians from both, and the Slavs of Central Europe
and the Balkans forming entirely different groups. The history of
various Slavic peoples has been different, their environment has
been different, and hence their traditions, customs, cultures, and
religions have been different.

The nationality problem in the USSR, which is very acute today
as evidenced by wide-spread protest and dissent in the national
territories of the USSR, has its source in a bitter struggle of non-
Russian peoples against the Russian imperialist efforts to remodel
non-Russian culture and ideals on Russian lines, thus causing their
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extinction. The so-called Russification policies of the Soviet regime
which it extends over the entire domain of culture, national tradition
historic past and mode of life of the non-Russian peoples, is not onh
anti-constitutional in its essence, but it also represents a dangerou
intellectual barbarism and neglect of humanity. The people of thx
USSR will not accept the regime’s plans for their own destructioi
through a drowning in the Russian sea. Therefore, it is safe to predic
that the so-called nationality problem in the USSR will grow, anc
not subside, in its crucial importance for the regime.

The roots of Ukrainian folk culture are easily recognizable in th<
neolithic Trypillian culture of the early agricultural tribes in Ukraine
However, the situation of Ukrainians in the Southern part of Easteri
Europe, on the natural highways between the east and west anc
between north and south, while advantageous for the developmen
of trade, was equally very unfortunate because it was accessible &
invaders from all sides. Thus, invasions of different races anc
incessant struggles against invaders were the common experience a
the Ukrainian people from time immemorial. This situation at the
crossroads of Eastern Europe was largely responsible for the inability
of the Ukrainians to consolidate as a modern nation and to maintaii
a stable national state organisation.

Ukraine’s role as a shield against Asiatic invaders was recognizee
and appreciated in the West at an earlier time. In 1253, the Ukrainiar
king of Galicia and Lodomeria (Volhynia), Danylo | (Daniel), wa:
crowned a king by the Papal legate in recognition of the King's stanc
against the menacing Tartars. In 1320, the same Ukrainian kingdon
was named Antemurale Christianitatis (bulwark of Christianity) b]
Pope John XXII in his accolade to the Princes Lev and Andrew whe
fell in a battle against the Tartars. Behind the protective wall of thi:
bulwark, the European nations were able to consolidate as moderr
nations, but, for Ukraine, her position on the borderlands of Westerr
civilisation was the source of many disasters.

The powerful Kingdom of Rus' with its capital in Kyiv, whicl
flourished politically, economically and culturally under its grea
rulers, Queen Olha (945-960), the first Christian ruler on Kyiv’:
throne; King Volodymyr the Great (980-1015), patron saint of Ukra-
ine; King Yaroslav the Wise (1019-1054), and Volodymyr Monomakl
(1113-1125). Kyiv fell under the blows of the Tartars in 1240. How-
ever, the western part of the Kingdom, Galicia and Lodomeria, wa:
able to withstand the onslaught of the Tartars and maintained it:
independence up to 1340. Thus, the kingdom of Ru.s' with its capita
in Kyiv has its continuation in the Kingdom of Galicia and Lodo-
meria (Volhynia), and not in the Russian principalities of Suzdal-
Vladimir which already separated themselves from the Kingdom o
Rus' in the twelfth century and the princes of which considerec
Ukraine a foreign country. In 1169, the Suzdalian prince Andrev
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Bogoliubsky captured Kyiv and devastated the “mother of the cities
of Rus".

The Suzdal principality, as the Tsardom of Moscow, later was
neither the successor nor the inheritor of the Kyivan Kingdom of
Rus'. It grew out of its own roots, and the relations of the Kingdom
of Rus' to Muscovy may be more accurately compared to the relations
that existed between Rome and Gaul in the history of France. Un-
fortunately, American historiography of Russia almost unanimously
accepts the Russian imperialist legend of the inheritance of the King-
dom of Rus' by Muscovy, and in the history of the Russian principal-
ities and in Tsardom of Muscovy sees the continuation of the history
of the Kyivan Kingdom of Rus'. Consequently, American historio-
graphy completely ignores the most interesting history of the King-
dom of Galicia-Lodomeria, the true inheritor of the Kyivan Kingdom
of Rus' to which the Galician-Lodomerian lands belonged since 981.

With the extinction of the dynasty in the Kingdom of Galicia and
Lodomeria, a prolonged war between the Poles, Lithuanians, and
Hungarians began for the possession of its territories. Finally, in
1387, they were divided between the Poles, who gained Galicia, and
the Lithuanians, who gained Lodomeria (Volhynia and other Ukra-
inian lands). Thus, the greater part of Ukraine and Byelorussia which
belonged to the Kyivan Kingdom of Rus' became part of the Grand
Duchy of Lithuania under the rule of the Lithuanian dynasty. In the
Grand Duchy of Lithuania, which stretched almost to Moscow in the
east and reached the Black Sea in the South by 1430, the vast major-
ity of the population was either Ukrainian or Byelorussian (both were
called Ruthenians at that time). In the Grand Duchy they enjoyed
full freedom, and their language, Ruthenian, was the official language
in the Duchy.

Unfortunately, in 1569, in the union of Lublin, the Grand Duchy
of Lithuania entered into a closer union with Poland. As a result,
the greater part of Ukrainian lands passed to Poland. In Ukraine
the ruling Polish nobility instituted a regime of economic exploitation
and national and religious discrimination. The Ukrainian national
opposition to Poland resulted in numerous uprisings of the Ukrainian
Cossacks, (a special army formed on the model of a knightly order
to prevent Tartar incursion into Ukraine; its fortress was the so-
called “Zaporozhian Sich”, and the army was called the “Zaporozhian
Army”, that is, an army organized “beyond the rapids of the Dnipro
River”). The great uprising of 1648 under the leadership of Hetman
Bohdan Khmelnytsky (“the Ukrainian Cromwell”) was entirely
successful. The Polish armies in Ukraine were severely beaten in
several battles and a great part of Ukraine was liberated from Polish
rule. Ukraine once again became an independent state in the form of
a so-called “Cossack Republic” where a hetman was at once the
head of the state and the chief commander of the army.
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However, despite the Treaty of Zboriv, the Ukrainian-Polish wa
continued. In 1654, as a result of some adverse circumstances, Hetmai
Khmelnytsky was forced to enter into a military alliance with th
Tsar of Moscow. In the Treaty of Pereyaslav (1654) the Ukrainiai
Cossacks acknowledged the protection of the Muscovite Tsar, bu
Ukraine was guaranteed to continue as a separate state with
separate government and a separate army. All rights and freedom
enjoyed by the Ukrainians were guaranteed on the part of th
Muscovite government, even the right to entertain separate dip
lomatic relations with foreign countries. This treaty, however, prove*
fateful for Ukraine because Moscow violated it almost immediatel;
after signing it. This resulted in numerous Ukrainian-Muscovite wars
first under Khmelnytsky's successor Hetman Ivan Vyhovsky, thei
under Hetman Petro Doroshenko, who tried to liberate Ukraine wit]
the help of Turkey, and, finally, under Hetman Ivan Mazepa, wh
entered into an ailiance with the Swedish King Charles XIl. Th
defeat of Swedish-Ukrainian forces in the battle near Poltava on Jul;
8, 1709, a battle which changed the course of world history, put ai
end to Hetman Mazepa’'s dream of Ukraine’s liberation with the hel]
of King Charles XII.

Indeed, a new chapter of Muscovy’s history began after Poltavs
It was really the first time that the Muscovites under Tsar Peter
stood firmly in Ukraine and could consider themselves her rea
masters. The old Muscovite idea of “gathering all the lands o
ancient Rus™ was realized by Tsar Peter I. To legalise his conquesl
Tsar Peter | changed the name of Muscovy (known as Moscovia ii
the West) to Russia (ancient Rus' was called Rossiya in Greek). H
established the Russian Empire and became the first Russian Emperoi
By appropriating for his empire the name of the ancient Kingdon
of Rus', Tsar Peter | appropriated also the old glory of ancient Rus
its culture and traditions. They became the foundations of his newl;
built empire.

The final crushing blow to Ukrainian freedom and autonomy wa
delivered by Empress Catherine Il. The Hetman government wa
abolished in 1764, the Zaporizhian Sich was destroyed in 1775, am
the last vestiges of Ukrainian autonomy were wiped out in 1781 am
1783. Thus, 110 years after the conclusion of the Treaty of Pereyasla\
through treachery, ruse and violence, and after a series of blood;
wars, Russia succeeded in annexing Ukraine and reducing her to th*
status of a mere colony.

Within the boundaries of the Russian Empire, Ukrainians sufferei
savage persecution, economic exploitation, and tyrannical abuse o
the Ukrainian language and culture. However, what the Russia]
government could not imagine suddenly happened: in the nineteent]
century Ukraine awakened like the Phoenix from the ashes, am
the revival of the Ukrainian spirit commenced, largely under th*
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influence of the greatest poet of Ukraine, Taras Shevchenko. The rise
of the Ukrainian liberation movement continued up to 1917, the year
of the Great Revolution in Eastern Europe in which Ukraine became
the bastion of the national revolution directed against the Russian
Empire.

The Revolution of 1917 and the collapse of Austria-Hungary in
1918 were both a result of the military defeats of the Russian and
Austro-Hungarian armies in World War I. The Revolution in Eastern
Europe, which began as a social upheaval in Russia and in the
territories of the non-Russian nationalities, became a series of na-
tional revolutions. In Ukraine, already in April 1917, a Ukrainian
National Assembly known as the Centralna Rada was formed in Kyiv
and directed the Ukrainian Liberation Movement. On January 22,
1918, the Centralna Rada proclaimed in Kyiv the complete indepen-
dence of the Ukrainian People’s Republic.

On November 1, 1918, as the Austro-Hungarian Empire dis-
integrated, the Ukrainians in Lviv proclaimed the independent West-
ern Ukrainian People’s Republic. Immediately they were involved
in a war with the Poles who wanted to incorporate Galicia into
Poland. Although on January 22, 1919, a union was proclaimed of
the Western Ukrainian People’s Republic with the Ukrainian People’s
Republic, the newly united Ukrainian state could not successfully
resist the aggressors (Red and White Russians, Poles and Rumanians)
on four fronts. In addition, the Western Entente powers (Great
Britain, France, Italy, USA) were inimical to Ukraine’s struggle for
liberation. France sent six divisions of Gen. Haller's army to help the
Polish Army conquer Galicia, and Great Britain sent tons of arms,
ammunitions, and war materials to the White Russian Army of Gen.
Denikin, who fought for the restoration of the Russian Empire.
However, the most striking blow for the reborn Ukrainian state was
a blockade which the Entente powers imposed on the territory
occupied by the Ukrainian Army. Not even medicine was allowed
into “Petlura’s territory”, and as a result thousands of Ukrainian
soldiers and civilians died of typhus and other diseases.

Ukraine could not win the war with an army decimated by
typhus and other diseases, including Asiatic cholera. The Ukrainians
could not win the war without help from the West. Their military
alliance with Poland in 1920 was another illusion. In November 1920,
the Ukrainian government and the Ukrainian Army had no other
choice than to withdraw from Ukraine, and the Red Army completed
its conquest. The struggle was ended, and the only consolation for
the Ukrainians remained in the fact that their struggle forced the
Soviet occupants to acquiesce in the existence of a “sovereign and
independent Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic”.

After two years of “independent” existence, the Ukrainian SSR
entered into the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, in 1922
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After the liberation war a fierce but disorganized struggle continu
ed on Ukrainian soil, with scattered detachments of Ukrainiai
patriots fighting to the last against foreign occupation. The struggl
lasted for three years (1921-23) and the most prominent among th
so-called “insurgent republics” was the “republic” of Kholodny Ya
in the region of Cherkasy, which continued its anti-Soviet resistance
up to 1923. By 1924, Soviet control of Ukraine became too stronj
to permit a continuance of guerilla activity. The introduction of NE1
policies by the Soviet regime, which gave certain liberties to tre
Ukrainian peasants, was also an important reason for the cessatioi
of insurgent activities.

What followed at that time was the phenomenal growth of Ukra
inian nationalism which was evidenced, first of all, by the spontane
ous growth of the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Church. Then
was also strong opposition to Soviet rule in Ukraine, ax
accordingly, there were many complaints by Soviet Ileader
against Ukrainian “counter-revolution”. Even the members of th(
Communist Party in Ukraine were not free from accusations o
nationalism, and one after another, prominent communists weri
purged and liquidated. It suffices to say that, for example, all primi
ministers of the Ukrainian SSR (1921-39) were liquidated. Mam
leading Ukrainian communists, such as Mykola Skrypnyk and Mykaol;
Khvylovy, committed suicide rather than face a trial of which thx
result was a foregone conclusion.

With “building socialism in one country”, industrialisation ax
collectivisation of agriculture, the policy of Ulcrainisation was stop
ped by the Soviet regime, and the policy of Russification reintroduced
followed by the arrest, exile and execution of Ukrainians er
masse. The history of the Ukrainian people during the period betweei
1929 and 1941 is one of the most tragic in the chronicle of man’:
oppression of man throughout the ages. In the years 1930-39 th<
Bolsheviks annihilated an entire intellectual class: scholars, writers
artists, military men, teachers, clergymen — people who forme«
the highest stratum of the nation. Their list is endless, as endless g
the Ukrainian tragedy. Among all these tortured leaders of Ukrainiai
art, literature, theatre, science, there were repeated, many grea
names and men of undoubted talent. The action of the exterminatioi
of the Ukrainian people can be compared in its colossal proportioi
only with the Nazi holocaust of the Jews. Before the eyes of th
civilized world, more than seven million Ukrainian peasants died ii
the terrible death of a government imposed famine in 1931-33.

In Poland, Ukrainians were denied the autonomy that the Polisl
government had agreed to in an international treaty and that thk
Polish Parliament had decided to grant. The life of the Ukrainiai
people under Polish rule consisted of an unceasing, desperate struggli
against oppression and discrimination. Resistance to the Polish regimi
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found its most radical expression in the revolutionary acts of the
Ukrainian Military Organisation (UVO) and, later, of the Organisa-
tion of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN), both under the leadership of
Col. Evhen Konovalets. He was assassinated by a Soviet agent in
1938.

The frontiers of the Ukrainian SSR were extended by the annexa-
tion of Western Ukrainian lands (Galicia, Volhynia, Polissia) after
Soviet intervention in Poland in 1939 and by the annexation of
Northern Bukovyna and parts of Bessarabia in 1940. In 1945, Czecho-
slovakia ceded Carpatho-Ukraine to the USSR, which on March 15
1939, proclaimed its independence under the presidency of Msgr.
Augustine Voloshyn (died in a Soviet prison). Soon after Hun-
garian troops, with the approval of Germany and Italy, marched
into the country, overcame a gallant resistance by the Carpathian
Sich (militia), and annexed Carpatho-Ukraine to Hungary. In 1944,
Soviet armies re-occupied Carpatho-Ukraine.

The incident with Carpatho-Ukraine in 1939 gives the clue to the
date when Hitler and Stalin reached a preliminary understanding.
The Soviet-Nazi Pact of August 23, 1939, induced Hitler to start
World War Il, but also enabled Stalin to seize Western Ukraine, to
attack Finland, to annex Northern Bukovyna and Bessarabia, and
to occupy Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania, all with Hitler’'s consent.

In 1941, Hitler had to make his most important decision in the
whole war. He had either to reach a complete understanding with
Soviet Russia and allow her penetration into Turkey and the Balkans,
or to attack her and check the steady growth of Russia’s military
strength, which was becoming a serious threat to the Third Reich.
Hitler chose the latter. On June 22, 1941, the German armies suddenly
attacked the Soviet Union on a wide front.

It was an ideal time for Hitler to spawn a powerful national libera-
tion movement against Moscow, which could have knocked the
Soviets out of the war. The spirit of the revolt against Red Muscovite
domination prevailed in Ukraine, Byelorussia, Lithuania, Latvia,
Estonia, and in the Caucasus and Turkestan. It is no exaggeration:
3,6000,000 oficers and soldiers of the Red Army surrendered to the
Germans during the first seven and a half months. They refused to
fight for Stalin’s hated tyranny and offered their services to fight for
the liberation of their countries.

Despite all bitter experiences with Nazi Germany, in 1945 the
Western Allies found at least 800,000 former Soviet POW'’s who
served with the German Army and 100,000 who served in the Navy
and Luftwaffe.

Hitler and his clique rejected the offered hand of the non-Russian
peoples and rejected all constructive policy in the East. They dreamed
of the total destruction of “inferior” peoples and of transforming a
conquered Ukraine into the Lebensraum of the German master race.
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It is understandable that the Ukrainians looked upon the war a
another opportunity to realize their dream of an independen
Ukraine. On June 30, 1941, the Organisation of Ukrainian Nationalist
(OUN) under the leadership of Stepan Bandera (who was murderei
in Munich, on October 15, 1959, by a Soviet agent), proclaimed ii
Lviv the re-establishment of the Ukrainian state and ordered th
mobilisation of Ukrainian forces against Moscow. A Nationa
Assembly was created, and a provisional Ukrainian government wa
established with Yaroslav Stetsko as its Prime Minister. The Naz
reaction to this was swift and revealing. A special Einsatzgruppi
arrested Bandera and Stetsko and put them into the Nazi concentra
tion camp in Sachsenhausen. Many other Ukrainian nationalists wen
arrested or shot. Ukraine was divided, and parts of the Ukrainiai
territories were incorporated into different Nazi satrapies: Galicii
to Frank’s General Gouvernement, Transnistria with Odessa ti
Rumania, and from the rest of Ukraine a Reichskommissariat o
Ukraine was formed under the notoriously cruel Reichskommissa:
Erich Koch, “The Hangman of Ukraine”.

Disillusioned, the Ukrainian people turned to guerrilla warfan
against the Germans. The most important group was the Ukrainiai
Insurgent Army (UPA) formed in 1942 from different undergroum
groups. By 1943, the UPA was in substantial control of Volhynia
Polissia, and the Carpathian mountains, while the Germans held onb
the towns and with difficulty maintained movement on the principa
roads.

The UPA was heartily supported by the entire Ukrainian people
The OUN provided the underground state apparatus for the UPA
including military training camps, hospitals, schools, and fores
administration. The total number of persons involved in the move
ment, including medical, administrative, and instructional personnel
was in the hundreds of thousands. By July 1944, the Supremi
Ukrainian Liberation Council (UHVR) was established. Under thi
command of Gen. Roman Shukhevych (nom de guerre of Tara;
Chuprynka) the UPA entered into the new period of Soviet occupa
tion which began in 1944.

By July 1944, all of Ukraine was reconquered by the Red Army
Under the command of Gen. Taras Chuprynka the UPA challenge!
the Soviet Union, Poland, and Czecho-Slovakia, all of whom in 194
concluded a tripartite treaty to combat the UPA. Facing the victoriou,
armies at their peak strength, the UPA stood its ground until 1953
for eight years after the conclusion of World War Il. Yet some report,
mention UPA activity in 1956, 1959, and in 1961. In the opinion o
Prof. John A. Armstrong, Western Ukraine “became the seat of thi
strongest anti-soviet guerilla force which has ever developed”.

However, the most curious aftermath of the UPA developed ii
the concentration camps of the USSR in 1953-56 — the strikes an<
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uprisings of the political prisoners, consisting mostly of UPA and
OUN fighters. Over 40,000 prisoners of many nationalities, often
under the leadership of Ukrainians, took part in the uprisings, which
were suppressed by the Soviets, using all kinds of weapons, including
tanks. There is today considerable literature in the West on the
strikes and uprisings in the Soviet Gulag Archipelago and Alexander
Solzhenitsyn allots much space to them in the third volume of his
Gulag Archipelago. Names of localities where the strikes and up-
risings took place, Vorkuta, Norilsk, Kingir, Tayshet, became familiar
throughout the world. In 1955, letters from Ukrainian political
prisoners, written on linen, were smuggled by German POWs into
the West and were published by The National Review in New York.
Despite their more or less bloody suppression, the strikes and up-
risings in the Gulag Archipelago influenced the policy of the Soviet
leadership, which under Khrushchev entered the paths of “destalin-
isation” and mass rehabilitation of the prisoners of camps, millions
of whom were freed in 1956. The strikes and uprisings also brought
about the polarisation of Soviet leadership, which since these
fateful years has been divided into those who favour and those who
resist the liberalisation of the Soviet regime, or, in other words,
groups of anti-Stalinists and Stalinists. Brezhnev's clique represents
a neo-Stalinist, centralist faction. This polarisation, however, does
not augur well for the Soviet regime.

Unlike in 1917, today’'s Ukraine is a fully developed country with
an abundance of natural and industrial resources, with its cadres of
specialists in all fields. It is a country of total literacy. Yet despite
these facts, today’s Ukraine remains an area of turmoil and dissatis-
faction, characterized often by foreign observers as the “soft under-
belly” of the powerful Soviet Union. Indeed, ferment in Ukraine is a
reaction to long-standing grievances, such as a disregard of the
regime for constitutional rights, economic exploitation, resettlement
of Russians in Ukraine, “voluntary” deportations of Ukrainians from
Ukraine, Russification policies, repression, and discrimination of the
Ukrainian language and culture. But, nevertheless, it is interesting
to point out that the spokesmen of the Ukrainian dissent movement
are young people, born and educated in the USSR, in some cases
members of the Communist Party or Komsomol. There is undeniably
an ambition among the young dissenters in Ukraine to take an active
part in governing their country as a genuinely separate republic, not
as a mere administrative unit of the Soviet Union. Leonid Plyushch,
a Ukrainian dissenter who was held in the Dnipropetrovsk prison
psychiatric ward and later was freed and emigrated to the West,
while declaring himself a “neo-Marxist”, nevertheless strongly
defended the conception of an independent Ukraine in his interviews
with the representatives of the Western press.

The Ukrainian dissent movement broke into the open with the works
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of the poets who were called shestydesyatnyky (poets of the sixties)
Among the poets who showed continued resistance to the Soviel
regime was Vasyl Symonenko, who died prematurely from cancel
at the age of twenty-eight. His works circulated clandestinely and
became the object of a cult among Ukrainian youth.

The second half of the 1960's saw the culmination of the Ukrainian
dissent movement and the peak of samvydav (samizdat) activity.
Much of it took the form of letters and petitions signed by various
groups of intellectuals, professionals, and working-class men and
women. Many major writers emerged at that time: Vyacheslav
Chornovil, Ivan Svitlychny, Ivan Dzyuba, Valentyn Moroz, Yevhen
Sverstyuk, Mykhaylo Osadchy, and others. A writer who occupies a
special place in this group and has now received wide international
recognition is Valentyn Moroz. In 1972, with the demise of Petro
Shelest, the Communist Party chief in Ukraine and member of the
ruling centre in Moscow, the second wave of arrests of Ukrainian
dissenters began. Recently some 1,000 Ukrainians were arrested and
tried for “anti-Soviet propaganda”.

The great problem during the coming decade is how the authorities
in Moscow are going to respond to the growing challenge of a many-
sides resistence movement in Ukraine and in other borderlands. All
the signs are that, like their tsarist predecessors, they will continue
to answer with police repression and concentration camps. Even so,
during the coming decade, unrest among the non-Russian nations
comprising the Soviet Union will increase and will certainly be an
important element in Soviet internal and external policy.
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UKRAINE: A SOVEREIGN AND INDEPENDENT
STATE? A JURIDICAL APPROACH

Soviet political leaders, diplomats and jurists maintain that the
Soviet Republics are independent and sovereign states. On the basis
of this claim, Andrei Gromyko, then the Ambassador to the United
States, made his initial request at the Dumbarton Oaks Conference
(1944) to seat the sixteen Union Republics in the projected world
organisation. At both Yalta (1945) and San Francisco (1945), Moscow
cited the constitutional amendments of February, 1944,1as proof that
the Republics were independent in foreign affairs and therefore could
qualify as founding members of the UN. However, the entry of only
Ukraine and Byelorussia into the international organisation spelled
out an obvious inconsistency in the juridical position, for one could
legitimately ask why the remaining Republics, which possess no
more and no fewer constitutional rights, were excluded from UN
membership. Professor Dallin notes that:

‘Moscow has apparently not bean bothered by the illogical situation that
led to the separate membership and dual representation of two republics
(by their own missions and by the USSR), while the remaining “sister

. }& -On 1 February, 1944, the Supreme Soviet amended the USSR Constitution by adding to
it Articles 18a and 18b which read respectively: ‘Each Union Republic has the right to enter
into direct relations with foreign states, to conclude agreements, and exchange diplomatic
and consular representatives with them’; ‘Each Union Republic has its own Republican
military formations’. Appropriate amendments were introduced into the republican
constitutions, including the Ukrainian. Istoria sovetskoii konstitutsii: sbornik dokumen-
tov, 1917-1957, Moscow, 1957, 405, 406.

The terms ‘sovereignty’ and ‘independence’ although sometimes used interchangably,
do not have the same meaning. According to one writer ‘sovereignty of a State is its
supreme power over its territory and inhabitants, as well as its independence of any
external authority’. Marek St Korowicz, Introduction to International Law. The Hague,
1959, 23. The same author says that ‘independence does not mean sovereignty, it implies
sovereignty. ... It is a negative concept: the State is independent of any other state,
and may not receive orders from anyone. Soverelgnt%/ ... is _a positive concépt expressing
the idea of what the State is authorized to do, and of what is its legal competence’. Ibid.,
8. Both ‘sovereignty’ and ‘independence’ may have either legal or political connotations;
that is, there is legal and political sovereignty as well as legal and political independence.
Both sovereignty and independence may be [imited or reduced; there are states not fully
or only partially sovereign, not fully or only partially independent. .

As for the Soviet concept of sovereignty, according to Vyshinsky, ‘sovereignty means
the supremacy of state authority, by virtue of which that authority appears unlimited
and autonomous within the land "and independent in foreign relationsips’. Andrey
Vyshinsky, ed. The Law of the Soviet State, translated from the Russian by Hugh W.
Babb with an introduction by John N. Hazard, New York, 1948 27576. Proféssor Levin
follows Vyshinsky and defines sovereignty as ‘the supremacy of state authority inside
the country and its independence from whatever other "authority in international
relations’. D. B. Levin, Osnovnyie problemy sovremennogo_r_nezhd_unarodnogo prava, ed.
D. A. Haidukova Moscow, 1958, 200. It seems that the definition given by Korowicz does
not differ much (in words, anyway) from the one presented by Soviet writers.
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republics” — legally on an equal footing with the Ukraine and Byelorussia
— have only the Soviet Union as their spokesman’.2

Be that as it may, before examining the claim about the sovereignty and
independence of the Ukraine we must answer an even more basic question:
is Ukraine a state?3

Ukraine is one of the Republics of the Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics, described by the Soviet Constitution as a federation.2
David Zlatopol'sky points out that:

2) Alexander Dallin, The Soviet Union at the United Nations: an inquiry into Soviet
methods and objectives, New York, 1962, 107.

3) By the word ‘state’ is meant ‘a people permanently occupyin% territory, bound
together by common laws into a body politic, possessing an organized government, and

capable of conducting relations with other states ... States, generally speaking, may be
broadly classified as sovereign or independent states and as dependent or semi-sovereign
states’. Green Haywood Hackworth, Digest of International Law, |, Washington, 1949, 47.

Charles Cheney Hyde, dealing with the problem of the capability of a state to have
relations with “other states, wrote that ‘there must be an assertion of right through
governmental agencies to enter into relations with the outside world. The exercise of
this right need not be free from external restraint. Independence is not essential, It is
the possession and use of the right to enter into foreign relations, whether with or
without restriction, which distinguishes States of international law from the large
number of political entities given that name and which are wholly lacking in such a
privilege'. Charles Cheney Hyde, quoted in Hackworth, op cit., 47-48.

4) Article 13 of both Union and Ukrainian Constitutions speaks of the USSR as a Union
FSetate.bl_ln the same Article the word ‘federal’ is used only in reference to the Russian
epublic.

What is a federation? Comparing federation with confederation, one Soviet scholar
notes that ‘in a federation there are several states united in one new state... In a
confederation two or several states, although united with one another, do not form one
new state. In short, a federation is a Union State, while a confederation is a union of
states'. (Italics in the original.) D. L. Zlatopol'sky, Gosudarstvennoe ustroistvo SSR,
Moscow, 1980, 6.

What is a Soviet federation? Speaking about ‘the political form of the state organisation
of the USSR’, Vyshinsky states that ‘the Soviet Union State is a federative state. Both
by its_class essence and by its organisational structure it is sharply distinguished from
all existing forms of federation, confederation, unitarianism formerly or now existin
in the capitalist world. It is a type of state without a precedent in history. It emerge
from the problems of the worker class dictatorship in a multi-national country. It is the
realisation and exf)re_ssion of the general will and mutual confidence of the_ toilers of
nations with equal rights. The nationality principle at the basis of the creation of the
Soviet Union State Is the distinctive characteristic of the Soviet type federation’.
Vyshinsky, op cit., 228-29,

Edward Mousley, a Western jurist, defines federalism as ‘that principle of union of
political societies” called states wherebt/) the central or federal government operates for
particular purposes directly on the subjects of the component states and not indirectly
on them through the medium of the states united in the Federal Union, the authority of
such states, each over its_citizens, being confined to all remaining matters’. E. Mousley,
‘The Meaning of Federalism’, Federal Union, ed. M. Chaning-Pearce, London, 1940,
Some Western scholars express doubt about the Soviet Union being a trulely federal state.
Professor Hazard says that ‘the Soviet federation has some special characteristics. It is
not as loose a federation as that of the United States, and by no means as decentralized
as Canada or Australia’. John N. Hazard,, The Soviet System of Government, Chicago,
1960, 76. The author thinks that the powers of the Soviet Republics within the federation
are quite limited. Ibid., 87-88. Wheare regards the Soviet state as quasi-federal. He is of
the opinion that ‘if the full powers conferred by Article 14 of the Constitution upon
the All-Union Government are exercised in practice — and there seems every reason
why they should be — very little of the federal principle remains in the government of
the” USSR’. K. C. Wheare, Federal Government, 3rd ed., London, 1953 28. Professor
Korowicz writes that the USSR ‘is a federal state of a special type, because it has many
legal features of a confederation of States, and even more features of a _highle/ centralized
State ... The USSR is neither a confederation nor _a federation; is it virtually a unitary
State’. (Italics in the original.) Korowicz, op cit.,, 279-80. Towster, whose opinion in part
is similar to _Korowicz’s claims that ‘in its federal features the USSR resembles more
the United States than the British Commonwealth, but by written constitution and
unwritten attitude it has also some confederative and strongly unitary characteristics.
The nationality aspect of Soviet federal arrangements, which” distinguishes the USSR
from all other federal states, constitutes a unique contribution to political theory and
practice’. Julian Towster, Political Power in the USSR 1917-1947; the theory and structure
of government in the Soviet State, New York; 1948 370.
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‘the peculiarity of the USSR as a federal state consists in the fact that its
subjects are sovereign states; sovereignty of the members of the federation
stipulates the principles of their unification in one state and their rights as
subjects of the federation’*

It follows from this statement that the Ukrainian Republic, in
spite of the fact that it is a constituent part of the Union, is a
sovereign state. Leaving the question of sovereignty aside, what
ground is there for considering the Ukrainian SSR a state at all? For
a legal answer to this query one must look at both the All-Union and
the Ukrainian Constitutions.

The first Article of the Ukrainian Constitution states that ‘the
Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic is a socialist state of workers and
peasants’. The territory, one of the essential elements of statehood, is
referred to in Articles 6, 15 and 18. Another indispensable element of
statehood, the people or its citizenry, is mentioned in Article 17 and
in Chapter VIII, entitled ‘The Basic Rights and Duties of Citizens’
(Articles 98-113). The existence of the third necessary element of state-
hood, the government or state power, is asserted in Articles 3 and 19;
in Chapter 111, ‘The Highest Organs of State Power of the Ukrainian
Soviet Socialist Republic’ (Articles 20-38); in Chapter IV, ‘The Organs
of State Administration of the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic’
(Articles 39-53); and in Chapter V, ‘The Local Organs of State Power’
(Articles 54-79). The capability of maintaining relations with foreign
states, which may be taken as the fourth and last element of state-
hood, is enumerated in Articles 15b, 19zl, 30j, 30k and 43h. Consitu-

tionally speaking — and the Ukrainian Constitution is the fun-
damental law of the land, juridically determining the structure of its
society — the Ukrainian Republic appears to be a state. However,

such a conclusion is premature, for the Ukrainian SSR is not a
separate entity, but a part, a member of the Soviet ‘federation’. In
order to ascertain the true nature of this entity one cannot possibly
disregard the relevant provisions of the Union Constitution.

It appears that Article 6 (identical with the same Article of the
Ukrainian Constitution) ascribes the entire land or territory of the
USSR, including that of the Ukraine, to the Union state. It is the
property of the Union. This can only mean that one of the intrinsic
qualities of the Ukrainian state — and it cannot be otherwise in any
federation — not only belongs to Ukraine, but also to the USSR.
Such a territorial status of the Ukrainian Republic, the double owner-
ship of land, imposes restrictions on the Ukrainian state. Article 21
stipulates that ‘uniform Union citizenship is established for the
citizens of the USSR. Each citizen of the Union Republic is a citizen
of the USSR’. It follows from this that a citizen of the Ukraine is a5

5) Zlatopol'sky, op cit., 113 (Italics in the original.)
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citizen of the Soviet Union and this is stated explicitly in Article 17
of the Ukrainian Constitution. But the reverse is also true: a citizen of
the USSR, residing on the territory of the Ukrainian Republic,
becomes its citizen, as, again Article 17 of the Ukrainian Constitution
declares. If the citizenry of the Republic is of such a fluid nature,
faults must arise about the permanency of its population, thus
contributing instability to one of the essential ingredients of statehood.

The All-Union Constitution, in Chapters 1V, ‘The Higher Organs of
State Power in the Union Republics’ (Articles 57-63), and VI, ‘The
Organs of State Administration of the Union Republics’ (Articles
79-88), refers to machinery of government of the Republics on their
respective territories, but this Constitution makes it clear that, in
addition to the Republican governments, there is an All-Union
government, whose authority extends to all the Soviet Republics. For
example, Article 19 states that ‘the laws of the USSR have the same
force on the territory of all Union Republics’. Articles 30 and 67 state
respectively that ‘the highest organ of state power in the USSR is
the Supreme Soviet of the USSR’ and that ‘decisions and orders of
the Council of Ministers of the USSR are binding throughout the
territory of the USSR’. In the case of Ukraine, these constitutional
provisions simply mean that, side by side with a Ukrainian govern-
ment exercising its authority over its own territory, there is another
government, that of the Union, which rules over the same territory.
In fact, there are two legitimate governments in the Ukrainian
Republic.

Finally, Article 18a provides that ‘each Union Republic has the
right to enter into direct relations with foreign states, to conclude
agreements and exchange diplomatic and consular representatives
with them’. However, this capacity of the Republics to conduct
foreign relations is circumscribed by that section of Article 14a which
ascribes to the jurisdiction of the Union ‘representation of the USSR
in international relations, conclusion, ratification and denunciation
of treaties of the USSR with other states .. .. It is obvious, that, since
the Soviet Republics are integral parts of the USSR, the latter, by
directing its relations with foreign countries, also directs the external
relations of the Union Republics. Applied to Ukraine, such a constitu-
tional arrangement spells out the double jurisdiction over the
management of its foreign affairs; in other words, there are two
authorities in the Ukrainian SSR capable of guiding its relations with
foreign states.

Taking into account the stipulation of both the Ukrainian and
Union Constitutions, the Ukrainian SSR seems to be legally a peculiar
kind of state, a state sui generis,6 within the Soviet-type federation.

6) The constitutional status of all the other Soviet Republics is the same.
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Needless to say, this peculiarity amounts to a legal deficiency.

Can this type of state be sovereign and independent? Part of Article
13 of the Ukrainian Constitution makes it clear that ‘outside of
Article 14 of the USSR Constitution the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist
Republic exercises state power independently, fully preserving its
sovereign rights’. Article 15 of the Union Constitution says that ‘the
sovereignty of the Union Republics is limited only in the spheres
defined in Article 14 of the Constitution of the USSR. Outside of
these spheres each Union Republic exercises state power indepen-
dently. The USSR protects the sovereign rights of the Union
Republics’. Thus the significance of Article 14 cannot be overlooked.
According to it, a wide variety of powers belong to the jurisdiction
of the Union, including the following:

‘The representation of the USSR in international relations, the conclusion,
ratification and denunciation of treaties of the USSR with other states,
the establishment of general procedures governing the relations of the
Union Republics with foreign states; questions of war and peace; control over
observance of the Constitution of the USSR, and the insuring of the con-
formity of the Constitutions of the Union Republics with the Constitution
of the USSR; the confirmation of alterations of boundaries between Union
Republics; the organisation of the defence of the USSR, the determination
of directing principles governing the organisation of the military formations
of the Union Republics; foreign trade on the basis of state monopoly;
approval of the consolidated state budget of the USSR and of the report
on its fulfilment; the determination of taxes and revenues which go to the
Union, Republican and local budgets’.

All these matters are within the juridical competence of the USSR.

Notwithstanding these limitations imposed on the Ukrainian SSR
by Article 14 of the All-Union Constitution, the various provisions of
the Ukrainian counterpart show definite signs of sovereignty and
independence. Its own Article 14 speaks about the right of secession
of the Ukrainian Republic from the Union. Article 15 states that the
Republic’s territory may not be altered without its consent. Article
15a and 15b, respectively, point out that the Ukraine ‘has its own
military formations’ as well as ‘the right to enter into direct relations
with foreign states, conclude agreements and exchange represen-
tatives with them’. In Article 17 we learn that ‘every citizen of the
Ukrainian SSR is a citizen of the USSR. The citizens of all other
Union Republics enjoy on the territory of the Ukrainian SSR all the
rights of citizens of the Ukrainian SSR’. The jurisdiction of the
Republic is enumerated in Article 19 which declares that ‘its highest
organ of state power and organs of state administration’ are charged
inter alia with ‘(@) the establishment of the Constitution of the
Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic and control over its observance;

(w) conferring the rights of citizenship of the Ukrainian SSR;
(z) the establishment of the manner of organizing the military
formations of the Ukrainian SSR; (z) the establishment of the
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representation of the Ukrainian SSR in international relations’.
Article 43 stipulates that the Council of Ministers of Ukraine, among
other things, ‘directs the organisation of the military formations of
the Ukrainian SSR’ (43g) and ‘exercises direction in the sphere of
relations of the Ukrainian SSR with foreign states, following the
generally established procedure by the USSR in mutual relations of
the Union Republics with foreign states’ (43h). Somewhat intricate
and lengthy but important is Article 50 which asserts that:

‘the Ministers of the Ukrainian SSR issue within the competence of
appropriate Ministries orders and instructions on the basis and in
pursuance of the acting laws of the USSR and the Ukrainian SSR, of the
decisions and directions of the Council of Ministers of the Ukrainian SSR,
of the orders and instructions of the Union-Republican Ministers of the
USSR, and verify their execution’.

The right to secede from the Union (Article 17 of the USSR
Constitution) strongly suggests the voluntary nature of the Soviet
multi-national state. Soviet writers maintain that this right cannot
be abrogated or changed or limited by the Union.7 The right to with-
draw from the USSR ‘means that for each union republic a practical
possibility is created to freely express its will about the form of its
statehood, and the will of the people within the Soviet Federation
constitutes the basis of sovereignty of nations’.8 Applying the con-
stitutional criterion only, the right of secession contained in the Con-
stitution of the USSR and the Ukrainian SSR looks impressive and
greatly enhances the argument in favour of Ukrainian independence
and sovereignty.

However, when one examines the section of the Criminal Code of
the Ukrainian SSR, under the heading ‘Crimes against the State’, the
value of the secession clause takes on a different meaning. Article 56
of this section, entitled ‘Treason to the Fatherland’ unequivocally
states that a citizen of the USSR is faced with severe punishment if
he acts against ‘the territorial inviolability’ of the Union. An identical
declaration is made by ‘The Law of the USSR concerning penal
responsibility for the Crimes against the State’ (Article 1).91n a text-
book on Soviet criminal law it is explained that an attack upon the
inviolability of the territory of the USSR constitutes an act of treason

7) A. P. Taranov, Osnhovnl pryncypy konstytutsyi Ukrains'koi RSR, Kyiv, 1962, 106
Zlatopol'sky, op cit., 155 This assertion notwithstanding, Vyshinsky wrote that ‘an
amendment to the draft of the Constitution of the USSR, introduced while it was being
considered by the entire people, proposed to exclude Article 17 from the draft. Stalin
pointed out in his report at the Extra-ordinary Eighth All-Union Congress of Soviets
that this %oposal was wrong and should not be adopted by the Congress’. Vyshinsky,
op. cit.,, 285 It is conceivable, therefore, that at some future date, an amendment to
annul Article 17, which would abrogate the right of secession, could be successfully
proposed.

8 Taranov, op cit., 106

1§ li‘%olovnoe zakonodatel'stvo Soiuza SSR i zoiuznykh Respublik, vol. I, Moscow, 1963
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against the fatherland.XllOne must conclude that while the Constitu-
tions of the Ukrainian Republic and the Union permit Ukraine to
withdraw from the Soviet ‘federation’, Soviet criminal law, operating
throughout the USSR including Ukraine, prohibits under severe
penalties even the advocacy of any such undertaking. This state of
affairs is contradictory and under it the right of secession is a dead
letter.

The constitutional provision which explicitly denies to the Union
jurisdiction over the alteration of the territory of the Ukrainian SSR
without its consent, seems to be a strong legal safeguard of Ukrainian
independence and sovereignty. Taranov explains:

‘Territory is one of the integral features of the nation that formed the
union republic, and together with this, the material basis of its indepen-
dence. Hence it follows that the territory of any union republic may not
be changed without its consent. The Union’s jurisdiction as regards the
territory of the union republics amounts only to confirmation of the decision
of the union republics’ organs about the border changes among them’.u

In the last sentence the author clearly refers to Article 14e of the
All-Union Constitution and it should be pointed out that such a
provision limits the right of Ukraine as regards its own territorial
changes. As one jurist phrased it: ‘The territory of the republics may
not be changed without their consent, but it also may not be changed
without the consent of the USSR for the confirmation of the border
changes among the republics belongs to the USSR ... 12

The proviso in the Ukrainian Constitution which asserts the exist-
ence of ‘Republican military formations'l3 is a clear and powerful
manifestation of Ukrainian independence and sovereignty. Yet the
paragraphs of Articles 19 and 43, mentioned above, which deal with
the organisation of Ukrainian military affairs, besides being vague,
are the only ones in the whole Constitution that concern themselves
with the armed forces of Ukraine. The Ukrainian Constitution is
silent on such important matters as the institution of military ranks,
the appointment and removal of the high command of its armed
forces, the proclamation of general or partial mobilization — matters
that belong to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Soviet of the Union,
specified in Article 49 of its Constitution. Since it is the Union which
determines the ‘directing principles governing the organisation of
military formations of the Union Republics’, and since it also ‘directs
the general organisation of the Armed Forces of the country’ (part of

10) Sovetskoe ugolovnoe pravo, Moscow, 1962, 23.
1L Taranov, op cit, 104
UI%ZV L%sy Derzhavnyl status USSR ta inshykh soiuznykh Respublik SSSR’, Vilna
raina,
Article 18b of the All-Union Constitution says that ‘each Union Republic has its own
Republican military formations’.
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Article 68e), the clauses in the Ukrainian Constitution concerning
the organisation of military formations of the Republic do not amount
to anything more than a declaration of power subordinated to the
USSR jurisdiction. Since, again, the question of war is outside the
constitutional rights of the Ukrainian SSR, it is hard to conceive of
any independent action on the part of the Republic’s military forces.

A revealing statement is made by Article 112 of the Ukrainian
Constitution: ‘Universal military service is the law. Military service
in the ranks of the Armed Forces of the USSR is the honourable duty
of the citizens of the Ukrainian SSR’. This provision makes no refer-
ence to the armed forces of Ukraine but only to the forces of the
Union, as if the former, contrary to Article 15a, did not exist at all.
The logic of this significant constitutional omission becomes clearer
when one reads part of Article 68e of the Union Constitution which
stipulates that the All-Union Council of Ministers ‘fixes the annual
contingent of citizens to be called up for military service ...’. Since
according to Article 67 of the Union Constitution ‘decisions and orders
of the Council of Ministers of the USSR are binding throughout the
territory of the USSR’,4 and since no provision corresponding to that
part of Article 68e is to be found in the Constitution of the Ukrainian
SSR, it is clear that, juridically speaking, only the organs of the
Union are empowered to deal with the maintenance of armed forces.
In conclusion, one must say that the constitutional claim concerning
Ukraine’'s military establishment appears to be extremely slim.15

One of the strongest legal arguments for regarding Ukraine as an
independent and sovereign state within the limits of the ‘federation’
is supplied by Article 15b, supported by Articles 19zl, 30j and 30k1G
of the Ukrainian Constitution. Article 15b (Article 18a of the Union
Constitution) states the right of Ukraine to be a member of the
international community, that is, the right to participate directly in
international discourse among states; it gives the right separately to
conclude international agreements; and finally, it allows the Republic
to send its diplomatic and consular representatives to foreign states
as well as to receive foreign diplomatic and consular missions at home.
These are, of course, broad juridical powers suggesting strongly that

14) See also Articles 50 and 51 of the Ukrainian Constitution, which, among other things,
state the subordination of the Ukrainian Ministries to the Union Ministries.

15 It is curious that both Taranov and Zlatopol'sky speak about the rights of the
Republics to have their own military formations rather than about the existence of such
formations, distinctly mentioned by "the All-Union and the Union Republic Constitutions.
See Taranov, op. cit., 108 and Zlatopol'sky, 159, 166. In fact the Ukrainian military forma-
tions were never created.

16}]Articles_ 30j and 30k affirm respectively that the Praesidium of the Supreme Council
of the Ukrainian Republic ‘appoints and recalls plenipotentiary representatives of the
Ukrainian SSR to foreign states’ and ‘receives the letters of credence and recall of the
diplomatic representatives of foreign states accredited to it*.
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Ukraine has an international legal personality or is a subject of
international law.

Article 19zl, 30j and 30k state in more specific and functional terms
the competence of the Ukrainian SSR in foreign affairs, stressing the
matter of Ukrainian representation abroad and foreign diplomatic
representation at home. It should be noted that no specific reference
is made in these articles to the competence of the Ukrainian organs
of state power and administration regarding international agreements,
but it may be argued that no special mention is required in the light
of Article 15b, which treats this important matter. If one were to
take into consideration only the above-mentioned constitutional
provisions, overlooking other clauses, or their absence, in the Ukrai-
nian Constitution and the decisive Article of the Union Constitution,
then juridically speaking, Soviet claims for Ukrainian independence
and sovereignty would appear valid in this context.

But after further studying the pertinent stipulations of both con-
stitutions, a different and less optimistic conclusion appears
inevitable. First of all, Article 43h of the Ukrainian Constitution
declares in unequivocal terms the subordination of the Ukrainian
Council of Ministers to the USSR in the exercise of its leadership in
relations with foreign states. Also Articles 50 and 51 which discuss
the subordination of the Ukrainian Ministries including the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs, to the Council of Ministers and Ministries of the
USSR, plainly reveal the existing constitutional relationship between
Ukraine and the Union in the field of international affairs.17 This
relationship is made even more vividly manifested in the provisions
of the Union Constitution.

Article 14a, which assigns to the Union the ‘representation of the
USSR in international relations’, including the representation of
Ukraine as one of the constituent members of the ‘federation’, points
out the double jurisdiction of the Union and the Ukrainian SSR over
foreign affairs.18 The same Article asserts that it is the Union which
establishes the rules to be followed by the Soviet Republics, includ-
ing Ukraine, in their relations with foreign states, again demon-
strating the supremacy of Union jurisdiction over the Ukrainian
Republic. This Article also empowers the Union to conclude, ratify
and denounce treaties of the USSR, Ukraine included, with foreign
states, which besides indicating double jurisdiction in the matter of
making treaties reveals two additional important items in the Union’s
juridical arsenal. Reference is made to the processes of ratification

17) Texts on Soviet administrative law clearly state that the Ministries of Foreign
Affairs of the Union Republics follow the direction of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of
the USSR. See V. A. Vlasov and S. S. Studenikin, Sovietslcoe administrativhoe pravo,
Moscow, 1989, 223; also Administrativhoe pravo, ed. A. E. Lynev, Moscow, 1967, 526.

18) This double Jurlsdlctlon is not equal, as Article 68d of the Union Constitution shows:
‘The Council of Mlnlsters of the USSR exercises general guidance in the sphere of rela-
tions with forei states’. Corresponding provisions of the Union Constltutlon to Articles
30 and 30k of t e Ukrainian Constitution are contained in Articles 49 and
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and denunciation of treaties which, according to Article 490 of the
Union Constitution, are performed by the Praesidium of the Supreme
Soviet of the USSR. No such provisions are to be found in the Ukrai-
nian Constitution, although in practice the Supreme Council has
exercised the right of ratification.X® Constitutionally, however, the
lack of ratification and denunciation powers limits the competence
of the Ukrainian Republic with respect to international treaties.

The questions of war and peace (Article 41b of the Union Constitu-
tion), certainly very important prerogatives of any sovereign and
independent state, belong to the exclusive jurisdiction of the USSR.
Article 49m of its Constitution stipulates that, ‘in the intervals
between sessions of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR’ its Praesidium
‘proclaims a state of war in the event of military attack on the USSR,
or when necessary to fulfil international treaty obligations concerning
mutual defence against aggression’. Discussing Ukraine’s lack of
constitutional powers to deal with the problem of war and peace,
Academician Koretsky writes:

‘The Constitution of the Ukrainian SSR does mention the right of the
Ukrainian SSR to declare war. The Constitution of the USSR ascribes to
the jurisdiction of the USSR the questions of war and peace. .. This follows
from the basic aims of the voluntary union of equal Soviet Socialist Repub-
lics created for mutual aid, including defence (Article 13 of the Constitution
of the USSR and the Ukrainian SSR).

‘An attack on one of the Republics would mean an attack on the entire
Soviet Union. The Ukrainian SSR, together with the Soviet Union,
participated in the Great Patriotic War, 1941-1945, and in the conclusion
of peace treaties. But the Ukrainian SSR (as well as other Union Republics)
cannot separately solve questions of war and peace. Only in the solidarity
and unity of all Union Republics lies the guarantee of security, integrity
and sovereignty of each Union Republic and the Soviet Union’.20

This reasoning notwithstanding, the sovereignty and independence
of the Ukrainian Republic is sharply reduced in law by the simple
fact that its Constitution is dificient in matters of war and peace.

The jurisdiction of the Ukrainian SSR, as specified by Article 19w
of its Constitution, contains the right to confer citizenship of the
Ukrainian Republic. This right appears to be still another juridical

19 In 1947 the Ukrainian SSR ratified the peace treaties with Bulgaria, Italy, Rumania,
Hungary and Finland and in 1963 it also ratified the treaty prohibiting the testing of
nuclear weapons in the atmosphere, outer space and underwater. Besides treaties, many
other agreements conventions, charters, etc., have been ratified by the Ukraine. See
N. M. Ulianova, ‘Uchast Ukrains'koi RSR u mizhnarodnykh konferentsiakh i mizhna-
rodnykh dohovorakh’, Ukrains'ka Radians'ka Socialistychna Respublika, ed. M. P. Bazhan
et at.,, Kyiv, 1965 632-34. lanovsky suggests that the Constitutions of the Union Republics
should have provisions giving the Republics the right to ratify international treaties or
agreements. He also proposes that the right to denounce treaties should be included in
the Union Constitutions. See M. N. Ianovskg, ‘Sovietskie soiuznye Respubliki — polno-
pravnye subiekty mezhdunaradnogo prava’, Sovietskoe gosudarstvo i pravo, XII, 151259
A somewhat ingénious explanation regarding the absence of ratification and denunciation
powers in the Ukrainian Constitution is presented by Koretsky. He says: ‘Although the
Constitution of the Ukrainian SSR does not mention the right to conduct ratification and
denunciation of treaties, this does not mean that such a right does not exist. It is logically
connected with the right to conclude treaties’. V. M Koretsky, ‘Mizhnarodno-pravna
subiektnist’ Ukrains'kol RSR’, Ukrains'ka Socialistychna Respublika, 628

20) V. M. Koretsky, op cit.,
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guarantee of Ukrainian sovereignty. Since Article 17 of the Ukrainian
Constitution refers to a citizen of Ukraine as being also a citizen of
the USSR, bestowal of the right of citizenship by the state organs of
Ukraine would mean not only citizenship of the Ukrainian SSR, but
also of the entire Union. The conferring of citizenship on Ukrainian
territory is a matter for the Praesidium of the Supreme Council of
the Ukrainian Republic, authorized in Article 3 by the law of 19
August, 1938.2L The same article also declares that it is the Praesidium
of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR which extends citizenship of the
USSR, including Union citizenship on the territory of the Ukrainian
SSR, which makes it plain that there are two agencies on this
territory able to impart the right of citizenship.2 Such a state of
affairs limits the jurisdiction of Ukraine concerning the right to
extend citizenship, but this restriction is not the only one. According
to Article 4 of the Citizenship Law of 1938, only the Praesidium of
the Supreme Soviet of the Union can terminate the right of citizen-
ship of the USSR, including citizenship of the Ukrainian SSR, for
no such authorization is vested in the Praesidium of the Ukrainian
Supreme Council either by the law of 1938 or by the Ukrainian
Constitution.

The last point to be considered in our discussion of the constitu-
tional nature of Ukrainian sovereignty and independence is the
Ukrainian Constitution itself. According to Article 19a of this docu-
ment, the Ukrainian SSR establishes its own Constitution and the
controls over its observance. Article 127 states that it is the Supreme
Council of the Ukrainian Republic, and no other body, which enacts
amendments to the Constitution. Since the Ukrainian Constitution is
the Fundamental Law of the land, legally determining the social,
political, economic, etc., structure of the Republic, it is of the greatest
importance to know whether this basic law of Ukraine is juridically
independent of the basic law of the USSR. ‘The Union Republic’,
maintains Zlatopolsky, ‘adopts its own Constitution independently,
and also independently makes in it the necessary supplements and
amendments, which, as also the whole Constitution itself, must

21) This law is entitled ‘Citizenship of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics’ which
was passed by the Supreme Soviet of the USSR. Sbornik zakonov SSSR i ukazov
Presidiuma Verkhovnpogo Sovieta SSSR (1938 — July 1956), Moscow, 1956, 64. Article 30g
of the Ukrainian Constitution mentions the power "of the Praesidium of the Supreme
Council of the Ukrainian SSR to bestow its citizenship.

22) It is obvious that a foreigner given Union citizenship on the territory of the Ukraine
b¥ the Praesidium of the Supreme Soviet of the USSR automatically becomes a citizen
of the Ukrainian Republic.

23) It may be argued that there is still another limitation of Ukrainian juridical
sovereignty and independence here. As we have seen, Article 17 of the Ukrainian
Constitution additionally stipulates that citizens of all other Soviet Republics have the
rights of citizens of the Ukrainian SSR when thei/) are on its territory, which simply
means that they become citizens of Ukraine just by crossing its borders, without any
action on the part of the Ukrainian authorities.
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conform to the basic law of the USSR’.24 Having cited the pertinent
clauses of the All-Union Constitution, the clauses in the Ukrainian
Constitution should be scrutinized. Two articles are important here:
Article 14d, quoted above, and Article 16. The latter reads: ‘Each
Union Republic has its own Constitution, which takes account of the
specific features of the Republic and is drawn up in full conformity
with the Constitution of the USSR’. It is instructive that the Ukrai-
nian Constitution is entirely silent on the matter of its ‘full conform-
ity’ with the fundamental law of the Soviet ‘federation’, but the
illusion of the independent jurisdiction of the Ukrainian Republic in
regard to its own basic law is easily dispelled by reading the Union
counterpart. How can anyone do anything independently if one must
move within prescribed areas of activity? There is a strict legal
limitation imposed on the powers of the Ukrainian SSR to adopt and
change its own basic law, and since this law, as the name implies,
serves as the juridical groundwork for the whole state system of the
Ukrainian Republic, the conditions under which it operates singularly
restrict the formal exercise of Ukrainian sovereignty and indepen-
dence in general.5

In summary, the study of Soviet constitutional and municipal law
demonstrates that the Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, a member
of the Soviet ‘federation’, is a peculiar kind of state with sharply
limited sovereignty and independence.

Having shown the status of the Ukrainian Republic from the
standpoint of Soviet internal law, its position in the light of the law
of nations must be analysed, keeping in mind the findings of the
previous analysis. Two closely related questions must be answered:
first, whether the Ukrainian SSR is a subject of international law
and second, what legal significance, if any, is to be attached to the
presence of this Union Republic among the member states in the
United Nations Organisation?

Generally speaking, the subjects of international law or interna-
tional legal personalities are considered to be states — meaning

24) Zlatopol'sky, op cit., 163

25) It is of course possible to cite still other Articles of both the Ukrainian and Union
Constitutions to show the juridical limitations of Ukrainian sovereignty, but enough has been
said to warrant a definite” conclusion.

The argument of Soviet writers (see Taranov, op. cit.,, 109, lanovsky op. cit., 56) that
the sovereignty of Ukraine, or of the Union Republics in general, "is constitutionally
exercised — and therefore apparently enhanced — by the fact that they are represented
in the All-Union organs of government as, for example, in the Soviet of Nationalities
(Article 35 of _the_Union_Con_stitu_tionL does not, in my opinion,_in any way, change the
existing constitutional situation in the Soviet ‘federal’ state. The legal restrictions on
Ukrainian sovereignty and independence remain unaffected by the participation of
representatives of the 'Ukrainian SSR in the Union government organs.
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sovereign states.® Can Ukraine, which has been shown to be a
deficient state only partially sovereign and a member of a Soviet
‘federation’, be qualified as a subject of the Law of Nations? First, it
must be decided (assuming that the USSR constitutes a certain form
of federal state) whether a member of any federation can be regarded
as a subject of international law. Professor Korowicz says that ‘it is
generally accepted that a member-state of a federal state, whatever
may be its internal organisation and autonomy, has no international
personality, being represented in international relations by the
central government of the federal state’:Z He also points out that

‘in contradistinction to the confederation of States which is a subject of
international law as also all the States belonging to the confederation, the
federal State, and not its component parts (called States or provinces etc.),
is the exlusive subject of international law. A component part of a federal
State is not a State from the point of view of international law, and this
is explicitly provided in constitutions of federal states’.28

However, many international jurists would take exception to such
a view by arguing that the member states of a federation have a
limited international personality and therefore may be regarded as
partial subjects of international law. Patrick Ransom writes that

‘states members of a federation for many purposes enjoy the rights and
fulfil the duties of International Persons. They are, in the words of
Professor Oppenheim, “part sovereign states and they are consequently,
International Persons for some purposes only”. What these purposes are
depends on the division of powers that exist in the particular federation’.

The author illustrates the last point by citing Switzerland as a
federal state in which ‘member states are free to conclude treaties
not only between themselves, but also with foreign states in certain
specified matters’. He also mentions the United States as an example
of a federation whose members are not international personalities,
since the federal government alone excercises control over foreign

‘The classical doctrine of International Law generally regarded only civilized,
sovereign States as international persons and therefore as subjects of International Law.
The Law of Nations was defined as the body of rules governing independent States in
their relations with one another’. Kurt von Schuschnigg, International Law: an Introduc-
tion to the Law of Peace, Milwaukee, 1989, 69; ‘International law is generally defined or
described as_being applicable to relations between states. States are said to be the
subjects of international law ..., Philip C. Jessup, A Modern Law of Nations: an
Introduction, New York, 1948 15 Besides states, individuals, international organisations,
etc., are considered by many Western jurists as having an international personality.
Soviet writers as a rule maintain that only sovereign states and nations fighting for their
independence are subjects of international law. See F. |. Kozhevnikov, ed. Mezhduna-
rodnoe pravo, Moscow, 1957, 86-87; L. A. Modzhorian, Subiekty mezhdunaradnogo prava,
Moscow, 1988

27) Korowicz, op. cit., 8

28 Ibid., 277. It must be said that the USSR Constitution neither explicit(ljy nor implicitly
refers to the members of the Union (claimed by the Soviets to be a federation) as not
being states under international law.

Korowicz of course, is not the only scholar who thinks that members of a federation
cannot be treated as subjects of the law of nations. Dolan, deallng with the matter of
our concern, is of the same opinion. He relies on Josef Kunz’'s judgement (J. L. Kunz,
Die_Staatenverbindungen, Stuttgart, 1929, 664), and writes that ‘only federations and not
their members are subjects of international law .... See Edward ‘Dolan, ‘The Member-
Republics of the U.S.S.R. as Subjects of the Law of Nations’. The International and
Comparative Law Quarterly, 1V, 195, 63
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affairs. D1t is the field of external relations which seems to be decisive
in determining whether a member of a federation can be considered
as a subject of international law. ‘It will therefore be seen’, Ransome
states, ‘that, while the provisions of International Law are normally
binding on fully sovereign states only, they also regulate the actions
of states members of a federation in so far as those states retain
control over relations with foreign states’.3 Von Schuschnigg notes
that ‘in contrast to sovereign States, which are the perfect subjects
of International Law, States that are not fully sovereign, that is
dependent States, are the imperfect or partial subjects of Interna-
tional Law. They are the protectorates mandates, trusteeship
territories, and the member States of a federal Union’.3L Wesley L.
Gould maintains that in a federal state ‘the assignment of powers in
international relations, hence of international personality, is a matter
of constitutional law’. While he asserts that foreign affairs would
usually be the domain of the federal government, he nevertheless
holds that examples may be found which would show that members
of a federation retain ‘a degree of international personality’.2

Two important points emerge from this discussion: first, in some
federations members may be considered as being partial subjects of
international law, that is, as possessing an international jural per-
sonality to a limited degree only, and second, such a status is derived
from the constitutional arrangement within a federal state. The last
statement is reaffirmed by Gould when he says that ‘in respect to
both confederations and federations international law generally does
not undertake to assign degrees of personality to the union and its
members. It accepts the arrangements made by the members’.3

If we accept the view that the members of at least some federa-
tions, or the members of composite states resembling federations, are
to be recognized as having a degree of international personality and
that it is the constitutional law of a particular federation which
decides whether its members are to be subjects of international law,
we may conclude that the Ukrainian SSR is some sort of restricted
international person or is a partial subject of the law of nations. The
reason for this is quite plain: both the Union and the Ukrainian
Constitutions assert the right of Ukraine to have relations with

29) Patrick Ransome, ‘Federation and International Law’, Federal Union, 240.
30 Ibid., 240

31) Von Schuschningg, op cit.,, 72

32) Wesley L. Gold, An Introduction to International Law, New York, 1957, 200.
33 Ibid., 20001
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foreign states, thus making it a subject of international law.34 To be
sure, some Soviet scholars would like us to think that the Ukrainian
Republic, like any other Union Republic, is a full subject of the law
of nations, as for example, Modzhorian, who writes that, ‘after giving
to the Union Republics the rights of foreign relations they are, side
by side with the Union, the sovereign subjects of international law’.3®%
Such a view is based on the assertion that the Soviet Republics are
sovereign states in spite of the limitations of the previously cited
constitutional articles.

The Ukrainian SSR (as well as the Byelorussian SSR) became
members of the United Nations Organisation through the diplomatic
efforts of the Kremlin leadership, with Stalin and his associates
arriving at the successful completion of their labours not so much by
legal as by political means. As Gould put it: ‘the Ukrainian SSR and
the Byelorussian SSR were admitted as original members of the
United Nations as a concession to a Soviet political demand’.3 Despite
this fact, the legal or constitutional argument showing that these
Republics were capable of having direct relations with foreign
countries and therefore were to be considered as states and subjects
of international law, was not only useful, but perhaps made the
difference between acceptance and rejection of the Communist
request. In other words the juridical argument had to be invoked to

34) Discussing the heart of our problem Professor Halaychuk writes: ‘If a member of a
federation is to be subject in international law, it is necessary for the member to have
the proper power recognized by the federal constitution. Is a constitutional provision
alone sufficient? ... Soviet authors believe that a constitutional provision suffices.
S. Krylov stated: ‘The law of | February, 194, clearly confirms that the Soviet Republics
are subjects of international law’. The matter was even more clearly stated by Tunkin.
In the course of the UN International Law Commission’s work on the codification of
diplomatic law, the Austrian scholar, A. von Verdross raised the question whether
mention should be made of members of federations who enJO%ed the right of legation.
Tunkin answered: ‘As stated by Mr. Verdross, the question whether a member-state of
a federation has the right of legation depends on the federal constitution and is not a
question of international law’. See Bohdan T. Halaychuk, ‘The Soviet Ukraine as a
Subject of International Law’, The Annals of the Ukrainian Academy of Art and Sciences
in the United States, IX, 1961, 170-71.

Koretsky maintains that the Ukrainian SSR retained its international legal subjectivity
(subjektnist’) even after joining the USSR and transferring the conduct of its foreign
relations to the Union. This would mean that Ukraine was a subject of international
law before the constitutional changes of 1944. The noted Ukrainian jurist seems to explain
this legal tour de force by stating that the Ukrainian Republic, as well as other Soviet
Republics, had the right to take part in the Union organs of external relations (and thus
apparently to participate in foreign affairs). See Koretsky, op cit., 627. Brovka, arguing
against many of his Soviet collegues, maintains that it is" a mistake to attribute interna-
tional legal subjectivity (pravosubeknost’) to the Union Republics simply on the strength
of the USSR law of February, 1944. Basing his conclusion on the decisive importance of
sovereignty, he declares that ‘the Soviet Republics arose as independent sovereign states.
They preserved their sovereignty even after entering the USSR. Therefore, their interna-
tional subjectivity was not interrupted in the course of their development. With the
ado%tlon of the Law of 1 February, 1944, it received still clear expression’. See Brovka,
Mezhdunarodnaia pravosubektnost” BSSR, Minsk, 83-84. It is possible to admire the legal
ingenuity of the Soviet writers, without agreeing with them.

35 Modzhorian, op cit.,, 64 Brovka says that ‘the USSR and the Union Republics
manifest themselves on the international arena independently and are full subjects of
international law’. See Brovka, op cit.,, 89. As the title of lanovsky’s article indicates,
its author regards the Soviet Republics as full subjects of the law of nations. See
lanovsky, op cit.,, 55

36) Gould, op cit.,, 20L
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make the political transaction look legitimate. Once that was accom-
plished the presence of these two Republics in the international
organisation ‘shall be states’ and Article 4, Paragraph 1, declares

The juridical position of Ukraine in the United Nations is quite
strong and is based primarily on the provisions of the United Nations
Charter. Article 3 affirms that the founding members of the world
organisation ‘shall be states’ and Article 4, Paragraph 1, declares
that ‘membership in the United Nations is open to all peace-loving
states which accept the obligations contained in the present Charter,
[and which] in the judgement of the Organisation, are able and
willing to carry out these obligations’.37 Article 2, Paragraph 1,
declares that ‘the Organisation is based on the principle of the
sovereign equality of all its Members’ and Paragraph 4 of the same
Article stipulates that ‘all Members shall refrain in their interna-
tional relations from the threat of use of force against the territorial
integrity or political independence of any state’, implying that all
members of the UN have the capacity to wage war.

Since all these references apply to the Ukrainian SSR — there
being no exception in the Charter — the juristic status of the Ukrai-
nian Republic in the United Nations is clear: Ukraine, in spite of the
fact that it is a member of a ‘federation’, is a sovereign state, equal
to other members, having an international legal personality and being

a subject of the law of nations.38 Wrestling with the same problem
All these statements, true or false, in no way affect the stipulations of the Charter.

Verdross wrote:

‘Es kann daher kein Zweifel darUber bestehen, dass ein Gliedstaat, der als
Mitglied der Vereinten Nationen aufgenommen wurde, auch ein eigenes
Volkerrechtssubject darstellt. Diese Stellung, nimmt er aber nur gegentber
dritten Staaten ein, wahrend seine Stellung innerhalb seines Gesamtstaates
ausschliesslich nach der Verfassung dieses Staates zu beurteilen ist'. (Italics
in the original.)

After noting that in the past international subjectivity of the mem-
bers of a federation (Bundesstaat) played an insignificant role, the

37) Article 34 (1) of the Statute of the International Court of Justice provides that ‘only
states may be parties in cases before the Court. The Statute is part of the UN Charter
and the International Court of Justice is the principal judicial organ of the UN. All the
UN members are iﬂso facto parties to the Statute. o

38 It would perhaps be of some interest to cite the legal opinion of several Western
scholars concerning the presence of Ukraine (and Byelorussia) in the United Nations.
Goodrich writes that ‘the principle that states alone would be members of the Organisa-
tion was never applied in _any narrow sense. In fact it would be difficult to justify the
inclusion of Ukraine and Byelorussia under any generally accepted definition of a state
in international law’. Leland M. Goodrich, The United Nations, New York, 1959,
Dealing with the Stalin Constitution and the presence of the Ukrainian and Byelorussian
Republics in the international orgjnlsatlon, von Schuschningg asserts that ‘the constitu-
tional language and the separate UN membership of the two Russian member states are,
from a legal points of view, manifestly irrelevant; they constitute one of those anomalies
which demonstrate the fre7qi ent incongruence of juristic theory and political practice’.
Von Schuschnigg, op cit., 7/. Having in mind Ukraine and Byelorussia, Gould notes that
‘an anomally is introduced when an entity lacking the status of a state is admitted as a
member of ‘an international organisation of states’. He further comments that ‘whatever
the degree of international personality that may be derived from membership in the
United Nations, the Ukrainian and Byelorussian Republics are not states’. Gould, op cit.,
201,
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Austrian scholar continued:

‘Ganz anders, steht et aber im Falle der vélkerrechts-subjektivitat der
Ukraine und Weissrusslands, da diese im Rahmen der Charta der Vereinten
Nationen den anderen Staaten gegenuber vollkommen gleichberechtigt sind

und daher alle Rechte ausiben kodnnen, die den Mitgliedern der UNO
zustehen’.®

It appears that the legal status of the Ukrainian SSR is much
stronger in the forum of the United Nations than within the Soviet
‘federation’. The Charter of the international organisation is much
more generous towards Ukraine than either the Ukrainian or the
Union Constitution: it makes the Ukrainian Republic a fully-fledged
member of the international community. As the Belgian jurist P. De
Visscher put it: ‘Sur le plan de I'ONU la situation de I'Ukraine parait
juridiguement trés forte puisque sa présence au sein de lI'organization
n'est a rien liée a la présence de I'U.R.S.S. ou a la forme de son
gouvernement’ @ Such a juridical paradox makes the Ukrainian SSR
both a partial and a full subject of international law, but one should
not overlook the fact that it is only in the United Nations Organisation
and nowhere else that Ukraine is invested with this distinctly normal
international personality.4L

39 There is no doubt that a constituent state, accepted as a member of the United
Nations, also possesses individual international law subjectivity. However, this position
holds true only vis-a-vis third states, while its position within the federal state is judged
exclusively by the Constitution of that state ... This legal international personality
appears to be entirely different in the case of Ukraine and Byelorussia because, within
the framework of the United Nations Charter, they possess full equality of right in
relation to third states, and therefore can exercise all the rights belonging to members of
the UNO. Alfred Verdross, ‘Die Vdlkerrechtssubjektivitat der Gliedstaaten der Sowjet-
union’, Osterreichische Zeitschrift fur Offentliches Recht, I, 1946, 218 See also Roman
Yakemtchouk, Ukraine — droit international, Louvain, 1954, 43-44.

40) Paul de Visscher, ‘A propos de la gersonalité juridique de I'Ukraine’, L’Ukraine dans
le cadre de I’Est Européen, Louvain, , 104-05.

41) An interesting question which presents itself in connection with the membership of
Ukraine in the UN is whether this country was given recognition by the other members
of the international organisation. Concentrating his attention on the United States, Halay-
chuk maintains that since Washington agreed to the UN membership of Ukraine and
Byelorussia, it definitely recognized them. ‘The rule of international law permits no
doubt that the United States have recognized Ukraine and Byelorussia de jure’. The
author builds his case on the opinion of many jurists. See Bohdan Halaychuk, ‘Has the
United States Recognized Ukraine?’ Ukrainian ‘Quarterly, XI, 1955, 24-28. However, the
United States Government has a different view on this matter. An official publication of
the US Department of State declares that ‘although Byelorussia ... and Ukraine ... have
status as members of the United Nations, they are relgard_ed by the US Government onl
as constituent parts of the Soviet Union’. This publication further states that ‘the U
Government does not recognize Byelorussian and Ukraine as independent states.. .,
Status of the World’s Nations, Geographic Bulletin No. 2, Washington, 1967, 8, 13 The
entire problem of the relationship between recognition and UN membership received a
brief exposition in a memorandum ‘Legal Aspects of the Problem of Representation in
the United Nations’, prepared in 190 for Trygve Lie, then Secretary-General of the
Organisation. The authoritative conclusions of this memorandum, based on the unbroken
practice of the UN members, left no doubt that ‘(l) a member could properly vote to
accept a representative of a government which it did not recognize or with which it
had no diplomatic relations and (2) such a vote did not imply recognition or a readiness
to assume diplomatic relations’. Security Council, Official Records, Fifth Year, Supple-
ment for January, February, March, 1950 (Doc. $/1466), 18-23.
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(University of Akron)

A BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH OF

TARAS SHEVCHENKO
(i8i4-i86i)

Shevchenko’s significance and importance is comparable with that
of Dante for Italy, Goethe or Schiller for Germany, Shakespeare for
England, Hugo for France and Mickiewicz for Poland. Shevchenko,
the most popular poet in Ukrainian literature, is the best known
figure in modern Ukrainian history, and a symbol of the struggle for
freedom in Ukraine.

In order to better understand Shevchenko’'s significance, let us
briefly analyse the historical and political backgrounds of his time.

After the battle of Poltava (July 7, 1709) a wave of terrible persecu-
tion was inaugurated in Ukraine by the Russian Tsar Peter I, who
took systematic measures to destroy the political rights of Ukrai-
ne. (Before 1709 Ukraine had autonomy under the protectorate of
Muscovy, a condition which at that time was quite common, even
for such countries as Holland under Spain 1559-1648, Prussia under
Poland 1525-1660, and Livonia under Sweden 1648-1721). In 1713
by the order of Peter I, Ukraine became known as “Little Russia”, and
the name Ukraine was prohibited from being used. “Little Russia”
was designed to make the Russian empire synonymous with the
Russian people. Under such conditions (as often happens in the history
of many nations), the majority of the Ukrainian nobility gradually
became russified and the Ukrainian people soon lost their leadership.
Later measures of repression were systematically introduced to
eliminate the privileges of the autonomous status, and what the Tsar
was unable to finish, due to his sudden death in 1725, was continued
by the Tsarina Catherine Il. In 1765 she finally abolished the
autonomy of Ukraine, and in 1792 issued a decree whereby peasants
virtually became the property of the nobility, who were thus
privileged to do whatever they wished with their subjects. They
made the peasants submit to intolerable working conditions, sold
them like animals, and treated or even killed them without recourse
to justice.

It was in such conditions that Taras Shevchenko was born in
Moryntsy, on March 9, 1814. His father Hryhoriy Shevchenko was
a prosperous serf at a time when his prosperity could bring him few
advantages. He constantly sought a new and better life on the estates
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of his master, Vasily Vasilyevich Engelhardt. After his marriage to
Katerina Boykivna, the two lived in the village of Kyrylivka, where
his father lived. His father-in-law soon bought him a little cabin and
some land in Morintsy where Taras was born. Conditions here were
unsatisfactory and it was not long before the Shevchenkos returned
to Kyrylivka where Taras spent his boyhood.

Taras was the third of six children and was always attached to his
older sister Kateryna who married when he was still very young. His
father tried to give him an education but the opportunities were
very few. When he was 9, his mother died of poverty and overwork
on the lands of the master. This meant the end of the happy period
of his life.

With 6 small children, his father could not maintain his household
without a wife, so he soon married a widow who brought 3 children
with her to her new home. The marriage was not a happy one since
she was very cruel to her step-children, begrudging them the food
they ate and quarreling unceasingly. To avoid the perpetual beatings
which he received, Taras used to take refuge with his older sister who
was married and lived in the neighbouring village. Finally, when he
was 12 years old, his father died too and the young Taras was thrown
on his own resources, since his uncle who was his guardian paid little
attention to him.

To try and find some respite from the cruelty that was going
on at home, he went to a village clerk Bohorsky in an endeavor to
learn something about painting, for he already had been attracted
to this. His stay with Bohorsky was none too successful. The clerk
was an incorrigible drunkard and besides nearly starving the boy, he
tyrannised him in every way but he did succeed in making him literate
and in teaching him to read the Psalter. In fact, Taras became so
successful in this that the clerk would send him out to read the
Psalms at peasant funerals and thus allow himself more time for
drinking with his friends. Taras finally took his revenge. One day
when he found his teacher drunk, he flogged him as hard as he could
and then made off with a volume of art works. This was apparently
a book containing some of the stock designs for icon painting and for
lettering.

Disgusted with the worthless and brutal teacher from whom he
had imbibed only a feeling that violence was wrong, he made his way
to the village of Lysyanka to study under another clerk. This like-
wise was unsuccessful. He left and later turned up at Tarasivka,
where there was a locally famous painter but here again he met only
a rebuff. Finally he had exhausted all the clerks in the neighbourhood
who had any reputation for painting, and there was nothing for him
to do but to return to his native village and there, as an orphan he
secured a living by acting as a herdsman for the village cattle and
by doing any odd jobs that might appear in the community.
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Shevchenko was suddenly torn away from this existence by tY
overseer of the estate who sent him into the kitchen of the mane
house to work as an assistant baker but Taras failed to acquire tf
necessary skill. Another task was sought for him and this time 1
was appointed as a servant for the young master Pavel Vasilyevic
Engelhardt. His work here was boring and insignificant. He had on]
to remain dressed in a uniform in the anteroom of the master and 1
serve his slightest whim and needs. It meant long hours of doir
nothing. He had to hand the young master his pipe, when he :
desired, for it was beneath the dignity of Pavel Engelhardt to pic
up his own pipe, even if it were beside him. All his other tasks we]
of the same non-essential character and the boy who was accustome
to his freedom was absolutely disgusted with his fate.

There was however one consolation. The master could not prevei
Taras from admiring the objects of art that were scattered arour
the house. In stolen moments he tried to make copies of them.

He also had the opportunity to travel. In 1829 Engelhardt, who w;
a Guards officer, took him to Wilno and for 14 years Taras did m
see his beloved Ukraine. It was at Wilno that an incident happenc
that determined his fate. On the 6th December, Engelhardt and h
wife went out for the evening and Taras was obliged to stay c
watch until they returned. To while away the time, he set himse
the task of copying a print. He became so absorbed in this that he d
not notice the return of his master who found him copying by cand
light. Englehardt became enraged and scolded him violently becau;
he might have set fire not only to the house but to the whole cit
The next day he gave orders to have him flogged. The episode mig]
have ended here but Englehardt noticed that Taras was making £
excellent copy of the work. He also saw some of his other sketche
So, after having punished the young culprit, he sent him to the a
Academy at Wilno ... Later he transferred him to Warsaw to tal
lessons from the celebrated artist Lampi.

When Engelhardt moved to St. Petersburg, Taras went with hir
Taras was sent to Shyriayev, a professional decorator who was know
for his work in theatres. There was a plebian and unidealistic sic
to making designs and transferring them automatically to the wal
and ceilings of buildings that displeased Taras. He felt that he w
becoming a mechanical drudge.

In 1837 he made the acquaintance of another Ukrainian arti:
Ilvan Soshenko who was living in St. Petersburg. Soshenko becan
enthusiastic over the artistic abilities of Taras and over the possibi
ities of him doing independent work. He introduced Taras to the leai
ing men in the Imperial Academy of Arts and wanted to have hi
enrolled there as a student. This was impossible for no serf was allowc
to study in this institution. The Secretary of the Academy, Vasi
Ilvanovich Grigorovich and professor Karl Pavlovich Bryulov bo
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wanted him enrolled as a student. There was only one solution to the
difficulty. It was necessary to obtain freedom for Taras. Englehardt was
not sympathetic for he had expended considerable money on the educa-
tion of the young man and he was not going to be deprived of his
services now that he was becoming recognised as an artist. He
promptly demanded the payment of 2,500 silver roubles. This was an
enormous sum and was apparently intended to be prohibitive.

The group of artists interested in Taras was not to be discouraged
by this demand. They interested Zhukovsky in the case, tutor of the
Tsarevich, later Alexander Il, and the recognized authority on Europ-
ean literature in Russia. With his court connections, it was clear that
he could secure the necessary funds. He therefore arranged with
Bryulov to paint his picture which was to be disposed of by a private
lottery. This lottery was an event for the rich circles of Russia. Money
was raised and paid over to Engelhardt and on April 22, 1838, Taras
became a free man for the first time in his life. Shevchenko was
almost overcome by his new happiness. He registered at the Academy
as a student of Bryulov the next day. During the next several years,
he won several silver medals for his painting, but more important
than this were the opportunities in general culture. His early educa-
tion was extremely defective. He had not even had the most irregular
schooling apart from elementary instruction in reading and writing
offered by the local clerks under whom he had gone through
the motions of studying. Now he was able to read at his leisure and
he applied himself ardently to making up the defects in his training.

At some point during his stay in St. Petersburg, Shevchenko began
to write verse. His modesty and his devotion to his painting made him
at first very hesitant in regard to his poetic performances and it was
more or less by accident that they were brought to the attention of
the public. In 1839 a Ukrainian landowner, Petro Martos, met Taras
and arranged for him to paint his portrait. As he was sitting in the
artist's apartment, he happened to notice some poetry on various
sheets of paper. He succeeded in borrowing them and on reading
them became so thrilled that he resolved to publish them at his own
expense.

The work appeared in 1840 under the title of Kobzar and it marked
a new era in Ukrainian literature. In vain Russian critics attacked
it as insignificant and peasant-like. Ukrainians welcomed it and saw
in it the answer to their confused hopes for a worthy literature of
their own. The next year Haydamaky appeared, the longest of
his epics. There was the same criticism of his work by Russian
and Polish critics and the same enthusiastic reception by Ukrainians.
The edition was soon sold out and Taras received a considerable
amount of money for it. He had in a way become a national figure
and was more sure of himself in his relations with society and with
all those whom he met.
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Yet despite his apparent success in all that he undertook, thing
were not going well for him. He had many firm friends in Si
Petersburg and relations with his teacher Bryulov remained as clos
as before. Yet he seemed to be dissatisfied. He was dissatisfied wit
the Academy, perhaps because he was not making as much progrés
in his use of colours as he would have liked. He won no prize afte
1841, that is, after he had become famous for his writings. Un
doubtedly his dislike for St. Petersburg affected him. He had see:
his works scorned or reviewed with hostility by Russian critic;
He was busy with portraits and with his social life, but at the sam
time he was struck by the contrast between the life that he wa
leading and the misery of his brothers and sisters in Ukraine. H
had not seen them for 14 years and he was becoming homesick an
he wanted at all costs to pay a visit to his native land.

So in the summer of 1843, he succeeded in securing a leave c
absence from the Academy and obtained permission from the author
ities to go home. His return to Ukraine was a real event. He paid
visit to his family but he was no longer a serf. He was the poet c
Ukraine and all the landowners and persons of prominence vie
with one another in entertaining him. His trip was one triumphe
procession, as he passed from estate to estate. The trip was successfr
not only from the social point of view but also from the financia
This short trip changed the temper and the work of the poet. He wa
able to see the evils under which Ukraine was suffering not throug
the memories of a young serf but through the eyes of an enlightene
and progressive and successful man of the world. The worst evil ws
in the present and that was a direct result of the Russian overlordshi
and the suppression of Ukrainian liberties. Henceforth his poem
turned against Russia and abandoned the romantic scenes of the pa;
that had formed such a large part of Kobzar. At the same time h
increased his emphasis upon the injustice received by the villager

He occupied himself during this year with a series of sketche:
Picturesque Ukraine, and continued his usual life at the Academ
with his friends. The ferment of opposition to injustice was howeve
working in him and towards the end of summer he finished th
Dream, one of his most powerful attacks on the situation in Ukraine. !
was impossible to think of publishing such a poem with its caricatur
of the Empress and its open condemnation of both Peter the Gree
and Catherine the Great. It did, however, begin to circulate in mam
script form among Taras' friends, and the adherents of Ukrainia
liberties.

In the late autumn of 1845 he secured a place with the Arche
ological Commission which had been formed to study the ancier
monuments of Ukraine. This year was one of his most productif
years literarily. It was the time when Taras had the opportunity 1
acquaint himself personally with all the ancient monuments c
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his country and to observe the terrible conditions under which the
people were living. The year saw the continuation of the tendencies
described in the Dream, and in such poems as the Great Grave, the
Caucasus, and the Epistle to the dead, living, and unborn countrymen
in Ukraine where he expressed his bitter indignation at the denial of
independence and liberty to his people.

In 1824 a Czech writer, Jan Kollar, had published the Daughter of
Slava, a series of sonnets appealing for Slavonic liberty and stressing
the brotherhood of all the Slavonic races. This work gradually spread
throughout the Slavonic world and produced market reactions every-
where. Some of the Russians played with the idea and it found
strong repercussions in the Balkans. In Kyiv it affected a group of
young thinkers, among them Taras, and its influence was aided by
the studies of Slavonic antiquites and general Slavonic literature by
Pavel Safarik, another Czech scholar.

The immediate result was the organisation of the Society of Sts.
Cyril and Methodius in January, 1846. The members dreamed of a
great Slav republic which was to embrace all the Slavonic nations
with the various groups organized as states. There was nothing
particularly dangerous about this Society. The members seemed to
have believed in the possibility of peaceful change and the very
unmilitary character of the leaders should have shown the Tsar
that they were little more than idealists who might have been used
to further the interests of the Russian Empire. Yet to Nicholas |
anything which savoured of free institutions was actually and not
only potentially dangerous. Danger threatened the entire group and
they were compelled to act as a secret organisation. They adopted
their own flag, seal and ritual.

During the summer of 1846, the members of this Society scattered
on their own business. Shevchenko spent his time on various estates and
dreamed of going abroad to Italy to continue his studies in painting.
At the same time he was building high hopes about the possibility of
receiving a definite position as a teacher of painting at the University
of Kyiv, and this was given him in February, 1847. Everything seemed
to be favourable for a happy future, when the blow suddenly fell.
Taras had returned to Kyiv for a wedding and several of his friends
assembled at the same time. Unknown to them, Oleksy Petrov, a
student who had lived in a room near that of Professor Hulak,
another member of the group, had listened to discussions that had
gone on at various times when some of the members had come
to Kyiv during the preceding months, and had become con-
vinced that there was some conspiracy afoot. Perhaps he had even
made friends with Taras with the idea of discovering something about
the Society. On the 28th February, 1847, Petrov informed M. V.
Yuzifovich, supervisor of education in the district, of the conspiracy.
The latter at once suspended Taras from his position in the
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Archeological Commission on the technicality that he had gone tc
Kyiv without permission. Still there was no real suspicion toward!
the group. In the meantime Yuzifovich had forwarded tx
complaint to Bibikov, Governor of Kyiv, who refferred the matter &
Count Orlov, chief of the gendarmes. On April 5 1847 Shevchenkc
and his friends were arrested and sent to St. Petersburg. He arrivec
there on April 17 and the trial took place immediately. The sentenc«
came on the 26th May with the verdict: “The artist Shevchenko, fo:
his writing of abusive and impudent poetry of the highest degree
as a person of a healthy constitution, is to be sent as a private to th<
Orenburg Separate Corps, with the right of freedom througl
honourable service. Instructions are to be sent to the command t(
have the strictest supervision over him. Under no pretext car
he produce any abusive or satirical works. The Tsar with his owi
hand added to this “Under the strictest supervision with a prohibitior
on writing and sketching”.

Taras had no desire to become a soldier and he loathed army life
and discipline. It seemed to him a worse slavery than that which h<
had known as a serf. Every detail awoke his disgust. It was in vair
that the commanders endeavoured to teach him drill and to march
He was shocked at the filth and language of the privates wh(
surrounded him and with whom he had to associate. They were th<
exact opposite of the cultured and intellectual people with whom h(
had associated at St. Petersburg and in Ukraine. Several of hi;
friends interceded on his behalf which had some effect, for on th<
30th January, 1848 Court Orlov inquired about his conduct and th<
possibility of removing the ban on his painting. It was possible tha
a favourable reply was given for early in May he was attached as i
sketcher to an expedition which was setting out to explore the eas
coast of the Sea of Aral. His mission lasted for a year and a half anc
he returned to Orenburg in November 1849. Again he presented ;
petition to be allowed to paint. His officers seconded his request. Ir
the meantime they allowed him to live in the city of Orenburg, tt
wear civilian clothes instead of the uniform and to paint as manj
portraits as he desired. It was too good to last. In the spring a certair
ensign presented a complaint that contrary to the Imperial edict Tara:
was both writing and painting. His quarters were searched and h<
was immediately rearrested on the 27th April and set back to Orsk
where he was placed in the guardhouse. His trial lasted from the 28tl
June to the 5th July. On the 26th August the order came to release hin
from the guardhouse and to send him to First Battalion at Novopetrovsl
under the strictest supervision. Here the officers attempted to make ar
efficient soldier out of him but failed whether this was because a
his stubborn determination not to be a good one but to maintain hi:
theories to the last or whether he was tempermentally unmilitary, i
is hard to say. For two years the struggle continued. Taras wa:
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watched constantly. He was not allowed a scrap of paper and during
his service at Novopetrovsk there was no opportunity for him to
write even the shortest poems.

Nicholas | died on 17th February 1855 and a new era seemed to
dawn for Russia. The new Tsar, Alexander Il was the pupil of Zhukov-
sky who had so much to do with the liberation of Taras from serfdom.
The new reign was opening with an appearance of liberality and with
a general amnesty and Taras could hope for his release. Yet he was
not included on the list of pardons. His attack on the Dowager
Empress in the Dream had been so bitter that she was believed to
have influenced her son against the act. Taras was nearly in despair
but his friends in St. Petersburg did not lose hope. Count Feodor
Petrovich Tolstoy of the Academy of Arts, and his wife continued to
work through all possible social channels to secure the release
of the poet. It was a hard and thankless task but by the spring
of 1857 his friend Mykhaylo Lazarevsky could write that a pardon
had been secured and that the days of Taras’ exile were numbered.
He was finally freed on the 21st July 1857. On the 20th September
he reached Nizhni Novhorod but the police were again waiting for
him. His amnesty had not granted him permission to live in St
Petersburg and Major Uskov (commander at Novopetrovsk) had in
ignorance granted him this permission, when he let him go without
requiring him to travel via Orenburg. He was now required to return
there for a formal reciept of future instructions. Yet he found friends
at Nizhni and the chief of Police and the police physician very
willingly allowed him to remain and forwarded to Orenburg a state-
ment that he was too sick to travel. This left him temporarily safe
but it postponed his hope of meeting with his friends for it was not
until the 1st March, 1858, that he received the desired permission
and then there was a disagreable clause added stating that he was to
remain under the supervision of the police.

The winter was not an unpleasant one. Everywhere he was
received as a distinguished writer. He was invited to the Nizhni
Club, was entertained by the most distinguished social and artistic
circles of the provincial city, and painted pictures of most of the
outstanding persons, largely supporting himself in this way.

During his imprisonment, Taras had grown more radical. He had
become aware that the Russian government was inflicting upon its
own people most of the same hardships that it had upon the Ukrai-
nians. As a result he constantly read the works of Herzen and of the
other radicals which appeared abroad and from this time on, came
to have closer kinship with the leaders of the intelligentsia.

In his heart Taras had never given up thoughts of marriage and
while he was in Nizhni he became enamoured with an attractive
young actress, Katerina Borisivna Pyunova. She was dissatisfied
with her position in Nizhni and was trying to secure one in Kazan.
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Taras tried to use his influence and that of Shchepkin, an acto
friend, to get her to Kharkiv. She seemed to like his attentions bu
it was not long before he discovered that she was merely using hin
in order to secure a better contract and his devotion resulted onl;
in disillusionment.

The years had treated Shevchenko very unkindly. He was only 4
but his exile had aged him prematurely. His health hea<
suffered under the harsh regime and the difficult living condition
of the frontier. Even though his spirit remained unbroken, he wa
no longer a young and vigorous man. He still cherished his dream
of a home and children but from this time on he apparently gav
up the hope of charming anyone who might appeal to his mind anc
fit into the position to which he could honestly feel that he hac
risen. With the loss of his unconfessed love for Princess Repnin;
and the episode with Pyunova, Shevchenko turned more and mor
toward the peasantry form which he had sprung.

On March 27, 1859 Taras left for St. Petersburg where he resumei
his studies at the Academy of Arts but this time in etching. Hi
achieved great success in this and his work was so distinguishec
that in the spring of 1859 he was authorized to submit engraving:
for a promotion to the grade of Academician and on October 31
1860 he was formally made an Academician of the Imperial Acad
emy of Arts. His life in St. Petersburg was relatively pleasant bu
he could not forget Ukraine and his unfortunate brothers am
sisters who were still in serfdom. He finally secured permission tc
go there and left St. Petersburg for his last visit early in June, 1859
He planned to visit several friends and to pay a visit to his brother,
and sisters at Kirilivka. He met his sister Iryna whom he asked tt
find him a wife, for now that he was more or less free, he wa
determined to marry and have a home in Ukraine before he died

From Kirilivka he visited other friends and then new trouble:
overtook him. He was suddenly arrested at the town of Moshni
The police authorities at St. Petersburg had notified the police o
the various sections where he would be and asked them &
watch him. He seems to have expressed himself incautiously
to some friends and apparently some Polish landowners reported
him to the police. He was arrested on the 13th July and taken &
Kyiv where his case was brought before the Governor General lvai
Vasilchikov, who decided that he had been unjustly accused. Hi
advised the poet to return to St. Petersburg, “where the people ari
wiser and do not worry about triffes, in order to serve well”. Oi
the 14th August he started back to St. Petersburg.

There was still the problem of his marriage. After his experience:
with Pyunova and perhaps Princess Repnina, he had come to th<
conclusion that he should marry a peasant girl as much for symbolii
reasons as for inclination. But where was he to find one?
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By now he had become friendly with Vartolomey Shevchenko —
brother of Taras, sister-in-law and manager of the estate of
Prince Lopukhin. Taras met and became devoted to a 16 year old
attractive but illiterate serf on the estate of Prince Lopukhin. She
seemed to represent to Taras exactly the type of girl that he wished
to marry. It was in vain that his friends advised him against the
union, for they realized she could not share in any of his higher
interests — his poetry or painting. It was all in vain. Shevchenko
insisted on formally offering her his hand. The girl solved the
problem by refusing him because she was unwilling to marry an
aged “pan” and she had no intention of becoming the slave of
another nobleman. This was another blow to Taras but he did not
yet lose hope.

Later, at a party honouring him, he met another serf girl, who
completely fascinated him and he decided to marry her. He had
her taught to read and tried to educate her. The girl responded
quickly but it was soon clear to all, even to Taras, that she was
hoping to marry him only to get to Paris and to move in society.
This completely broke the poet’'s heart and he began to feel that his
chances for a happy married life in Ukraine were doomed never to
be realized.

At the same time however he was busy with other plans. He was
working hard on etching and was achieving real success. He
also reopened negotiations with the censor to bring out another
edition of the Kobzar which he secured in 1860, provided that it
did not include poems written after his arrest and exile.

His visit to Ukraine and his new realization of the hardships of
his family in serfdom aroused the desire to have them liberated.
It was certain that a general emancipation would not be long
delayed, but the poet would not wait. He opened negotiations
with their master, V. E. Fliorkovsky, to emancipate, with a little
piece of land, his two brothers Mykola and Osyp, and his sister
Iryna with their families. He refused to give them land. Finally on
the 10th, July, 1860 Fliorkovsky suceeded in coming to an agree-
ment with his serfs and gave them their liberty in return for 900
silver roubles but without land. The poet was angry at this solution
but there was nothing that he could do. He saw his relatives freed
but they were compelled to rent their land on disadvantagious terms
until 1865 when as a result of the emancipation settlement they
were able to receive some.

By the autumn of 1860 the hardships which he had undergone
began to tell on his health. He complained of pains in his chest but
continued to work. In the middle of January 1861, he became worse
and for some weeks was unable to leave his bed, or to leave his room.
A watery swelling developed in his chest and it grew constantly
worse. Towards the beginning of March he was in constant pain.
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Late on the 9th March, his birthday, his friends found Taras sittinj
up in bed, breathing heavily but unable to speak. All that night K<
suffered greatly and could not sleep. In the morning he asked to b<
taken to his study but he had hardly crossed the threshold into th<
hall, when he staggered and fell — and never rose again.

The poet had lived to be one day over 47. Out of those years h<
had been a serf for 24, a free man for 9, a Russian soldier for 10
and under police supervision for 4.

His friends took his body back to Ukraine. It was taken througl
Moscow, Tula and Orel to Kyiv. In every city ever increasing crowd:
welcomed the funeral procession. Finally on May 18 it reachec
Kyiv but there was the question whether the body could be taken t(
the Church of the Nativity. Permission was granted by Governoi
Vasilchikov who had freed the poet at his last arrest. The Dniprc
River was in full flood but his admirers succeeded in getting the
body across and in burying it on the Chernecha Hora, one of the
poet’s favourite spots. In 1892 Vartolomey Shevchenko bought thi:
ground and handed it over to the city of Kaniv to preserve as £
memorial to the poet.

Taras Shevchenko lived a life of tribulation and sorrow. There
was little that was joyous about it. His muse is one of sadness bul
of firm belief in the ultimate triumph of right and of humar
brotherhood and he saw the Ukrainian cause as a part of this noble
movement. From the standpoint of spirit and of literature he placed
his native land on a firm basis among the Slavonic nations. He
perfected the work of his predecessors and he still remains the
greatest example of Ukrainian genius.

He accomplished amazing feats even though he had few opportun-
ities for a formal education. He took the Ukrainian language and by
the force of his genius made it into a language capable of expressing
the most refined emotions and fully adequate to all the needs oi
more firmly or voiced more clearly an unyielding and uncompromis-
ing belief that democracy, truth and freedom would win the day,
No one worked harder or suffered more to bring this about.
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Vasyl SYMONENKO

4= * *

Often | stand alone, like Crusoe,
Searching beyond the horizon for a ship,
And my thoughts sink helplessly

Into the muddy mire of words.

Here on my desert island,

Clad in ajerkin of crushed hopes,

I pierce the heavens with a searching eye,
— Where are you, my Friday?

My voice erupts in volleys of despair,

Whose roar fades into the distance of indifference:
— Lord, if afriend be too much,

Then send me an enemy at least.

You are a person.
Did you know?
Your smile,

Your suffering,
Your face —

Are all unique.

Soon you will be no more.

Tomorrow others will tread this earth,
Some kind, some tender,

Some wicked.

But today — all is yours,
Lake, copse and holt.

You must hurry

To live and love,

Do not not miss this moment!
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For you are a human upon this earth,
And whether you like it or not,

Your smile,

Your suffering,

Your face —

Are all unique.

THE TRIAL

The paragraphs sat down behind the table,
The footnotes lurked in the corners,

While citations armed with bayonettes
Viewed the accused with piercing eyes.

The circular peered through his spectacles,
Gapers warmed themselves by the stone,
And the orders, like phantoms,

Buzzed through the clever telephones.

“An outsider” — pronounced the paragraphs.

“Not one of us” — came the circular’s voice.
“Unheard of” — piped the footnotes.

And the courtroom burst into lamentation and noise.

But as the circular scowled,

Commotion subsided into silence in the hall.
And they crucified the wretched thought,

In the name of dense paragraphs.

In vain it swore with tear-filled eyes,
That it was innocent. ..

The court’s logic was iron:

The thought was separate, out of line,
Because it was original.

Translated by: Volodymyr Slez
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Levko LUKYANENKO

A YEAR OF FREEDOM

About the author: The author of this essay — Levko Lukyanenko,
was released from prison at the beginning of 1976. He was originally
sentenced to death having been accused of founding the “Ukrainian
Workers’ and Pesants’ Union”. However, on the 26th July 1961 the
Supreme Court of the Ukrainian SSR commuted his death sentence to
15 years of detention. L. Lukyanenko served his sentence in Mordovia.
In 1973 he was transferred to Perm camp VS 389/36 (Kuchyno, Chu-
kovsky province), and from the 3rd July 1974, until his release, he
was detained in the Vladimir prison. The text of his essay “A Year of
Freedom” is published without any alterations. lllegible handwriting
is indicated by three dots enclosed in square brackets.

* *

The authorities began the preparation for my release two months
before the end of my sentence by giving me a form to complete
concerning my future place of residence.

By listening in to conversations held in cells and through the use
of other investigative methods used on political prisoners, the
authorities of Vladimir prison knew that on my release | intended
to stay in Moscow for a few days to visit Volodymyr Bukovsky’s
mother, Lyubarsky’s wife, Balakhanov and some other people, so
that | could share the latest news of our pitiable imprisoned life
with them. However, on the 10th December 1975 — a day on which
it has become a tradition to hold hunger strikes as a means of protest
against the violation of the Declaration of Human Rights in the
Soviet Union — the administration, in an attempt to conceal the
reality of prison life from those it interested, transfered me to
Chernihiv prison which was closer to home, although, | still had 41
days of my sentence left to serve. In Chernihiv prison | sat with
local criminals and so had the opportunity to became a little more
closely acquainted with local conditions, and in particular, gained
information about the extent of Russification.

In Rybynsk | had been categorised as an invalid of the second
category due to the state of my mind, i.e. | had been declared
insane. Hence, before my release from prison, | wanted to find out
whether | was to be freed as a normal person or as insane. Having
made an appointment with the chief administrator of the hospital,
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| asked her to give me permission to read the report made at the
Rybynsk psychiatric hospital. She refused to grant me such permis-
sion. | then asked if that report was to remain on the records.

— It hasn't been cancelled, — she replied. — But why do you want
to know? Your medical card and the Rybynsk hospital report will
remain in the prison. We don't pass these records on when prisoners
are released, and if you don’t pursue your nationalist activities, then
the Rybynsk report won’t have any effect on your life.

— So you consider me to be insane?

— | don’t think anything. You’'re only here temporarily.

About a week later | was summoned to the hospital. The house
doctor and a tall, thin, older Armenian woman were in the surgery.
Under her white coat new brass buttons gleamed on her green kaftan.
The house doctor introduced her as a psychiatrist.

— | didn’t make an appointment to see a psychiatrist, — | said.
— What, are you frightened of me? — the Armenian asked with
a laugh.

— We considered it necessary for you to be seen by a psychiatrist
before you are released, — said the house doctor.

— Who are “we”,— | asked, — doctors or KGB agents?
— What difference does that make to you? — replied the house
doctor.

— What, is there no difference between you and them?

— We all serve one party, — she replied.

— Why do you hate the Soviet regime so much? — the Armenian
intercepted.

— And how, exactly, have you found out about me? — | inquired,
— My diseases and not my convictions are recorded on my medical
card.

— | have been told a little about you.

— Who told you? Doctors? Then maybe it would be better if you
took off your white coat and dispensed with your disguise.

— | could take it off. I, we are first and foremost workers of the
Ministry of Internal Affairs, and | would like to know if you are
going to continue to engage in anti-Soviet activities when you are
released in a few days time?

— And something else interests me: according to your records am
| insane or not? | am declaring a verbal petition: | request that you
give me permission to read the report made by the psychiatrists.

— This report is for us alone. We do not familiarise our patients
with it.

— For those who are insane, that principle is quite understandable,
but a normal person should have the right to see all the documents
which are related to him. So, either you consider me to be insane,
and if that is the case, why have you asked me to come here at all,
or, you consider me to be sane, and have asked me here to find out
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about my plans for the future, and if this is the case, you have no
grounds on which to refuse me my request.

— Why are you so aggressive? Is he always like this? — the
Armenian asked the house doctor.

The conversation continued in this vein for 40 minutes and ended
without any results.

Soon after this, | wrote a statement addressed to the chief admin-
istrator of the specialist unit, in which | requested permission to
aquaint myself with my case. Before my release from prison, before
my official transfer, | wanted to see what information had been
collected about me during the last 15 years.

I was summoned to the surgery, where a thick file was brought
to me, but | wasn’'t allowed to look through it myself. An old book-
worm, wearing glasses, categorically stated: — Tell me exactly what
you need, | will find it and show it to you, but | will not let you see
the whole file. — Upon seeing a pencil in my hand, he threateningly
added: — | won’'t allow you to copy anything out of the file.

Ten days before my release | was summoned by the chief of the
KGB of the Chernihiv province. The conversation, held in the
presence of lieutenant Derenchuk of the KGB, was not very long or
constructive. After having been told that it had been decided that |
was to be allowed to find employment, | was asked where | wanted
to live after my release from prison: in Chernihiv with my wife or
in Khrynivtsya with my parents? This information was required so
that the necessary preparations could be made. | chose to live in
Chernihiv. Then | asked what meaning the Rybynsk affair had with
regards to my future life at liberty. He answered that it would have
no effect either on my work or on anything else.

— | know of two judicial positions, which according to the law,
judicial notaries and jurisconsults, who have been imprisoned, are
allowed to occupy after their release — | said to him. Will you allow
me to take up one of these occupations, or will you oppose this?

— The committee won't oppose you in this. Take up one of those
posts, use your intellect, — he replied. And then he said: — You'll
be released from prison very shortly and will have the opportunity
to meet various people. Your acquaintances will visit you and we are
interested in what you will tell them. You have great experience and
people will turn to you for advice. We are concerned as to the advice
that you will give. Our party now supports a policy of imprisoning
as few people as possible. We should prevent crime. However, if you
engage in hostile activities again, we will imprison you. The state
must protect itself and if warnings don’t help, then the state won't
hesitate to arrest you. Understand that. You are no longer young.
Live the rest of your life peacefully.

— | have had enough of prison and will try my hardest not to land
in there again.
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— What do you mean not to land in prison again? Will you attempt
to conceal your hostile activities, or won’t you engage in them?

— I'm not going to do anything that will violate the law.

— Fifteen years ago you also thought that you weren’t violating
the law.

— | have learnt alot in 15 years.

— And now, will you hide more effectively?

— That's not what | wanted to say. What | wanted to say, is that
now | know what Soviet law is better than | did then.

— You know that we arrest people not only for preparing hostile
literature, but also for collecting it. If someone gives you some
hostile literature, will you inform us?

— No.

— Just as | thought. Well, then we will come and find it, and you
will face a court again.

— And who will bring such literature to me? No one.

— There are such people, you know. No, not amongst the workers
and peasants, but amongs the intelligentsia. And why do they need
it? They don’t have bad lives do they? ... They complain about
Russification, but it’s an objective process, it's an established law of
our times. Nobody forces anyone to speak Russian, take us for
example — you speak in Ukrainian and | understand you: I'm a
Russian, | speak Russian and you understand me. So — the use of
two languages doesn’t prevent us from understanding each other.

He paused and gave me a searching look.

— | won't be collecting any hostile literature | replied.

— Don’t think that you’'ll succeed in hiding from us.

— | know very well about the methods that you use: spying,
microphones . ..

— What are you talking about! It's obvious that you stand alone
and that the whole nation supports us.

At the end of the conversation | asked him to return my papers
to me, but it seemed that they hadn’t yet been sent to C'hernihiv

from Vladimir prison. He said: — We’ll check and return everything,
except, of course, hostile anti-Soviet literature.
A day later, I was summoned by Derenchuk, who obviously

intented to continue our previous conversation. He wanted to clarify
the answers that | had given to some of the questions put to me by
the KGB lieutenant, and as a Ukrainian, he was expected to draw
frank responses from me. | clarified my answers as much as |
considered was possible. The conversation then turned to the painful
question of Russification, and he, upholding the theory of its being
a voluntary process said:

— | saw the book “Pereyaslavska Rada” by N. Rybak in both
Russian and Ukrainian in a bookshop. People were buying the
Russian version of the book while the Ukrainian version remained



50 THE UKRAINIAN REVIEW

untouched. Who was forcing people to buy the Russian translation of
the book? No one. They were choosing the Russian copy voluntarily.

— How many Ukrainian schools are there in Chernihiv?

— Three.

— How many hours in Ukrainian do the radio and television trans-
mit, and how many hours in Russian? Which scientific, technical
books are in Ukrainian? Those who select the Russian version of the
book “Pereyaslavska Rada” are the fruit of the Russification process
of the last decade. Things weren't like this fifty years ago in Cherni-
hiv. Fifty year-old people understood and spoke Ukrainian. In the
last 25 years, a new generation has been born, which understands
Ukrainian but can't speak it. The children of this generation can
hardly understand our language, and just hear it now and again
spoken by their grandparents. In fifty years time a similar situation
will arise in the villages of our Khmelnytchyna and in all of Haly-
chyna — this is the death of a nation.

— Why do you paint the picture so blackly . ..

— Ukraine is not Australia which is partitioned by seas: Ukrai-
nians are not Australians who can survive as a nation through the
use of the English language. Our geographical and political situation
is such that the loss of our language means the loss of everything
that makes us a separate nation. Tell me, will you, do you want the
death of our nation?

— So this is how you see Soviet reality. Do you really fail to
understand that the Soviet regime is so strong that you are helpless
to even try to stop its progress. In a few days time you'll be able to
walk through the streets of Chernihiv and you'’ll see for yourself that
people dress well, eat well and are generally satisfied with their
lives. An impregnable wall stands in front of you. Why bang your
head against it?

Our conversation continued for quite a long time. Finally | again
mentioned my historical, philosophical synopses, translations from
English and various other papers which had not been given to me at
Chernihiv prison because, it was claimed, they had not yet arrived
from Vladimir prison.

— Do you need them? — he asked.

— Let arecollection of past years remain, and maybe, when | have
a free moment, I'll want to flick through those archives and ponder
about those ancient days.

— I'll report that.

He rang a bell. A warder came. | rose from the stool which had
been secured to the ground, wished Derenchuk “all the best”, and as
is required by the laws of the land, folded my arms behind my back
and walked out in front of the warder who led me back to my cell.

On the day of my release, | was fooled by the warders. Prisoners
are usually released at around ten o'clock in the morning. In my
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letters and during my visits with my wife and Sashko, we agreed,
while conversing through the glass partition, that my wife, Sashko
with Valya, Victor and Nadia and maybe their children and Zina,
would come to meet me at the prison gates. Sashko was going to take
a photograph of me as | came through the gates of the accursed place.
We did not mention the photographs in our letters, but the Checkists
(i.e. KGB) somehow guessed our intention and would not permit such
an undesired record to be made, and so they released me two hours
earlier than is usual. | then went on my own to Nadia's flat, rang the
bell, and appeared as a bolt from the blue. Zina was also there.

The Checkists thought that | would escape to Moscow and so they
tried to put me under administrative supervision as quickly as
possible and tried to use the law to tie me to Chernihiv. To make
such supervision legal it was necessary to issue me with a passport
and to register me. This process usually breaks ordinary citizens’
nerves and takes many weeks of running around, but | was registered
with lightning speed.

On the 23rd January, when we still hadn’t finished celebrating our
reunion, the militia telephoned and summoned me. | went to the
summons where senior lieutenant A. I. Obshyvany introduced him-
self as someone who was to help me register all the documents that
| needed for my life at liberty.

— You have to have a photograph taken for your passport, which
you will collect on Monday and bring here. You must not leave
Chernihiv because you're going to be placed under administrative
supervision — he announced.

— In fact, | thought of going to visit my parents in Khrynivtsya, —
I replied.

— | forbid you to go.

— You do not have the right to forbid me. The supervision hasn’'t
been enforced yet, and until it is registered, | can travel wherever
I wish.

— | am a worker for the militia, a representative of the govern-
ment and | forbid you to go, — yelled Obshyvany.

— | haven't seen my parents at home for ten years and | will go
to see them even if you explode here, — | yelled back.

— Watch what you say.

— Don’t be so pompous.

— We'll screw you.

— Don't forget that | am a jurist. | obey the law and not your
high and mighty whims.

This exchange ended with warder Andriychenko of the RVVS
(regional division of the Ministry of Internal Affairs) “allowing” me
to travel to Khrynivtsya for Saturday and Sunday.

On the 27th January | was issued with new passport. Article 17
of the Constitution of the Ukr. SSR establishes that “every citizen of
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the Ukr. SSR is a citizen of the USSR”. It is understood that Soviet
citizenship stems from republican citizenship and not vice versa,
since republican citizenship originates from the legalisation of a state
and from the fundamental principle of the immutable unity of a
nation.

The Ministry of Internal Affairs not only failed to print the
Ukrainian emblem on the front page, but also, totally ignored the
republic’'s emblem and so undermined the statehood of the Ukr. SSR.

I was registered on the 28th of January and senior lieutenant
Obshyvany announced the decision of the chief of the Desnyansky
RVVS to put me under administrative supervision for one year.

— I'd like to make copies of the conclusions made by the supervis-
ing committee and by the Vladimir prison which recommended that
I be put under open surveillance, — | said.

— So this is what you are concerned about, do you want to con-
tinue with your prison activities? You should forget everything for
which you served your sentence and adapt to life.

— | don’t know how I'll adapt, but I'd like to know what was
written about me in Vladimir.

— I'll let you know.

And he read out both of the short reports to me. They characterised
me as a hardened and incorrigible nationalist, as a violator of the
regime and so on, and they recommended the Chernihiv militia to put
me under supervision.

— All right, — | said, — | understand both documents, but because
I don’t have a perfect memory, | won't be able to remember them
exactly, so | would like to copy them out.

— These documents are for us, for the militia and not for you.
We composed the document for your supervision which you can copy
out, but you don’'t need these other documents.

Need them, don’t need them ... Is my supervision meant to be
some sort of secret?

— No, it's not a secret, but you yourself know that there are many
official instructions which can't be seen by just anybody.

— I'm not talking about anybody, but the subject of the ruling.

— It's one and the same thing.

— Tell me, will you, do | have the right to know about the
documents which state my legal position?

— Yes, you do, but not about all of them, and | have already
familiarised you with those about which you can be informed.

— | declare an official petition: | request permission to copy the
Vladimir prison report out.

— | refuse to give you such permission — and that's not my
decision alone. It's time you forgot about complaints. Forget your
past, start living in our Soviet reality and live as Soviet people do.

Then we got into a car and drove to the town procurator. The
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procurator opened the file which Obshyvany had given him, found
the relative report, severely looked me up and down, and, whilst
signing the paper said:

— | confirm the decision that you are to remain under administra-
tive supervision for six months.

— Twelve — Obshyvany quickly inserted.

— Twelve, twelve, — he repeated, — and if you violate it, we’ll
extend it for another year.

— And then what?

— For another year!

— And then? For the rest of my life?

— Yes! Until you die!

— Wonderful!

— Where do you work?

— Nowhere. I've only ben out of prison for one week.

— When do you intend to start work?

— | want to rest and have some time to regain my health. I've
worked for 15 years without a break and now | want to rest for a few
months.

— What do you mean — for a few months? We sentence ordinary
people for parasitism when they haven’'t worked for more than three
months, but for people like you, we allow one month for recuperation.
That's all. You can go now!

We left.

The decision compelled me to report to the militia for registration
every Friday between 17.00 and 18.00 hours.

The decision forbade me:

1 To visit restaurants, bars, cafes;

2. To travel beyond the boundaries of Chernihiv without police
permission;

3. To leave my flat between 22.00 and 06.00 hours.

This was how my introduction to Soviet life was made.

Every Friday | went to register at the militia’s and Obshyvany
asked me how | felt and what | was doing about work. For the first
month | replied that | wasn’t thinking about employment. | could
have remained unemployed for longer, because my brothers, sister
and my wife clothed me, and my friends and good-willed people
helped me financially so | could have rested in peace for several
months. But they started to methodically bombard my wife with
questions: “Well, how is your husband?”, “Where does your husband
work?”, “What sort of work does your husband do?” “Your husband
still isn't working — what's wrong with him?” and so on. My wife
is an ordinary Soviet citizen and her motto for life is: “to be the same
as everyone else” so it depressed her that | was different, not only
politically, but also in my everyday views. As far as our views on
life were concerned a large misunderstanding arose: she knew why
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I had served my sentence, but had not even dreamed that after my
release my views would continue to influence the way | behaved.
She, as Obshyvany, imagined, that | would leave my past behind me
— on the other side of the prison gates, and believed that once |
entered the Soviet environment, | would become the same as every-
body else and would become part of the general mass quite impercep-
tively — without causing any conflict — either there, or with her,
and thought she would gain a husband who had all the requisites for
social life and have no new worries. Instead | brought many more
new problems with me.

A generally accepted notion here is based on everybody being
employed in industry, organisations and so on, i.e. that they should
be employed by the state in some way or other (in no way does this
mean an actual desire to work) and that no one should be unemployed
and living by his own means. | criticised this idea and my wife
interpreted this as meaning that | did not want to work at all. She
started to press me into finding work as quickly as possible. It
became impossible to work at home. The tension increased and the
atmosphere often became incredibly strained. Hence, | had to start
looking for a job. My wife directed me to the labour exchange, or
the employment office as it was called. It was a place which | was to
visit often in the course of the next few weeks.

After | had briefly explained my circumstances, | asked a female
employee at the office if there were any prospects of finding judicial
work. — No, no one will employ you, — she replied.

— Why? According to the law, a jurist who has served a prison
term has the right to be employed as a notary or jurisconsult...

— That may be so, but you served a sentence for political reasons...
and no one will give you judicial work.

— Well, I'll still try. But meanwhile, help me to find work as a
watchman or as an attendant in a gas boiler house.

— Why that sort of work? The pay is only 60-65 roubles.

— | want to have an easy job at first so that | have the chance to
recover after prison.

— All right, I'll help you.

She gave me a whole file filled with notices of vacancies for
workers and employees in the town. | read them and selected the
one which seemed the most suitable. | showed it to her, she described
it, gave me the telephone number and told me how to get there .. .
I went. They did not accept me as a stoker because | did not have the
necessary certificates. Emphasising the experience | had gained as a
stoker in the Mordovian camps did not help. There were no vacancies
for a watchman anywhere. | found three vacancies for the post of
jurisconsult. | was not accepted for the first post because | was not a
communist. At the second place, the interview ended as soon as |
told them a little of my biography. In the third place | was told “we’ll
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think about it” and then having thought about it, they rejected me.
Meanwhile, week after week passed by and | had done nothing, apart
from looking for work. My wife listened with disbelief as | described
my travels to various places.

I have qualified as a IV grade electrician and have had several
years of experience working as an industrial electro-wirer. In town
and in the employment office, vacancies for electricians were always
announced, so | though that if | couldn’'t get the work that | wanted,
then | would have to work as electrician, and | also thought that |
would not have any problems in obtaining such work. However,
history repeated itself: | went to the employment office where | was
given the addresses of several firms which needed electricians. |
visited those firms where electricians were needed and which promis-
ed to employ me, but when | appeared the following day | was
rejected under various pretexts: some said they needed an electrician
of the VI grade, others said they had imprudently promised to employ
me without first asking their directors and when they did ask, they
found that the posts had already been promised to some-one else ...

The KGB'’s scheme was clear: to reject me everywhere so that |
would be forced to go to them and ask for help. They would then
benevolently help me, and after some time had lapsed, would demand
some favour from me in return for their good deed, and then? That
would be seen ... They were not idle. My wife was pressurised by
agents and she in turn pressurised me to look for work, but the
administrators responsible for various firms would reject me. Only
one thing wasn't clear: how did the KGB know where | went to seek
employment?

Judging from the sympathetic attitudes of several administrators
during my initial interviews, and their confused and awkward
rejections on the following day, it was obvio